



University of Hartford Department of Psychology Graduate Institute of Professional Psychology

Approval of the Psy.D. Dissertation

| Neural Effect | s of a Cognitive-Behavioral Soc | ial Skills Treatment on | Gaze Processing in |
|-------------------------------|--|--|--------------------------------------|
| Children with | Autism Spectrum Disorder | A II | |
| | (Title c | of Dissertation) # | |
| presented by | Karim Ibrahim | i | |
| | (Name of | f Candidate) | 10 10 ⁻¹ |
| . 0 | B.A., 2004, Rutgers College, F (BA/BS, ye | Rutgers University | |
| Ŷ. | M.A., 2013, University of Har (MA/MS, ye | tford; M.A., 2009, Quin ear, institution) | nnipiac University |
| as been appro | ved unanimously by the Psy.D. dis | sertation committee on _ | October 26, 2016 |
| | | | (Date) |
| | | | |
| 1) John Meh | m, Ph.D. | (2) Ting Wang, Ph | .D. |
| Dissertation Chair | Name Jack I. M. | 2 nd Member Name | |
| Mi- | 5. Pet. Ph.D | Tuju | - |
| Signature | | Signature L | Nother Calcol of Madiaina at Mount S |
| niversity of H | artford Department of Psychology | Departments of Psyc | hiatry and Neuroscience |
| nstitution and De | partment | Institution and Departm | ent |
| secolata Drofe | PROF. | A seistant Professor | |
| litle | 5501 | Title | 1 |
| · · · · | <i>¥</i> | | |
| and the diff. | Der D | (A) Townifor Targo | The Dialog |
| 3) Witchael Po | Owers, Psy.D. | 4) Jennier Zarco | |
| / Michoel Hame | Manues Kul | f. 1 f | 0 |
| Michal | a gumera 159A | Jenner. | gamore |
| Signature Center for Child | Iren with Special Needs: | Kennedy Krieger In | stitute. |
| ale Child Stud | y Center | Johns Hopkins Univ | versity School of Medicine |
| nstitution and De | partment | Institution and Departm | ent |
| irector: Assis | tant Clinical Professor | Associate Professor | |
| l'itle | 7 | Title | |
| Received: | cetor of Dissertation 10 -31-16 search Date | Director of GIPP | LPh) 10/31/2016 |
| | n cl/n | 1101116 | |



ProQuest Number: 10241019

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 10241019

Published by ProQuest LLC (2016). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 - 1346



VITA

Karim Ibrahim

EDUCATION

- 2016 Doctor of Psychology in Clinical Psychology, University of Hartford, West Hartford, CT
- 2013 Master of Arts in Clinical Practices, University of Hartford, West Hartford, CT
- 2009 Master of Science in Molecular and Cell Biology, Quinnipiac University, Hamden, CT
- 2004 Bachelor of Arts in Psychology and Neuroscience, Rutgers College, Rutgers University, New Brunswick, NJ

HONORS AND AWARDS

- 2014 Student Research Award, American Psychological Association, Division 33
- 2014 Regents' Honor Award for Graduate Students, University of Hartford
- 2014 Student Travel Award, American Psychological Association
- 2011 Diversity Fellowship, University of Hartford
- 2009 Phi Sigma Biological Sciences Honor Society, Quinnipiac University
- 2007 Michigan Industrial Hygiene Society Best Paper Award

PUBLICATIONS

Bikic, A., Reichow, B., McCauley, S., **Ibrahim, K**., and Sukhodolsky, D. (in press). Meta-analysis of organizational skills interventions for children and adolescents with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder. *Clinical Psychology Review*.

Tudor, M., **Ibrahim, K.**, Bertschinger, E., Piasecka, J., & Sukhodolsky, D. (2016). Cognitive-behavioral therapy for a 9-year-old girl with Dysphoric Mood Dysregulation Disorder. *Clinical Case Studies*. Advance online publication. doi: 10.1177/1534650116669431.

Tudor, M., **Ibrahim, K**., Bertschinger, E., Bagot, K., Piasecka, J., & Sukhodolsky, D. (2016). Phenomenology, assessment, and treatment of sibling aggression: A clinical review. Manuscript submitted for publication.

Sukhodolsky, D., Smith, S., McCauley, S., **Ibrahim, K**., & Piasecka, J. (2016). Behavioral interventions for anger, irritability and aggression in children and adolescents. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychopharmacology*, 26(1), 58-64.

Sukhodolsky, D., Vander Wyk, B., Eilbott, J., McCauley, S., **Ibrahim, K**., Crowley, M., & Pelphrey, K. (2016). Neural mechanisms of cognitive-behavioral therapy for aggression in children: Design of a randomized controlled trial within the RDoC construct of frustrative non-reward. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychopharmacology*, 26(1), 38-48.



Bello, D., Sparer J., Redlich, C., **Ibrahim, K.**, Stowe, M., & Liu, Y. (2007). Slow curing of aliphatic polyisocyanate paints in automotive refinishing: A potential source for skin exposure. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Hygiene*. 4, 406-411.

PRESENTATIONS (selected from out of ~40)

Ibrahim, K., Bikic, A., Reichow, B., and Sukhodolsky, D. (2016, October). *Organizational Skills Interventions for Children and Adolescents with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis.* Poster to be presented at the Association for Behavioral and Cognitive Therapies, NY, NY.

Bertschinger, E., **Ibrahim, K**., Sedlack, A., Tudor, M., Wu, J., Crowley, M., and Sukhodolsky, D. (2016, October). *Abnormal N170 Response to Fearful Faces in Children with Aggressive Behavior and Callous-Unemotional Traits: Implications for Biomarkers of CBT for Aggression in Children*. Poster to be presented at the Association for Behavioral and Cognitive Therapies, NY, NY.

Tudor, M., **Ibrahim, K**., Bertschinger, E., Sedlack, A., and Sukhodolsky, D. (2016, May). *Using Social Responsiveness Scale to Characterize Social Deficits in Children Referred for Aggressive Behavior*. Poster presented at the 2016 International Meeting for Autism Research, Baltimore, MA.

Ibrahim, Soorya, L., Soffes, S., Halpern, D., Buxbaum, J., Kolevzon, A., & Wang, T. (2015, October). *Neural Predictors and Moderators of Treatment Response to Social Skills Groups for Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder*. Poster presented at Friedman Brain Institute Brain Imaging Center Symposium, New York, NY.

Sukhodolsky, D.G., **Ibrahim, K**., McCauley, S.A., Oosting, D., Wood, J.J., Vander Wyk, B. and Pelphrey, K.A. (2015, November). *CBT for Anxiety Enhances Neural Circuitry of Emotion Regulation in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder*. Paper presented at the the Association of Behavioral and Cognitive Therapy, Chicago, IL.

Ibrahim, Soorya, L., Soffes, S., Halpern, D., Kolevzon, A., Buxbaum, J., & Wang, T. (2015, May). *Neural Predictors of Treatment Response to Social Skills Training in Children with Autism—Findings From a Randomized, Comparative Study.* Poster presented at the International Meeting for Autism Research, Salt Lake City, UT.

Ibrahim, K., Soorya, L., Halpern, D., Soffes, S., Gorenstein, M., Weinger, P., Buxbaum, J., & Wang, T. (2014, August). *Neural Effects of a CBT Social Skills Treatment on Eye Gaze Processing in Children with Autism*. Oral presentation at the American Psychological Association (APA) Convention, Washington, D.C.

Ibrahim, K., Soorya, L., Halpern, D., Soffes, S., Gorenstein, M., Weinger, P., Buxbaum, J., & Wang, T. (2014, August). *Here's Looking at You: Neural Effects of a Cognitive-Behavioral Social Skills Treatment on Eye Gaze Processing in Children with Autism—a Randomized, Comparative Study.* Oral presentation at the International Meeting for Autism Research, Atlanta, GA.



Ibrahim, K, Dale, L., & Mehm, J. (2013, February). *How to Make Science Attractive: Understanding Science Anxiety Using Cardiac Vagal Tone and Identifying Pedagogical Methods to Improve Science Literacy, Motivation, and Interest.* Poster presented at the American Association for the Advancement of Science (AAAS), Boston, MA.

Ibrahim, K. & Zarcone, J. (2012, May). *Cognitive-Kinesthetic Integration: Using a Novel Multifaceted Model and Exercise to Target Compliance, Challenging Behaviors and Stereotypy in Autism.* Poster presented at the International Meeting for Autism Research (IMFAR), Toronto, ON, Canada.

CLINICAL TRAINING

- 2015–2016 Clinical trainee, Yale Child Study Center, New Haven, CT
- 2013–2015 Extern, Yale Child Study Center, New Haven, CT
- 2012–2014 Extern, Seaver Autism Center for Research and Treatment, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY
- 2011–2012 Extern, Center for Children with Special Needs, Glastonbury, CT

TEACHING EXPERIENCE

- 2011–2012 Adjunct Faculty, Albertus Magnus College, Department of Biology and Chemistry, New Haven, CT
- 2011–2012 Adjunct Faculty, Manchester Community College, Department of Health Sciences, Manchester, CT
- 2010–2012 Adjunct Faculty, Sacred Heart University, Department of Biology, Fairfield, CT
- 2010–2011 Adjunct Instructor University of Bridgeport, Department of Biology, Bridgeport, CT



ABSTRACT

NEURAL EFFECTS OF A COGNITIVE-BEHAVIORAL SOCIAL SKILLS TREATMENT ON GAZE PROCESSING IN CHILDREN WITH AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDER

Karim Ibrahim, Doctor of Psychology, 2016

Dissertation Chaired by John Mehm, Ph.D. Associate Professor, Department of Psychology, University of Hartford

Social deficits are a hallmark of autism spectrum disorder (ASD) and have been associated with underactivity in brain regions important for social cognition. Social skills training using a cognitive-behavioral (CBT) approach has been shown to improve social behavior in children with ASD. However, little is known about the neural response to treatment. In the present study, we used functional MRI to examine the neural correlates of gaze processing in ASD following a CBT-based social skills group.

Verbally fluent children (ages 8-11) were randomized to CBT or a facilitated play comparison group. Behavioral assessments and fMRI were conducted at baseline, endpoint (12 weeks), and at a 3-month follow-up. While undergoing fMRI, children viewed images of emotionally expressive faces with either a direct or averted gaze. Regression analyses were conducted to evaluate the relationship between changes in brain activity and baseline participant characteristics, and to evaluate neural predictors and moderators of changes in social cognition and behavior.

Following treatment, the CBT group showed greater activity in the medial prefrontal cortex (MPFC) and ventrolateral prefrontal cortex (VLPFC) relative to



baseline. In contrast, the comparison group did not show any regions of increased activity post-intervention. When directly comparing the two groups, the CBT group showed greater increases in the MPFC, implicated in mentalizing, relative to comparison. Greater increases in MPFC and VLPFC activity following treatment were associated with older baseline age for the CBT group. Baseline activity in the FG predicted response to treatment. Specifically, children with greater baseline activation of the FG demonstrated improvements on measures of social competence including the social awareness subscale of the Social Responsiveness Scale and a social cognition composite.

Findings suggest that a cognitive-behavioral approach to social skills treatment may increase activity in social brain networks in verbally fluent children with ASD. In addition, children who demonstrated a more typical neural response to faces at baseline (i.e., increased FG activity) were responders to treatment. This study contributes to our understanding of the plasticity of networks involved in social cognition and neural biomarkers of treatment response.



NEURAL EFFECTS OF A COGNITIVE-BEHAVIORAL SOCIAL SKILLS TREATMENT ON GAZE PROCESSING IN CHILDREN WITH AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDER

by

Karim Ibrahim

B.A., 2004, Rutgers College, Rutgers UniversityM.S., 2009, Quinnipiac UniversityM.A., 2013, University of Hartford

Psy.D. Dissertation submitted to the Department of Psychology Graduate Institute of Professional Psychology Doctoral Program in Clinical Psychology University of Hartford in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Psychology 2016





DEDICATION

To every child with autism and their families-

Whose guidance and perseverance made this work possible, bringing encouragement and energy to each line written and analysis performed. It is my expectation that this research should, in some manner, bring light and hope to you and your families. You are our teachers as we strive to learn more about autism in anticipation of discovering a cure or treatment. For your patience during this arduous process, I thank you.

To Eric—

Your diligence and strength are commendable and inspiring. I will always remember what you have taught me.

To my family—

For all the beauty that you have brought to my life and all the journeys that you have walked alongside me—including this one.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank the children and families who participated in this research. They have devoted a substantial amount of time and effort for the benefit of helping others through science. They are truly selfless and brave.

I am thankful and indebted to the help, guidance, support, and wisdom of several people who have contributed to this dissertation and my development as a clinician and scientist. I would like to thank my research advisor at the University of Hartford, John Mehm, for his patience, inspiration, and humor during this process. He is a gifted teacher and mentor, and has played a critical role in shaping my early career in this field and helping me through obstacles along the way. Of course, I have always appreciated his humor throughout this journey and encouragement, especially in the neurosciences. This work was part of a clinical trial at the Seaver Autism Center, and I am grateful for the generosity of Ting Wang, the Principal Investigator, in allowing me to be part of this project. Her passion for science, intellect, and dedication are inspirational. She has continually challenged me to engage difficult questions and to think scientifically. Her precision in writing and thought are inspiring, and she has been key in modeling these skills for me. She is a gifted scientist, mentor, and friend.

My first clinical experience was with Michael Powers, and it was captivating to observe his clinical expertise and thought process in working with children who have developmental disabilities. Michael is a brilliant clinician, who meets each patient with enthusiasm and energy. He has continually urged me to think critically and broadly, and to pursue a line of research inquiry that bridges the clinical and research worlds to benefit



iv

the patient. His mentorship, advice, and friendship have been a vital part of my graduate experience.

I would also like to thank Jennifer Zarcone, who has played a pivotal role in fostering my enthusiasm and aptitude for scientific research. Her mentorship and friendship have propelled me during my graduate education, and her support during challenging moments was crucial in moving past obstacles. She has taught me the essence of research, and has been the pillars of my education and research. I feel privileged to be mentored by Jennifer, and am thankful for her longstanding camaraderie. She is an exceptional scientist, mentor, and friend.

I am also thankful for my family's constant support and love. I am grateful for my parents, Osman and Barbara, who have taught me how to live a life devoted to helping others, scientific inquiry, and generosity. The help of my wife's parents, Shengming and Mei, has allowed me to spend countless late hours in the library devoted to this work. My sisters, Nageatte and Nadia, have provided boundless encouragement during my graduate training. The love and smiles from my dear wife and daughter, Yang Hui and Samya, have given me momentum and motivation throughout this journey.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

| DEDICATION |
|---|
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiv |
| LIST OF TABLESx |
| LIST OF FIGURESxi |
| I. INTRODUCTION1 |
| Background |
| Deficits in Social Behavior and Cognition in ASD7 |
| Identifying the Early Onset of Social Deficits |
| Theory of Mind Impairments in ASD11 |
| Gaze Processing Impairments in ASD13 |
| Neural Correlates of Gaze and Social Cognition Impairments in ASD16 |
| Brain Regions Involved in Gaze Processing16 |
| Functional Abnormalities in Gaze and Social Cognition in ASD21 |
| Gaze processing |
| Social cognition24 |
| Neural Mechanisms of Plasticity: Enhancing Activity in Social Brain Networks |
| Behavioral Interventions for ASD |
| Cognitive-Behavioral Interventions for ASD Social Deficits |
| Study Aims and Hypotheses |
| II. METHODS |



| Participants | 40 |
|--|----|
| Social Skills Interventions | 43 |
| Treatment Condition: CBT | 44 |
| Comparison Group: Facilitated Play | 45 |
| Measures | 46 |
| Social behavior composite | 46 |
| Social cognition composite | 46 |
| fMRI Activation Paradigm | 47 |
| fMRI Data Acquisition Parameters | 49 |
| Statistical Analysis | 49 |
| Behavioral data analysis | 49 |
| Neuroimaging analysis | 49 |
| Moderators of neural treatment outcomes | 52 |
| Neural predictors and moderators of treatment outcomes | 52 |
| III. RESULTS | 53 |
| Behavioral Results | 53 |
| Neuroimaging Results | 55 |
| Within-Group Effects | 55 |
| Between-Group Effects | 55 |
| Three-Month Follow-Up | 61 |
| Moderators of Neural Treatment Outcomes | 61 |
| Neural Predictors of Treatment Outcomes | 65 |



| IV. DISCUSSION | 9 |
|--|---|
| Summary of Findings | 9 |
| Behavioral Outcomes | 9 |
| Neuroimaging Outcomes | 0 |
| Implications71 | 1 |
| Behavioral Outcomes of Social Competence71 | 1 |
| Increased Activation of Social Brain Networks: MPFC and VLPFC73 | 3 |
| Medial prefrontal cortex73 | 1 |
| Ventrolateral prefrontal cortex75 | 5 |
| ACC and Insula76 | 5 |
| Three-Month Follow-up77 | 7 |
| Behavioral Moderators of Change in Neural Activity77 | 7 |
| Neural Moderators and Predictors of Treatment Response78 | } |
| Summary |) |
| Methodological Considerations | 1 |
| Clinical Implications82 | 2 |
| Future Research | 4 |
| Efficacy of CBT for Treating Core ASD Impairments | 1 |
| Long-Term Neural and Behavioral Outcomes of Treatment85 | 5 |
| Understanding the Active Ingredients of Treatment | 6 |
| Minimally Verbal People with ASD80 | 6 |
| Functional Connectivity: Interactions Between Networks | 7 |
| Imaging Genetics: Understanding Changes in Epigenetics in Response to Treatment | 8 |



| Concluding Remarks | |
|--------------------|--|
| REFERENCES | |

APPENDICES

| APPENDIX A: IRB APPROVAL LETTER FROM MOUNT SINAI SC | HOOL |
|---|------|
| OF MEDICINE | |
| | |
| APPENDIX B: HSC APPROVAL LETTER FROM UNIVERITY OF | |
| HARTFORD | 119 |



LIST OF TABLES

| <u>`able</u> <u>Page</u> | |
|---|--|
| . DSM-5 Criteria for Autism Spectrum Disorder5 | |
| . Prevalence Estimates of Autism Spectrum Disorders in the U.S. from 2000-20106 | |
| . Participant Demographics and Characterization Data43 | |
| . Mean Amount of Head Movement for CBT and Comparison Groups | |
| . Peaks of Activation While Viewing Faces With a Direct Gaze and Averted Gaze | |
| for CBT (post > pre) | |
| . Observed Peaks for CBT versus Comparison Groups (post > pre) for Faces With | |
| Averted and Direct Gaze | |
| . Peaks of Activation for the CBT and Play Groups for the Direct Gaze Condition | |
| at the Three-Month Maintenance Timepoint (follow-up > pre)62 | |
| . Observed Peaks for Age as Moderator of Change in Activity for the CBT Group | |
| (post > pre) Across All Gaze Conditions | |
| . Observed Peaks for Baseline Neural Activity as a Predictor and Moderator of | |
| Change in Social Awareness on the Social Responsiveness Scale (post > pre) | |
| Across All Gaze Conditions | |
| 0. Peak Coordinates for Baseline Activity as Predictor of Change in Social | |
| Cognition Composite Score When Viewing Faces with a Direct Gaze | |



Х

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure | Page |
|---|------|
| | |
| 1. CONSORT diagram displaying the progress of participants through the trial | 42 |
| 2. fMRI task sequence and eye gaze paradigm. | 48 |
| 3. Changes in social behavior scores for CBT and comparison groups following | |
| treatment | 54 |
| 4. Within group changes in activity for the CBT group following treatment | 56 |
| 5. Between group changes in activity for CBT versus comparison groups from | |
| baseline to post-treatment | 59 |
| 6. Age as a moderator of treatment outcomes for the CBT group | 63 |
| 7. Fusiform gyrus activity is associated with response to social skills treatment | |
| groups for children with autism | 66 |



CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is a developmental disorder defined by a pervasive impairment in social functioning and communication, and the presence of repetitive, restricted and stereotypical behaviors and interests (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Common behavioral symptoms include deficits in visual engagement (Jones & Klin, 2013), decreased ability to recognize emotion from faces and voices (Hobson, Ouston, & Lee, 1989; Rutherford, Baron-Cohen, & Wheelwright, 2002), and difficulty understanding the thoughts and intentions of others or theory of mind (Baron-Cohen, Leslie, & Frith, 1985; Senju, Southgate, White, & Frith, 2009). Further, impairments in social behavior impair functioning across many domains for individuals with ASD.

There is evidence that the core social deficits of ASD may be associated with atypical activity in regions of the brain involved in social cognition (Di Martino et al., 2009; Frith, 2001). In particular, data from neuroimaging studies have shown that activity in 'social brain' regions are hypoactive during tasks tapping into mentalizing (Kana, Keller, Cherkassky, Minshew, & Just, 2009; Lombardo, Chakrabarti, Bullmore, & Baron-Cohen, 2011; Pinkham, Hopfinger, Pelphrey, Piven, & Penn, 2008; Wang, Lee, Sigman, & Dapretto, 2007), face processing (Dalton et al., 2005; Hadjikhani, Joseph, Snyder, & Tager-Flusberg, 2007) and gaze processing (Davies, Dapretto, Sigman, Sepeta, & Bookheimer, 2011; Georgescu et al., 2013). Given that aberrant activation of regions implicated in social cognition is present during tasks requiring the evaluation of gaze and mentalizing abilities, it is possible that these two domains of deficits are linked in ASD.



That is, impairments in social cognition and gaze processing. However, activity of 'social brain' networks can be increased by enhancing the salience of social stimuli, suggesting the plasticity of networks involved in social cognition (Dalton et al., 2005; Pierce & Redcay, 2008; Wang et al., 2007). For example, Wang and colleagues (2007) showed that activation of the medial prefrontal cortex, implicated in mentalizing, increased when children with ASD were provided with explicit instructions to attend to social cues such as facial expression and tone of voice. Neuroimaging studies of treatment outcomes have also shown that neural networks implicated in social cognition are sensitive to change following both cognitive (Bolte et al., 2015) and behavioral interventions (Ventola et al., 2015).

Behavioral interventions for treating core ASD deficits integrating social skills training with a cognitive-behavioral approach have been shown to be effective in improving social competence for children with ASD (Reichow, Steiner, & Volkmar, 2012; Weitlauf et al., 2014). However, there is a need for a greater understanding of the neural mechanisms underlying behavioral change in response to treatment (Kasari, Shire, Factor, & McCracken, 2014). More work is also needed to provide randomized controlled trials with larger sample sizes and comparative treatment groups.

This study is part of a randomized, comparative trial that was conducted to evaluate the efficacy of a 12-week, social skills group for school-aged children with ASD (Soorya et al., 2015). Using a cognitive-behavioral approach, three skill areas were addressed that target ASD impairments: Nonverbal communication, Emotion recognition, and Theory of mind Training (Seaver-NETT program) (Soorya et al., 2015). Children in the cognitive-behavioral group showed significant gains in social behavior relative to



children in a facilitated play group. This was the largest randomized controlled trial conducted to date of group social skills training for ASD. Of interest is how social skills training alters activity in 'social brain' networks implicated in ASD.

In the present study, we investigated the neural effects of a group social skills intervention on gaze processing using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI). A previously validated paradigm was used that taps into the targeted domains of emotion and processing faces with direct and averted gaze (Davies et al., 2011). We also examined maintenance data from a 3-month follow-up, and neural moderators and predictors of treatment response.

In this chapter, an overview of ASD is provided along with a review of social behavior and cognition deficits as well as the early symptoms of ASD. This is followed by a review of behavioral interventions addressing social deficits in ASD with particular attention to the studies employing a cognitive-behavioral approach to social skills groups. The chapter concludes with a detailed review of the neural bases of social cognition and gaze processing impairments in ASD, and aims of the current study.

Background

Social impairments are a primary deficit in ASD (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Impairments in social communication and interaction may include diminished use of gestures and social gaze, difficulty coordinating social attention with others or joint attention, and failure to orient to spontaneous social stimuli (Dahlgren & Gillberg, 1989; Dawson et al., 2004; Loveland & Landry, 1986; Mundy, Sigman, & Kasari, 1990; Ornitz, Guthrie, & Farley, 1977). There is also strong evidence that genetic factors may be implicated in ASD where 10% to 20% of cases are accounted for by a



defined mutation, genetic syndrome, or *de novo* Copy Number Variation (see review by Abrahams & Geschwind, 2008).

Current revisions for ASD in the DSM-5 merged previously separate disorders into a single condition with different levels of symptom severity. Thus, ASD now encompasses the previous DSM-IV Autistic Disorder, Asperger's Disorder, Childhood Disintegrative Disorder, and Pervasive Developmental Disorder-Not Otherwise Specified (Table 1). The revised, single diagnostic category has been shown to have greater validity and to more accurately represent ASD symptoms (Frazier et al., 2012; Lecavalier, Gadow, DeVincent, Houts, & Edwards, 2009; Mandy, Charman, & Skuse, 2012).

About 70% of children with ASD meet criteria for other psychiatric disorders (Simonoff et al., 2008). The prevalence rate of comorbid disorders among children with ASD ranges from 27% to 42% for anxiety-related disorders, from 23% to 31% for Attention Deficit-Hyperactivity Disorder, from 7% to 30% for disruptive behavior disorders, and from 1% to 12% for mood disorders (Leyfer et al., 2006; Simonoff et al., 2008; van Steensel, Bogels, & de Bruin, 2013). In addition, behavioral problems are present in nearly 50% of children with ASD including aggression, noncompliance, tantrums, and self-injury (Farmer et al., 2015; Hartley, Sikora, & McCoy, 2008; Mazurek, Kanne, & Wodka, 2013), and sleep disorders are present in 50% to 86% of



DSM-5 Criteria for Autism Spectrum Disorder

Must meet criteria A, B, C, and D:

- A. Persistent deficits in social communication and social interaction across contexts, not accounted for by general developmental delays, and manifest by all 3 of the following:
 - 1. Deficits in social-emotional reciprocity; ranging from abnormal social approach and failure of normal back and forth conversation through reduced sharing of interests, emotions, and affect and response to total lack of initiation of social interaction,
 - 2. Deficits in nonverbal communicative behaviors used for social interaction; ranging from poorly integrated verbal and nonverbal communication, through abnormalities in eye contact and body language, or deficits in understanding and use of nonverbal communication, to total lack of facial expression or gestures.
 - 3. Deficits in developing and maintaining relationships, appropriate to developmental level (beyond those with caregivers); ranging from difficulties adjusting behavior to suit different social contexts through difficulties in sharing imaginative play and in making friends to an apparent absence of interest in people
- B. Restricted, repetitive patterns of behavior, interests, or activities as manifested by at least two of the following:
 - 1. Stereotyped or repetitive speech, motor movements, or use of objects; (such as simple motor stereotypies, echolalia, repetitive use of objects, or idiosyncratic phrases)
 - 2. Excessive adherence to routines, ritualized patterns of verbal or nonverbal behavior, or excessive resistance to change; (such as motoric rituals, insistence on same route or food, repetitive questioning or extreme distress at small changes).
 - 3. Highly restricted, fixated interests that are abnormal in intensity or focus; (such as strong attachment to or preoccupation with unusual objects, excessively circumscribed or perseverative interests).
 - 4. Hyper-or hypo-reactivity to sensory input or unusual interest in sensory aspects of environment; (such as apparent indifference to pain/heat/cold, adverse response to specific sounds or textures, excessive smelling or touching of objects, fascination with lights or spinning objects).
- C. Symptoms must be present in early childhood (but may not become fully manifest until social demands exceed limited capacities)
- D. Symptoms together limit and impair everyday functioning.

Note. Adapted from: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth edition by the American Psychiatric Association (2013), Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association, p. 50.



children with ASD (Doo & Wing, 2006; Liu, Hubbard, Fabes, & Adam, 2006; Mannion, Leader, & Healy, 2013; also see review by Richdale & Schreck, 2009).

Prevalence estimates of ASD have been increasing steadily over the last decade (see Table 2). Recent statistics from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) estimate an ASD prevalence of 1 out of every 68 children (14.7 per 1,000) in the U.S.A. with a male to female ratio of 4:1 (CDC, 2014), though this ratio approaches 1:1 for more severe cases of ASD (Fombonne, 2005; Rivet & Matson, 2011). Current prevalence estimates represent a 29% increase from 2008 in the U.S.A. (CDC, 2012).

Table 2

Prevalence Estimates of Autism Spectrum Disorders in the U.S. from 2000-2010

| | Prevalence | |
|------|------------|----------|
| | per 1,000 | 1 in X |
| Year | children | children |
| 2000 | 6.7 | 1 in 150 |
| 2002 | 6.6 | 1 in 150 |
| 2004 | 8.0 | 1 in 125 |
| 2006 | 9.0 | 1 in 110 |
| 2008 | 11.3 | 1 in 88 |
| 2010 | 14.7 | 1 in 68 |

Note. Adapted from the CDC (2014).

Overall increases in ASD prevalence rates have been reported both nationally and globally, with a current global prevalence rate of 7.6 per 1,000 (Baxter et al., 2015). It is challenging to ascertain the cause of such elevations, which may be attributed to improved community awareness and screening, increased documentation of developmental evaluation records, and the widening of diagnostic criteria (Elsabbagh et



al., 2012). For example, in the U.S., variation by state in ASD prevalence rates has been shown to be associated with educational spending, where a higher proportion of children diagnosed with ASD was correlated with greater education-related spending per pupil (Mandell & Palmer, 2005). Mandell and Palmer (2005) propose that the availability of better trained staff may lead to a greater awareness of ASD symptoms and referral for services. Prevalence rate estimates may also be influenced by the type of epidemiological data collected, which often tends to be from high-income developed countries (Elsabbagh et al., 2012), though one study found limited regional variation in ASD prevalence estimates (Baxter et al., 2015).

Deficits in Social Behavior and Cognition in ASD

A hallmark of ASD is a deficit in social and communication abilities that appears early in development (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Leo Kanner (1943) first described the features of ASD in a paper detailing the account of 11 children who presented with a deficit in 'affective contact', which he reported as the "inability to relate themselves in the ordinary way to people and situations from the beginning of life" (p. 242). In this early paper, Kanner (1943) noted that the common primary pathology among the 11 children was an inability to relate to others or an 'autistic aloneness' in addition to other observed symptoms including language delays, an inability to develop social relationships, insistence on sameness, difficulty with the use language for social interchange, lack of reciprocity, and sensory sensitivities to everyday noises. In 1944, Hans Asperger published an account of four cases of "autistic psychopathy" describing children similar to those in Kanner's case description in terms of impairments in speech and non-verbal communication, and difficulty with social functioning. Later research



that was instrumental in identifying the early onset of autism symptoms included retrospective studies of home movies made during infancy of children later diagnosed with ASD and prospective studies examining infant siblings of children diagnosed with ASD.

Identifying the Early Onset of Social Deficits

Several retrospective studies were conducted that sought to understand the early onset of social impairments by examining home videos of infants prior to an ASD diagnosis. Data from these retrospective studies demonstrated that infants later diagnosed with ASD displayed reduced social orienting behaviors such as attending to faces and following another's pointing gesture (Osterling & Dawson, 1994; Werner, Dawson, Osterling, & Dinno, 2000). Early social behavior symptoms identified in home video studies that could distinguish children later diagnosed with ASD from typically developing children included impairments in joint attention (Mars, Mauk, & Dowrick, 1998; Osterling, Dawson, & Munson, 2002), diminished social gaze (Adrien et al., 1991; Adrien et al., 1993; Werner & Dawson, 2005), lack of a social smile (Adrien et al., 1991; Adrien et al., 1993), and reduced orienting toward social stimuli (e.g., looking at faces, orienting to name) (Baranek, 1999; Osterling & Dawson, 1994; Osterling et al., 2002; Werner & Dawson, 2005; Werner et al., 2000). Some studies reported a worsening of symptoms by the second year of life, particularly for impairments in social behavior (e.g., orienting to name and looking at the face of another person) and for impairments in goaldirected actions (Adrien et al., 1993; Losche, 1990; Werner & Dawson, 2005).

There is also evidence that diminished attention to social stimuli could be associated with a lack of preferential attention to biological motion early in development



8

in children with ASD (Annaz, Campbell, Coleman, Milne, & Swettenham, 2012; Klin, Lin, Gorrindo, Ramsay, & Jones, 2009; Klin, Shultz, & Jones, 2015). Responsiveness to biological motion serves a social-communicative role, as preferential attention to biological movement may provide the basis for social perception processes (Pavlova, 2012). Specifically, attention to biological movement may be involved in the interpretation of goal-directed actions of others and has been shown to be associated with activation of brain regions implicated in social behavior—in particular, the superior temporal sulcus (Frith & Frith, 1999; Pelphrey, Morris, & McCarthy, 2004; Shultz, Lee, Pelphrey, & McCarthy, 2011). In an elegant study by Klin and colleagues (2009), point light displays were used in upright and inverted orientations to examine whether preferential attention to biological motion is altered in children with ASD by 2 years of age. The ASD group showed no preferential attention to biological motion, although when a physical contingency was present such as clapping during the point light display, the ASD group showed significant preferential viewing, indicating a preference for nonsocial over social stimuli. This effect has also been shown in older children with ASD 3 to 7 years of age where they did not preferentially attend to point-light displays of biological motion compared to a scrambled animation; instead, greater preferential attention was found for a non-social stimulus (object animation) compared to biological movement (Annaz et al., 2012).

Studies have also been conducted that focused on the presence of autistic symptoms in younger siblings of children with ASD who do not have a diagnosis. These 'infant sibling' studies have contributed to our understanding of the early identification of ASD symptoms (see review by Rogers, 2009). Evidence from prospective familial



studies suggest that infants with at least one older sibling with ASD have an increased risk of later developing the disorder where the reported recurrence risk ranges from 3% to 18.7% (Chakrabarti & Fombonne, 2001; Jorde et al., 1991; Ozonoff et al., 2011; also see review by Wade, Prime, & Madigan, 2015). As early as the first or second years of life, infant siblings of children with ASD have been shown to demonstrate difficulties or abnormalities in social behavior including orienting to name, initiation of and response to joint attention (i.e., the use of gaze or gestures such as pointing to communicate about an object), imitation, and social affect (Cassel et al., 2007; see review by Wade et al., 2015; Zwaigenbaum et al., 2005). Delays in language development have also been found in siblings of children with ASD with poorer performance on measures of expressive and receptive language relative to siblings of typically developing children (Iverson & Wozniak, 2007; Yirmiya, Gamliel, Shaked, & Sigman, 2007; Zwaigenbaum et al., 2005). In addition, there is evidence that delays in communication and language may be associated with delays in motor development among infant siblings of children with ASD, which have been shown to manifest as early 3 to 6 months of age (Bhat, Galloway, & Landa, 2012; Landa & Garrett-Mayer, 2006; LeBarton & Iverson, 2013).

Overall, ASD is a complex disorder with a genetic component that negatively affects the developmental trajectory of children from a young age. Retrospective home video studies of children later diagnosed with ASD were precedents for later research by elucidating the early onset of symptoms in the domains of social behavior and communication. Prospective studies of infant siblings of children with ASD have also contributed to our understanding of the early emergence of symptoms. Another area of investigation involves the nature of social cognition deficits in ASD, particularly related



to the perception of others' mental states or theory of mind and the processing of eye gaze.

Theory of Mind Impairments in ASD

Many studies have found atypical performance during tasks tapping into social cognition in ASD, particularly 'theory of mind' or the ability to attribute mental states to oneself and others (Baron-Cohen, Wheelwright, Hill, Raste, & Plumb, 2001a; Brent, Rios, Happé, & Charman, 2004; Broekhof et al., 2015; Happe, 1993). The concept of theory of mind was introduced by Premack and Woodruff (1978) to predict and explain complex social behavior. The first evidence of mentalizing impairments in ASD comes from data showing that children with ASD fail the Sally-Anne false-belief task compared to preschool-age neurotypical children and a clinical group of children with Down syndrome of similar verbal abilities (Baron-Cohen et al., 1985). False-belief tests such as the Sally-Anne task assess the ability to comprehend the protagonist's mistake about an object due to its manipulation (e.g., moved or removed item). In order to assess the comprehension of false beliefs, one character (Sally) places a marble in a basket and leaves the room. In her absence, another character (Anne) moves the marble to a separate box and children are asked where Sally will look for her marble. Children are scored on their understanding that Sally's actions will be based on what she believes to be true (false-belief); that is, Sally will look in the basket, rather than the box, for the marble.

There is also evidence that some individuals with ASD, particularly those with higher verbal processing skills, are able to pass advanced mentalizing tasks (Bowler, 1992; Happe, 1993; O'Nions et al., 2014; Ozonoff, Pennington, & Rogers, 1991; Ozonoff, Rogers, & Pennington, 1991; for a review, see Senju, 2013). Second-order



theory of mind represents a type of higher-order mentalizing, which involves reasoning about what one person thinks about another person's thoughts. Senju and colleagues (2009) investigated the ability of adults with ASD to spontaneously understand the mental states of others by incorporating eye-tracking to monitor the anticipation of other's actions. While participants with ASD performed at the same level as the control group on verbally instructed, standard false-belief tests (i.e., Sally-Anne task and Strange Stories task), the ASD group did not show anticipatory looking behavior to the correct location of the character's actions on the basis of her false-beliefs compared to the control group (Senju et al., 2009). According to Senju and colleagues (2009), these findings suggest that people with ASD do not spontaneously attribute mental states to others, although they are able to do so during tasks with explicit instructions—perhaps, through relying upon cognitive strengths such as compensatory learning strategies. Overall, individuals with high-functioning ASD may have deficits predominately in implicit or intuitive mentalizing abilities, though they can succeed in understanding complex social scenarios by using logical inferences (Frith, 2004).

A particular area of difficulty for people with ASD is the understanding of others' intentions based on social information gathered from the eyes or gaze cues (Baron-Cohen, Campbell, Karmiloff-Smith, & Grant, 1995; see review by Nomi & Uddin, 2015b). In one of the earliest studies examining mentalization based on the eye region, Baron-Cohen et al. (1997) presented individuals with ASD with images of eyes depicting various emotional expressions and asked them to select the emotion conveyed. The ASD group performed poorly on this task relative to healthy controls. These findings were also replicated in a later study by the same group (Baron-Cohen et al., 2001a).



A review of behavioral studies investigating theory of mind in ASD suggest that impairments in gaze and face processing, such as deriving meaning from the eyes, may contribute to deficits in mentalizing and atypical perception of social cues (Itier & Batty, 2009). Several studies have sought to gain an understanding of the nature of gaze processing deficits in ASD, particularly as related to mentalizing abilities, both on a behavioral and neural level. We now turn to a pathology in eye and gaze processing that may be central to understanding the social interaction deficits observed in ASD.

Gaze Processing Impairments in ASD

Eye gaze is an essential aspect of social behavior and cognition that facilitates the expression of intimacy, threat, mutual attention, and interest (Csibra & Gergely, 2006; Kleinke, 1986). Sensitivity to gaze has been shown to emerge early in development (see review by Itier & Batty, 2009). As early as the first months of life, newborns show a preference for faces with direct gaze over those with averted gaze or closed eyes (Batki, Baron-Cohen, Wheelwright, Connellan, & Ahluwalia, 2000; Farroni, Csibra, Simion, & Johnson, 2002; Farroni, Massaccesi, Menon, & Johnson, 2007; Urakawa, Takamoto, Ishikawa, Ono, & Nishijo, 2014). By 4 months of age, enhanced neural processing for faces with mutual gaze appears (Farroni et al., 2002; Farroni, Johnson, 2010; Urakawa et al., 2014). During the first year, distinct neural mechanisms for the discrimination of facial expressions have been shown to emerge (Jessen & Grossmann, 2015; Rigato et al., 2010; Vanderwert et al., 2015). The ability to combine social information from emotional expressions and gaze direction in order to infer another person's goal appears



between 1 and 2 years of age (see reviews by Hoehl et al., 2009; Saxe, Carey, & Kanwisher, 2004).

It is well established that deficits in eye contact and gaze fixation patterns are common social impairments in ASD (Kanner, 1943; Klin, Jones, Schultz, Volkmar, & Cohen, 2002; see review by Senju & Johnson, 2009). Eye tracking studies have suggested that, relative to typically developing comparison groups, individuals with ASD show atypical visual scanpaths and fixation patterns characterized by reduced fixation on the eyes and a greater fixation on the nose and mouth (Dalton et al., 2005; Jones, Carr, & Klin, 2008). Results from eye-tracking studies propose that atypical fixation patterns may result from the active avoidance of eye gaze (Kliemann, Dziobek, Hatri, Baudewig, & Heekeren, 2012; Kliemann, Dziobek, Hatri, Steimke, & Heekeren, 2010; Tottenham et al., 2014), which could be due to negatively valenced hyperarousal when viewing a face with a mutual gaze.

Reduced attention to faces, specifically to the eyes, has been shown to occur early in development in ASD (Jones et al., 2008; Jones & Klin, 2013). Children with ASD as young as 2 years of age have been shown to fixate less on the eye region and more on the mouth relative to typically developing (TD) and developmentally delayed children (Jones et al., 2008). In a prospective study of 2- to 6-month-old infants later diagnosed with ASD, Jones and Klin (2013) demonstrated that at 2 months of age, eye fixation occurs at average levels compared to TD infants before declining to approximately half that of the TD group by 24 months of age. Importantly, these deficits in social eye gaze have significant consequences for the development of children with ASD. Specifically, mutual gaze, gaze following, and language acquisition are parts of a progressively more complex



social interaction that may be related to mentalizing abilities, which has its beginnings in eye contact with others (for a review, see Emery, 2000).

Several studies have shown that people with ASD exhibit atypical responses to gaze cues (for review see Senju, 2013; also see Senju & Johnson, 2009). In particular, slower reaction times and poorer accuracy has been reported during active viewing tasks when individuals with ASD are required to detect faces with a mutual gaze relative to an averted gaze (Dalton et al., 2005; Senju, Yaguchi, Tojo, & Hasegawa, 2003; Wallace, Coleman, Pascalis, & Bailey, 2006). One study showed that verbally fluent children with ASD were less accurate at imitating an actor's action when the gaze was direct versus averted (Vivanti et al., 2011). There is also evidence that children with ASD do not derive a benefit as typically developing children do from direct gaze cues. Direct gaze is a salient stimulus and studies have shown a greater sensitivity for mutual compared to averted gaze (Anstis, Mayhew, & Morley, 1969; von Grunau & Anston, 1995), or a gaze facilitation effect in typically developing children. Results suggest that individuals with ASD fail to exhibit a gaze facilitation effect when viewing emotional expressions (Akechi et al., 2009) and neutral expressions (Senju et al., 2003) with direct relative to averted gaze. However, one study did not find differences in performance between the ASD and typically developing group during a visual search paradigm of direct vs. averted gaze when viewing faces as well as the eye region only (Senju, Kikuchi, Hasegawa, Tojo, & Osanai, 2008). Senju and colleagues (2008) suggest that some individuals with ASD may rely upon alternative cognitive mechanisms to interpret social information rather than configural processing of faces.



Deficits in processing gaze in ASD may also be linked to broader deficits associated with social cognition such as the interpretation of the mental states and intentions of others (Baron-Cohen et al., 1995; Baron-Cohen, Wheelwright, Hill, Raste, & Plumb, 2001b). People with ASD are able to discriminate or perceive the direction of gaze and perform well on theory of mind tasks when attention is drawn to social cues and mental states (Bowler, 1992; Frith, 2004; for a review see Senju, 2013). However, the main difficulty may lie in the ability to spontaneously mentalize and extract relevant information from the eye region that is essential for social communication (Baron-Cohen et al., 1995; Baron-Cohen et al., 1997; Nation & Penny, 2008; Ristic et al., 2005; Senju et al., 2009).

Overall, it is well established that deficits in social behavior and social cognition attributed to autism have an early onset and are impairing for individuals with ASD. While deficits in processing gaze are common among individuals with ASD, few studies have focused on the neural bases of these impairments, especially as related to deficits in social perception processes such as mentalizing. More work is needed to understand the neural correlates of gaze processing impairments implicated in ASD.

Neural Correlates of Gaze and Social Cognition Impairments in ASD Brain Regions Involved in Gaze Processing

On a neural systems level, fMRI studies have shown that processing gaze involves activation of occipito-temporal regions, particularly the banks along the superior temporal sulcus (STS) and the amygdala (see review by Allison, Puce, & McCarthy, 2000). Lesion studies have demonstrated that damage or removal of the STS region in macaques results in impairments in the ability to discriminate gaze direction (Eacott,


Heywood, Gross, & Cowey, 1993). Similar impairments in gaze processing are also found in humans with damage to the STS (Akiyama, Kato, Muramatsu, Saito, Nakachi, et al., 2006; Akiyama, Kato, Muramatsu, Saito, Umeda, et al., 2006) and support the notion that the STS plays a critical role in discriminating gaze direction. Several neuroimaging studies have shown that the STS is activated during the perception of gaze (Engell & Haxby, 2007; Hoffman & Haxby, 2000; Hooker et al., 2003; Puce, Allison, Bentin, Gore, & McCarthy, 1998; Wicker, Michel, Henaff, & Decety, 1998; Wicker, Perrett, Baron-Cohen, & Decety, 2003) and is sensitive to the detection of shifts in gaze (Pelphrey, Singerman, Allison, & McCarthy, 2003; Pelphrey, Viola, & McCarthy, 2004). In particular, the anterior region of the STS is associated with the coding of different gaze directions (Carlin, Calder, Kriegeskorte, Nili, & Rowe, 2011), while the posterior region of the STS is sensitive to intentionality conveyed by gaze or shifts in gaze (for a review, see Nummenmaa & Calder, 2009; Pelphrey, Morris, et al., 2004; Pelphrey, Singerman, et al., 2003). More broadly, the STS has also been implicated in the perception of biological motion (Pelphrey, Mitchell, et al., 2003; Pelphrey, Morris, Michelich, Allison, & McCarthy, 2005; Puce et al., 1998), especially when intentionality is signaled (Pelphrey, Morris, et al., 2004).

The amygdala also plays a central role in gaze processing (Adams, Gordon, Baird, Ambady, & Kleck, 2003; Kawashima et al., 1999; Sato, Yoshikawa, Kochiyama, & Matsumura, 2004). Bilateral damage to the amygdala has been associated with deficits in judgments of gaze direction and emotional expressions (Young et al., 1995), and suggests a role of the amygdala in modulating the perception of gaze. Some neuroimaging studies have found activation of the amygdala when viewing faces with a direct gaze relative to



an averted gaze (George, Driver, & Dolan, 2001; Kawashima et al., 1999; Sato et al., 2004). In contrast, other studies have reported amygdalar activation when viewing an averted compared to a direct gaze (Hooker et al., 2003; Wicker et al., 2003) as well as activation regardless of gaze direction (Adams et al., 2003; Wicker et al., 1998). A recent study using direct recordings from the amygdala of neurosurgical patients found significant activation of the amygdala when processing the identity of faces, but not when processing different gaze directions (Mormann et al., 2015). Based on these results, Mormann and colleagues (2015) suggest that the amygdala may play a role in the processing of identity rather than gaze. However, inconsistencies in gaze tasks used across studies make it difficult to interpret these discrepancies in amygdala activation. While these data demonstrate that the amygdala is involved in processing gaze, it is unclear if the amygdala response is modulated by gaze direction, identity, or the emotion elicited by a particular stimulus (Itier & Batty, 2009).

Activation of a ventral occipito-temporal region called the fusiform gyrus (FG), associated with face processing in general (Kanwisher, McDermott, & Chun, 1997), has been found in several gaze studies (Boyarskaya, Sebastian, Bauermann, Hecht, & Tuscher, 2015; Calder et al., 2002; George et al., 2001; Hooker et al., 2003; Madipakkam, Rothkirch, Guggenmos, Heinz, & Sterzer, 2015; Mosconi, Mack, McCarthy, & Pelphrey, 2005; Pageler et al., 2003; Wicker et al., 1998; Zurcher, Rogier, et al., 2013). However, there is evidence that the FG response may be mediated by invariant aspects of faces and identity rather than changeable facial features such as eye gaze (George et al., 1999; for a review, see Haxby, Hoffman, & Gobbini, 2000; Hoffman & Haxby, 2000; LaBar, Crupain, Voyvodic, & McCarthy, 2003; Sergent, Ohta, &



MacDonald, 1992). While the FG may contribute to gaze processing, it may not be directly involved in gaze discrimination. Deficits in the region of the FG are characteristic of prosopagnosia (De Renzi, Faglioni, Grossi, & Nichelli, 1991; Jonas et al., 2015) and result in impairments in face recognition while leaving the ability to judge gaze direction intact (Campbell, Heywood, Cowey, Regard, & Landis, 1990; Duchaine, Jenkins, Germine, & Calder, 2009). Thus, involvement of the FG during the perception of gaze could reflect enhanced attention to faces with gaze shifts or mutual gaze (Nummenmaa & Calder, 2009). Overall, it is uncertain if FG response is modulated by shifts in gaze since results are inconsistent across fMRI studies,.

There is also evidence that the perception of gaze recruits a wider network of frontal regions that are known to be associated with social cognition (Itier & Batty, 2009), particularly the medial prefrontal cortex (MPFC) and inferior frontal gyrus (IFG) (Nummenmaa & Calder, 2009). Involvement of the MPFC, implicated in theory of mind processes (Amodio & Frith, 2006), has been reported in neuroimaging studies examining gaze direction while viewing faces with emotional expressions (Hooker et al., 2003; Schilbach et al., 2006; Wicker et al., 2003), neutral expressions (Calder et al., 2002; Conty, N'Diaye, Tijus, & George, 2007; Kampe, Frith, & Frith, 2003; Wicker et al., 1998), and during gaze shift tasks (Mosconi et al., 2005; Williams, Waiter, Perra, Perrett, & Whiten, 2005). Some studies have also reported MPFC activation when viewing faces with a direct gaze (Bristow, Rees, & Frith, 2007; Conty et al., 2007; Georgescu et al., 2013; Kampe et al., 2003; Schilbach et al., 2006; von dem Hagen, Stoyanova, Rowe, Baron-Cohen, & Calder, 2014). However, several gaze processing studies have not found MPFC activation when viewing facial expressions (Davies et al., 2011; Engell &



Haxby, 2007; George et al., 2001; Hoffman & Haxby, 2000; Pitskel et al., 2011; Zurcher, Rogier, et al., 2013) as well as when viewing shifts in gaze (Dichter & Belger, 2007; Greene et al., 2011; Hietanen, Nummenmaa, Nyman, Parkkola, & Hamalainen, 2006; Kato et al., 2001; Pelphrey, Morris, & McCarthy, 2005; Vaidya et al., 2011). Activation of the IFG, implicated in emotion regulation and processing negative affect (Engell & Haxby, 2007; Hariri, Bookheimer, & Mazziotta, 2000; Kim et al., 2004; Ogai et al., 2003), has been found when participants viewed faces with different gaze directions (Davies et al., 2011; Engell & Haxby, 2007; Pitskel et al., 2011; Wicker et al., 1998; Zurcher, Rogier, et al., 2013) as well as during gaze shifts and cueing paradigms (Dichter & Belger, 2007; Engell et al., 2010; Greene et al., 2011; Hooker et al., 2003; Mosconi et al., 2005; Vaidya et al., 2011), with activation predominately in the right hemisphere. In summary, the involvement of mentalizing and emotion processing regions during gaze tasks could indicate the evaluation of meaning and intentionality from eye gaze.

Neuroimaging studies have contributed to our understanding of the involvement of neural networks in processing faces and gaze in typically developing individuals (Itier & Batty, 2009; Senju & Johnson, 2009). In contrast, atypical neural activity has been shown in ASD in areas implicated in social cognition or 'social brain' networks during gaze direction and gaze cueing tasks (Itier & Batty, 2009; Nomi & Uddin, 2015b). However, additional research is needed to fully comprehend the neural bases of eye gaze processing deficits in ASD. The following section reviews the autism neuroimaging literature relevant to deficits in gaze processing and social cognition more broadly.



Functional Abnormalities in Gaze and Social Cognition in ASD

Gaze processing. Numerous studies have sought to comprehend the neural bases of social perception impairments, though relatively few studies have focused on the neural correlates of gaze processing in ASD. Studies investigating the perception of gaze direction in ASD have utilized both passive and active paradigms. Passive tasks have involved passively viewing faces with different gaze directions displaying emotional expressions (Davies et al., 2011; Zurcher, Rogier, et al., 2013) and neutral expressions (Pitskel et al., 2011). Active paradigms have consisted of viewing animated videos of neutral faces displaying direct and averted gaze while making judgments of gender categorization (von dem Hagen et al., 2014) or likeability ratings (Georgescu et al., 2013). Behavioral findings from gaze direction studies using active paradigms show similar performance in accuracy (Pelphrey, Morris, & McCarthy, 2005; von dem Hagen et al., 2014; Wicker et al., 2008) and reaction time (Greene et al., 2011; Kliemann et al., 2012; Pelphrey, Morris, & McCarthy, 2005).

In spite of comparable performance at the behavioral level, neuroimaging studies suggest atypical neural activity in fronto-temporal and parietal regions implicated in social cognition in ASD. The right temporoparietal junction (TPJ), associated with mentalization (Lombardo et al., 2011), has been found to be underactivated in individuals with ASD during gaze processing tasks involving neutral faces with alternating gaze (Georgescu et al., 2013; Pitskel et al., 2011; von dem Hagen et al., 2014). While hypoactivation of the FG is often reported during the perception of emotion (Corbett et al., 2009; Critchley et al., 2000; Dalton et al., 2005; Pierce, Muller, Ambrose, Allen, & Courchesne, 2001; Piggot et al., 2004; Wang, Dapretto, Hariri, Sigman, & Bookheimer,



2004), particularly when viewing faces with negative affect (Pelphrey, Morris, McCarthy, & Labar, 2007; Perlman, Hudac, Pegors, Minshew, & Pelphrey, 2011), individuals with ASD show no differences in FG activation when processing changeable aspects of faces such as gaze. Other studies have found that high-functioning children and adults with ASD underactivate the amygdala during the perception of gaze when emotional expressions are involved (Kliemann et al., 2012; Tottenham et al., 2014; von dem Hagen et al., 2014) and during complex social tasks when making mentalistic inferences from the eye region and faces (Baron-Cohen et al., 1999b; Pinkham et al., 2008). Finally, reduced activation of the ventrolateral prefrontal cortex (VLPFC) has been reported during the perception of gaze (Davies et al., 2011; Zurcher, Donnelly, et al., 2013; Zurcher, Rogier, et al., 2013), which could result from a reduced salience of gaze cues. In an elegant study by Davies and colleagues (2011), children with ASD viewed emotionally expressive faces (e.g., angry, fearful, happy or neutral) with either a direct or averted gaze. Relative to a typically developing group, the ASD group showed hypoactivity in the VLFPC when viewing faces with a direct gaze and negative emotions. Taken together, the data suggest aberrant neural processing of gaze in ASD, which may be associated with broader deficits in social perception.

Results from neuroimaging studies suggest atypical differential activation when viewing faces with direct and averted gaze. There is evidence that individuals with ASD show greater activation in 'social brain' regions (e.g., TPJ, MPFC, FG, and amygdala) for averted compared to direct gaze, while TD individuals show the opposite pattern (Nomi & Uddin, 2015b). When individuals with ASD attend to direct vs. averted gaze, hypoactivation has been reported in regions including in the posterior STS (Georgescu et



al., 2013), IFG (Davies et al., 2011; Pitskel et al., 2011), and anterior insula (Pitskel et al., 2011) compared with TD individuals. Two studies reported equivalent activation for faces with a direct and averted gaze for the ASD group, in contrast to the TD group that showed greater activation in frontal and temporal regions for direct vs. averted gaze (Davies et al., 2011; von dem Hagen et al., 2014). These findings may indicate that individuals with ASD lack sensitivity to gaze direction cues given the results indicating differential neural response in TD groups.

Taken together, studies in ASD have consistently shown functional abnormalities during gaze tasks within regions of the 'social brain'. Deficits in processing gaze may be associated with impairments in mentalizing—specifically, in the ability to extract pertinent information for social communication from the face and eye region (see reviews by: Itier & Batty, 2009; Nation & Penny, 2008). In support of this notion, some gaze studies have found hypoactivation of the MPFC, involved in theory of mind processes (see reviews by: Amodio & Frith, 2006; Frith & Frith, 1999; Frith & Frith, 2006; Frith, 2001; Gallagher & Frith, 2003; Saxe et al., 2004; Van Overwalle, 2011), when individuals with ASD were prompted to attend to the eye region (Georgescu et al., 2013; von dem Hagen et al., 2014). Aberrant MPFC activity has also been reported during complex mentalizing tasks when high-functioning children and adults with ASD are prompted to infer the feeling states and intentions of others during social stories (Happe et al., 1996; O'Nions et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2007), view animations (Castelli, Frith, Happe, & Frith, 2002; Kana et al., 2009), and make evaluative judgments of a person's emotional state (Baron-Cohen et al., 1999a; Kana, Patriquin, Black, Channell, & Wicker, 2015; Kennedy & Courchesne, 2008; Pierce, Haist, Sedaghat, & Courchesne, 2004;



Silani et al., 2008). Given that the MPFC is involved in top-down biasing of information as socially relevant (Frith & Frith, 2012), atypical activation of this region during mentalizing and gaze tasks may indicate that broader deficits in social cognition could be linked to deficits in gaze processing in ASD, particularly in deriving the goal-directed intentions or saliency from gaze cues.

Social cognition. Many studies have sought to understand the neural bases of social deficits in ASD. Neuroimaging data suggest that impairments in social perception processes may be linked to hypoactivity of regions implicated in social cognition during the perception of faces and mental states (see meta-analysis by Di Martino et al., 2009; Dichter, 2012; Frith, 2001; also see Philip et al., 2012).

Aberrant activity in prefrontal and temporal areas has been shown when individuals with ASD view faces with different expressions. Underactivation of the FG is commonly found when individuals with ASD view faces with neutral and emotional expressions (for a review, see Grelotti, Gauthier, & Schultz, 2002; Nomi & Uddin, 2015b). Several studies have also found abnormal activation of the STS (Hadjikhani et al., 2007; Pelphrey et al., 2007; Pierce et al., 2004; Pierce et al., 2001) and VLPFC (Bookheimer, Wang, Scott, Sigman, & Dapretto, 2008; Davies et al., 2011; Hadjikhani et al., 2007; Ogai et al., 2003) during the perception of faces in ASD. When attention is drawn to affect, individuals with ASD have been shown to underactivate the amygdala (Baron-Cohen et al., 1999b; Corbett et al., 2009; Critchley et al., 2000). Given that the amygdala is associated with processing salient information from faces (Adolphs, 2010; Davis & Whalen, 2001; Fitzgerald, Angstadt, Jelsone, Nathan, & Phan, 2006),



hypoactivation of this region during face processing tasks may indicate decreased salience of social cues in ASD.

Data from neuroimaging studies suggest that emotion perception impairments in ASD are more pronounced during implicit rather than explicit processing of affect from faces (Bolte et al., 2015; Castelli et al., 2002; Kana et al., 2015; Piggot et al., 2004; Silani et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2004). Implicit processing of emotional information is considered to be automatic or unconscious, while explicit processing involves the deliberate evaluation of social stimuli using cognitive strategies. Two studies investigating the neural substrates of affect in ASD have found reduced activation of social brain regions, specifically the MPFC and STS, during implicit processing of emotional expressions (i.e., object judgments, gender categorization), with no differential activation between TD and ASD groups for explicit processing (i.e., labeling affect) (Bolte et al., 2015; Kana et al., 2015). Other studies have found hypoactivation of temporal regions involved in salience detection and face perception including the amygdala (Bolte et al., 2015; Critchley et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2004) and FG (Bolte et al., 2015; Piggot et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2004), respectively, during implicit tasks of emotion matching and gender categorization compared to explicit tasks of affect labeling. These fMRI results suggest that explicit emotional processing may be less impaired than implicit processing in verbally fluent people with ASD, possibly due to reliance upon cognitive strengths.

During theory of mind tasks, aberrant activation has been found in frontotemporal regions implicated in social cognition. Hypoactivation of the right TPJ was reported during mental state attribution tasks when viewing animated shapes (Castelli et



al., 2002) and making self-reflective judgments (Lombardo et al., 2011). During mentalizing tasks, individuals with ASD have also been shown to underactivate the VLPFC (Kana et al., 2009; Pinkham et al., 2008) and STS (Saitovitch et al., 2012; Zilbovicius et al., 2006). Moreover, aberrant STS activity may have effects on a range of social deficits associated with ASD due to its connections with other areas of the 'social brain' including the FG, prefrontal regions, and amygdala (see review by Saitovitch et al., 2012; Zilbovicius et al., 2006). Of interest is how underactivity in regions of the social brain can be enhanced in individuals with ASD, particularly by using behavioral approaches to increase the saliency of social cues in the environment.

Neural Mechanisms of Plasticity: Enhancing Activity in Social Brain Networks

Data from neuroimaging studies offer promising results suggesting the plasticity of neural networks in response to experience and learning in ASD. There is emerging evidence that regions of the 'social brain' network can exhibit more typical patterns of activity when the salience of core social information is increased for people with ASD. Studies have examined hypotheses related to social deficits and change in neural activity by fixating gaze on a particular facial feature such as the eyes, providing verbal prompts as well as explicit performance demands to attend to social stimuli, and through cognitive training.

When cognitive processing is enabled, such as viewing a familiar or personally significant face, increased activation has been shown in temporal regions, particularly the FG and amygdala (Pierce et al., 2004; Pierce & Redcay, 2008). Equivalent activation of the FG has been reported in ASD and TD groups when increasing the relevance of facial features through challenging task demands such as identity matching of inverted faces vs.



upright faces (Bookheimer et al., 2008) or by viewing familiar vs. stranger faces (Pierce & Redcay, 2008). Altering gaze fixation patterns in ASD by cueing visual attention to the face and eye region have also shown comparable activity in the FG (Hadjikhani et al., 2004; Hadjikhani et al., 2007; Perlman et al., 2011) and amygdala (Kliemann et al., 2012; Tottenham et al., 2014) relative to controls. In a study that examined gaze manipulation to enhance activity of the face processing network, Perlman and colleagues (2011) found that activation of the right FG increased to levels equivalent to that of a TD group when the scanpath of adults with ASD was manipulated to focus on the eye region. Taken together, these results suggest that directing gaze or enhancing visual fixation to salient features of a face may modulate activity of face processing networks and possibly normalize activation of face and emotion sensitive regions to approach levels equivalent to typically developing comparison groups.

Similarly, when attention to social cues is increased through prompting, activity in the MPFC—a central node in the mentalizing network—has been found to approach typical patterns in children and adults with ASD. In a previous study, we used a mentalizing task of irony scenarios to examine the neural circuitry underlying impairments in interpreting communicative intent (Wang et al., 2007). Prompts to attend to social cues were provided in the form of neutral instructions (i.e., "pay attention") or explicit instructions (i.e., "pay attention to the facial expression" or "tone of voice"). In the absence of explicit instructions, the ASD group showed hypoactivity in the MPFC for ironic vs. non-ironic cartoons relative to the TD group. However, when explicit social prompts were given, the ASD group showed a significant increase in MPFC activity that closely resembled patterns of activity in the TD group. In line with these findings,



Zurcher and colleagues (2013) reported that directing visual attention towards the eyes through prompting and altering facial features (i.e., inverting eyes and mouth) increased activity in the MPFC in adults with ASD that was equivalent to a TD group. Another study found that MPFC activation increased following cognitive training for emotion recognition in adults with ASD relative to an ASD control group (Bolte et al., 2015). Overall, these results suggest that activity in social cognitive regions can be increased when attention is drawn to salient social cues and emphasizes the effect of training-induced plasticity of social brain networks.

Neuroimaging studies of treatment-related neural changes in children and adults with ASD are rare, but offer initial evidence that neural networks are sensitive to change (Ventola, Oosting, Anderson, & Pelphrey, 2013). Alterations in neural activity have been demonstrated in young children with ASD in response to ABA-based early intensive behavioral interventions including ESDM (Dawson et al., 2012) and Pivotal Response Treatment (PRT), a naturalistic intervention approach (Ventola et al., 2015; Voos et al., 2013). In a recent study, Ventola et al. (2015) examined the neural outcomes of PRT for 10 preschool-aged children with ASD. Following treatment, neural responses of children in the PRT group were more similar to those of the TD group in the reward system network including the ventral striatum and putamen, and in subcortical regions associated with relaying information and regulating the flow of stimulation including the amygdala, thalamus, and hippocampus. Changes on a neural level have also been shown in adolescents with ASD following the Program for the Education and Enrichment of Relational Skills (Van Hecke et al., 2015), a naturalistic social skills treatment focused on friendship training. For adults with ASD, one study found treatment-related neural



changes following an 8-week computerized cognitive training program to enhance attention to facial features and affect recognition (Bolte et al., 2015). Bolte and colleagues (2015) reported increased activation in 'social brain' regions including the MPFC, FG, amygdala and posterior STS pre- to post-intervention for the ASD group that received cognitive training compared to a control ASD group.

Taken together, there is compelling evidence that by directing attention to salient social cues and through the use of cognitive approaches, activity in 'social brain' regions is sensitive to change. This information could contribute to the development of personalized interventions and the discovery of biomarkers to guide treatment delivery and predict treatment response. While several studies have sought to understand gaze fixation patterns in ASD and the manipulation of gaze towards the face and eyes, few studies are intervention-based. Even though results from the existing intervention studies offer preliminary evidence on the neural substrates of treatment response, more work is needed to provide randomized controlled trials that incorporate a comparative, active treatment group to fully understand the specificity of treatment effects. This would offer a greater understanding of the underlying neural mechanisms of treatment response for core social deficits in ASD (see review by Kasari et al., 2014).

Given the pervasive nature of social deficits in ASD, a related area of research involves the development and identification of effective behavioral interventions for targeting core social deficits and associated symptoms or conditions. A specific type of intervention addressing core deficits or 'social skills training' often addresses areas of difficulty including making eye contact, theory of mind, and emotion recognition and



regulation among children with ASD. In the next section, we describe behavioral interventions targeting social deficits.

Behavioral Interventions for ASD

According to the 2013 goals of the Interagency Autism Coordinating Committee (IACC), a theme in current research is to "[investigate and develop] interventions that are effective for reducing both core and associated symptoms, for building adaptive skills, and for maximizing quality of life and health for people with ASD" (p. 53). Empirically supported treatments for ASD include early intensive behavioral interventions that are based on Applied Behavioral Analysis (ABA), which involves discrete trial training that is focused on obtaining specific, desired responses by breaking skills down and using a progressive, structured approach (Lovaas, Koegel, Simmons, & Long, 1973; Vismara & Rogers, 2010). Two well-established ABA-based early interventions include the University of California Los Angeles/Lovaas method (Lovaas et al., 1973) and the Early Start Denver Model (ESDM), which was developed by Rogers and Dawson (2010) and uses a naturalistic approach to promote skill acquisition. While early intensive behavioral interventions may have moderate effects on cognitive abilities, language, and adaptive living skills, the evidence is mixed for their impact on ASD core symptoms and severity (see review by Weitlauf et al., 2014).

For school-aged children with ASD, the use of social skills groups has been shown to promote the acquisition of social communication skills in the context of peer interactions (Dawson & Burner, 2011; Williams White, Keonig, & Scahill, 2007). Social skills training is based upon behavioral and social learning techniques, and involves teaching and practicing specific social skills in naturalistic as well as in hypothetical



situations (Spence, 2003). Common skill areas addressed include perspective taking, initiating and maintaining conversations, non-verbal communication, interpretation of non-literal language, and social problem solving (see review by Bellini & Peters, 2008; Cappadocia & Weiss, 2011). A recent meta-analysis by Reichow and colleagues (2012) offers support for the role of social skills groups in improving social competence and friendship quality, as well as decreasing feelings of loneliness for individuals with ASD. In addition, social skills interventions that incorporate a parent component (e.g., psychoeducation, parent training, or supportive psychotherapy) have shown improvements on measures of social competence (Cappadocia & Weiss, 2011).

Overall, the development of targeted and personalized intervention is a key longterm goal of autism research according to the IACC 2013 strategic plan. Further, the identification of the active ingredients of an intervention is an integral part of developing a personalized medicine approach for children with ASD. Studies investigating outcomes sensitive to intervention components, such as delivery or dose of treatment, will help to elucidate for whom a particular treatment approach is most beneficial. While there are different types of approaches targeting social deficits in ASD and identifying a best fit treatment for a specific child with ASD remains a challenge, one intervention that has promising results involves the use of a cognitive-behavioral approach for social skills training. Interventions using a cognitive-behavioral approach integrate the teaching of social perception processes with behavioral strategies to reinforce the acquisition of skills.

Cognitive-Behavioral Interventions for ASD Social Deficits

Cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT) is an evidence-based treatment that teaches



emotion regulation and problem-solving skills (Beck, 2011). Interventions that use a cognitive-behavioral approach typically place an emphasis on structured strategies, learning principles, and social strategies that could lead to changes in thinking, feeling, and behavior (Kendall, 2006). In the format of outpatient psychotherapy, CBT has been used extensively and has received empirical support for the treatment of child mental health conditions broadly (James, James, Cowdrey, Soler, & Choke, 2015; Sukhodolsky, Smith, McCauley, Ibrahim, & Piasecka, 2016; Walkup et al., 2008). A cognitivebehavioral approach has also been used with children who have ASD to target associated behaviors and conditions including aggression (Scarpa & Reyes, 2011; Sofronoff, Attwood, Hinton, & Levin, 2007), obsessive-compulsive behavior (Elliott & Fitzsimons, 2014; Lehmkuhl, Storch, Bodfish, & Geffken, 2008; Murray, Jassi, Mataix-Cols, Barrow, & Krebs, 2015; Vause, Neil, Jaksic, Jackiewicz, & Feldman, 2015), and anxiety (McNally Keehn, Lincoln, Brown, & Chavira, 2013; Storch et al., 2015; Wood et al., 2015). However, more work is needed to understand the efficacy of a cognitivebehavioral approach for treating core social deficits in ASD.

Few studies have been conducted that used a control or comparison group design to explore the efficacy of cognitive-behavioral interventions (CBI) when integrated within social skills groups. CBIs typically provide a multifaceted approach for treating social deficits related to social competence and cognition. A basic assumption of CBIs is that social perception processes can be taught cognitively and influence behavior (Hart & Morgan, 1993). This principle is optimized in social skills interventions by using both "top-down" and "bottom-up" approaches. In combination, these approaches provide strategies for learning and scaffolding social skills, and for building an implicit awareness



of social cues through social problem solving and training in social perception (Spence, 2003). The existing studies examining CBIs in the format of social skills groups have reported gains in social functioning among individuals with ASD (DeRosier, Swick, Davis, McMillen, & Matthews, 2011; Lopata et al., 2010; Soorya et al., 2015), including greater social knowledge (Koning, Magill-Evans, Volden, & Dick, 2013; Lopata et al., 2010) and increases in social problem solving abilities (Solomon, Goodlin-Jones, & Anders, 2004). However, data is limited in terms of the number of CBI social skills studies providing independent or blinded evaluations of outcome measures, the use of standardized measures for social outcomes, and data on maintenance.

Studies investigating CBIs for social deficits using a control or comparative group examined outcomes related to social behavior and social cognition processes. For social behavior, three randomized controlled trials (RCTs) measured outcomes using the SRS (Constantino, 2005), a standardized measure of ASD symptoms and severity of social impairment, and reported significant post-treatment gains for the CBI group compared to either a control or comparative group (DeRosier et al., 2011; Lopata et al., 2010; Soorya et al., 2015). One study did not find significant changes in SRS scores at endpoint for children with ASD relative to a control group, though only boys were included in this study (Koning et al., 2013). One RCT did not assess social behavior outcomes (Baghdadli et al., 2013) and another RCT reported gains in social problem solving on a standardized measure (Solomon et al., 2004).

For social cognition, no significant change was reported in emotion recognition abilities following treatment in three CBI RCTs (Baghdadli et al., 2013; Lopata et al., 2010; Soorya et al., 2015), although one RCT found significant gains in the recognition



of adult and child facial expressions post-treatment for the CBI group (Solomon et al., 2004). In line with these results, a meta-analysis of social skills groups for ASD showed a lack of significant differences between treatment and control groups in relation to emotion recognition outcomes in the context of social skills training (Reichow et al., 2012). Another area of focus for CBIs in the domain of social cognition is theory of mind or mentalizing abilities. However, most CBI RCTs did not measure mentalizing skills using well-validated child-assessments of social cognition, which limits the available data on social cognition outcomes from CBIs. Of the CBI studies reviewed here, two RCTs examined mentalizing outcomes using validated measures and both reported a lack of significant gains in mentalizing (Solomon et al., 2004; Soorya et al., 2015). In addition, a recent meta-analysis found a lack of generalization of mentalizing skills to novel contexts following interventions that address theory of mind impairments in ASD (Fletcher-Watson, McConnell, Manola, & McConachie, 2014).

While there are various tools for assessing social abilities, the lack of consensus on appropriate measures for social cognition and social behavior makes it difficult to compare and generalize outcomes across studies. Discrepant results related to social behavior and social cognition outcomes make it difficult to ascertain the impact of CBIbased studies on these domains. In addition, the number of CBI-based studies addressing social skills deficits that have incorporated a randomized, controlled design is limited. The majority of studies used pre-post intervention designs (Bauminger, 2002; Bauminger, 2007; Cotugno, 2009; Crooke, Hendrix, & Rachman, 2008; Lopata, Thomeer, Volker, & Nida, 2006; Lopata, Thomeer, Volker, Nida, & Lee, 2008; Stichter et al., 2010; Tse, Strulovitch, Tagalakis, Meng, & Fombonne, 2007), which hinders any understanding of



an intervention's efficacy due to methodological limitations, such as the lack of a control group. To date, only five CBI studies employed an RCT approach.

While evidence supports the use of social skills groups for improving social competence among individuals with ASD (Reichow et al., 2012), CBI-studies using an RCT approach range in sample size from 14 to 69 and only three were comparative treatment trials. Thus, there is still a need for more RCTs with adequate sample size and with a comparative treatment group (for a review and recommendations, see Kasari et al., 2014), which is important for controlling for nonspecific therapeutic factors such as attention and parent perceptions of the credibility of a treatment (for a systematic review, see Jensen, Weersing, Hoagwood, & Goldman, 2005). To the best of our knowledge, three CBI studies employed a comparative treatment group (Baghdadli et al., 2013; DeRosier et al., 2011; Soorya et al., 2015). In one of the largest CBI comparative trials conducted using standardized measures of social behavior, DeRosier and colleagues (2011) adapted a social skills intervention for youths ages 8 to 12 with ASD (SS-GRIN-HFA) that addressed communication, working with others, friendship skills, and community-based activities to promote generalization. Compared to children with ASD who received an unmodified version of the intervention, improvements in social competence were reported based on the SRS. However, the lack of dual treatment outcomes for social behavior and cognition makes it difficult to fully understand changes that may have occurred in social perception after treatment.

In the largest CBI randomized, comparative trial to date of social skills groups, Soorya and colleagues (2015) examined dual treatment outcomes of social behavior and cognition. Children with ASD were randomized to a CBI condition that addressed



Nonverbal communication, Emotion recognition, and Theory of Mind Training (Seaver-NETT) or a facilitated play group. Children in the CBI group improved significantly on a social behavior composite measure relative to the comparison group at endpoint, though changes on a social cognition composite did not reach statistical significance. Verbal IQ was found to moderate changes in social behavior, where higher verbal IQ scores were associated with significant gains in social behavior for the CBI group only. Age approached significance as a moderator of social behavior outcomes for the CBI group, where older age was associated with greater improvement in social behavior outcomes.

The lack of generalization data from CBI-based studies makes it difficult to ascertain the gains in social skills to other naturalistic environments beyond the research or clinic setting. To address this concern, some studies have examined generalization using naturalistic settings. One study assessed the generalization of skills using an interaction task with a peer confederate and reported improvements following treatment (Koning et al., 2013). DeRosier et al. (2011) incorporated community-based activities to promote the generalization of skills to naturalistic environments, though no specific assessment was used to examine changes in social behavior within other settings.

Overall, social skills interventions are a promising treatment for social deficits related to ASD (Bellini & Peters, 2008; Kasari et al., 2014; Krasny, Williams, Provencal, & Ozonoff, 2003; Williams White et al., 2007). Further, there is evidence to support the use of a cognitive-behavioral approach to social skills training that may promote positive gains in social competence and improve the quality of social interactions for individuals with ASD (Cappadocia & Weiss, 2011). A greater understanding of the neural mechanisms of treatment-related changes in social functioning would provide both



exciting and critically important information for understanding the potential of interventions to activate different networks and for identifying biomarkers of treatment response. Combined, information about neural substrates and biomarkers of treatment response could be valuable for ascertaining subgroups of children with ASD for whom a particular treatment approach would be most advantageous (Kasari et al., 2014). Given the challenge in addressing social cognition impairments through behavioral interventions, results from neuroimaging studies could also provide insights into our understanding of networks involved in social perception to inform treatments targeting deficits in social cognition.

Study Aims and Hypotheses

The current study investigates the neural effects of social skills groups for children with ASD and builds upon prior research by addressing methodological limitations. Given the support for social skills groups to improve social competence (for a meta-analysis, see Reichow et al., 2012; Weitlauf et al., 2014), a randomized, comparative trial was conducted as part of a larger study to evaluate the efficacy of a group cognitive-behavioral treatment for social deficits in school-aged children with ASD. The 12-session CBI curriculum addressed 3 skill areas known to be impaired in ASD: Nonverbal communication, Emotion recognition, and Theory of mind Training (Seaver-NETT; Soorya et al., 2015). Results from the clinical outcomes of this study showed that children in the CBI group made significant gains in social behavior compared to a child-directed play group (comparison) (Soorya et al., 2015). This was the largest randomized comparative trial conducted to date of a social skills intervention for



ASD. Of interest is how social skills training alters activity in 'social brain' networks implicated in ASD.

The primary aim of this study was to investigate the neural effects of a cognitivebehavioral approach to treating social deficits on networks implicated in processing gaze and emotion. We sought to understand the neural mechanisms of response to social skills training by employing an fMRI approach and a previously validated face processing task of emotional expressions with direct and averted gaze (Davies et al., 2011). Based on our prior findings of increased MPFC activity when explicit instructions to attend to social cues were given to children with ASD (Wang et al., 2007) as well as data from neuroimaging studies that suggest plasticity of networks in ASD when social information is signaled, we hypothesized that children randomized to the CBT group would show increased activity in regions important for social cognition following treatment. Based on the research described earlier, candidate regions for showing treatment effects at endpoint (i.e., increased activation) were areas of the brain implicated in social perception processes including the VLPFC and MPFC. Using the same task tapping into gaze and face processing, children with ASD showed hypoactivation in the VLPFC when viewing negative emotions relative to a TD group (Davies et al., 2011). Thus, we predicted that the cognitive-behavioral group would show increased activation in the VLPFC relative to the comparison group pre- to post-treatment. In contrast, we predicted that children randomized to the comparison group would show little to no change in activity in these 'social brain' networks relative to the CBT group at endpoint. In the larger clinical sample, children in the cognitive-behavioral group made significant gains on a composite measure of social behavior post-intervention relative to the comparison



group (Soorya et al., 2015). Thus, we focused our analyses on composite measures used in the larger clinical study addressing social behavior and cognition. Given that maintenance data is greatly needed, we also sought to examine changes in brain activity at a 3-month follow-up.

A second aim was to identify neural predictors and moderators of treatment response. We also evaluated baseline participant characteristics including age as potential moderators of changes in brain activity. In the larger clinical trial, age and verbal IQ moderated the treatment response for the cognitive-behavioral group (Soorya et al., 2015), whereby higher baseline verbal ability was associated with greater improvements in social behavior. Given this finding, we predicted an association between similar characteristics, particularly age and verbal abilities, and change in activity within 'social brain' regions relevant to this gaze task (e.g., MPFC, VLPFC).



CHAPTER II

METHODS

Participants

Participants were recruited from the Mount Sinai Medical Center and affiliate institutions, autism parent support groups, advertisements in local papers, and referrals from the Seaver Autism Center clinic. Each participant's parent(s) provided informed consent according to specifications by the Institutional Review Board at the Ichan School of Medicine at Mount Sinai (see Appendix A). Each child provided assent. The current study draws on data collected from a larger project examining the effect of a 12-week randomized CBT intervention targeting social behavior and the neural correlates of social cognition (Soorya et al., 2015). Permission to analyze this data was obtained from the University of Hartford's Human Subjects Committee (see Appendix B).

Sixty-nine verbally fluent children with ASD (age range: 8-12; M = 9.9 years; SD = 1.2 years; 57 male and 12 female) were randomized to either a 12-week CBT social skills group (treatment) or a facilitated play group (comparison) (Soorya et al., 2015). Inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) 8 to 11 years of age at the time of consent; (2) meet criteria for ASD according to a psychological interview (DSM-IV), the Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule–Generic (Lord et al., 2000), and the Autism Diagnostic Interview–Revised (Rutter, Le Couteur, & Lord, 2003); and (3) have a Verbal IQ above 70, as measured by the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children, Fourth Edition (WISC-IV; Wechsler, 2003). Participants were excluded if they: (1) had a history of psychiatric or neurological disorders other than ASD (e.g., seizure disorder); (2) began any new psychotropic medication or other therapeutic intervention (e.g., behavior, speech) within



30 days prior to the groups that would confound the evaluation of the social skills treatment; (3) had gross structural abnormality present in the brain (e.g., aneurysm); or (4) history of head trauma or loss of consciousness.

Of the 69 children randomized in the clinical trial conducted by Soorya and colleagues (2015), 24 participants have high-quality fMRI data both pre- and post-treatment on the gaze and emotion processing task described below (see fMRI Activation Paradigm for task details and Figure 1 for CONSORT). Our imaging sample included 3 girls and 21 boys. Children were also characterized using the Social Responsiveness Scale (Constantino, 2005) and the Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scales (Sparrow, Cicchetti, & Balla, 2005). Table 3 shows demographic and characterization information for participants. Full inclusion criteria and treatment outcomes are reported by Soorya et al. (2015).

Participants completed fMRI tasks at baseline and following treatment (12weeks). A total of 13 participants had high-quality fMRI scan data at a 3-month maintenance evaluation (7 in the CBT group and 6 in the comparison group). Full details on participants excluded for the follow-up interval are described below.

For baseline characteristics, *t* tests were used to examine potential differences between the 24 participants randomized to CBT vs. facilitated play, which showed that there were no significant differences between groups in terms of age, IQ, and symptom severity. Independent samples *t* tests were also performed to compare baseline characteristics between participants who were included in and excluded from the final imaging analysis, which showed that there was a marginally significant difference in age between groups, t(66) = -2.0, p = 0.049. Children included in the final imaging analysis





Figure 1. CONSORT diagram displaying the progress of participants through the trial.



(M = 10.2 years; SD = 1.3) were on average six months older than the excluded participants (M = 9.6 years, SD = 1.2). Included and excluded participants did not differ significantly in IQ or ASD symptom severity.

Ethnicity data obtained from caregiver reports indicate an ethnically diverse sample for the 24 participants included in the neuroimaging analysis: 13 participants (54%) were Caucasian, 5 (21%) were African-American, 4 (17%) were Hispanic, 1 (4%) was Asian, and 1 (4%) was of mixed ethnicity. Of the 24 participants, 2 (8%) were on stable doses of ADHD stimulant medication, 3 (12%) on ADHD nonstimulant, medication, and 2 (8%) on antidepressant medication.

Table 3

| | | | Excluded from |
|----------------------------|------------------|-------------|----------------------|
| | CBT | Comparison | fMRI analysis |
| | (<i>n</i> = 13) | (n = 11) | (n = 45) |
| | Mean (SD) | Mean (SD) | Mean (SD) |
| Age in years | 10.5 (1.3) | 9.9 (1.2) | 9.6 (1.2) |
| Full Scale IQ | 103.1 (19.1) | 95.5 (20.6) | 91.6 (14.9) |
| Verbal IQ | 106.5 (19.1) | 96.7 (17.0) | 94.6 (13.6) |
| Nonverbal IQ | 105.7 (16.1) | 96.4 (15.8) | 101.4 (16.3) |
| Vineland Adaptive Behavior | 77.8 (10.9) | 76.7 (8.7) | 81.3 (10.2) |
| Composite | | | |
| SRS Total Score | 78.5 (12.8) | 74.7 (11.4) | 82.1 (12.2) |
| ADOS Module 3 Total | 11.1 (4.2) | 11.0 (4.6) | 11.4 (4.5) |

Participant Demographics and Characterization Data

Note. SRS = Social Responsiveness Scale; ADOS = Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule, ASD cutoff = 7.

Social Skills Interventions

Participants were randomized to either the social skills treatment group (CBT) or

a child-directed play-group (Comparison). The CBT-based social skills program



addressed the following core social-communicative impairments in ASD: Nonverbal communication, Emotion recognition, and Theory of mind Training (Seaver NETT). Participants randomized to the comparison condition received a child-directed, playbased curriculum in which group leaders followed participants' interests and suggestions for games.

Both groups met weekly for 90 minutes and consisted of four to six participants, in addition to two to three therapists (e.g., one psychologist and one or two program assistants in order to maintain a 1:2 therapist to child ratio). Concurrently with child sessions, a parent component was incorporated which was psychoeducational or supportive for the CBT or comparison group, respectively. Behavioral assessments and fMRI tasks (discussed below) were administered at baseline, three months, and at a 3month follow-up.

Treatment Condition: CBT

Typical session components for the CBT group included the following: (1) circle time or greeting period, (2) skill review, (3) introduction of new target skill, (4) free play, and (5) snack and prizes. A token-exchange system was used in which points were used to earn a weekly reinforcer at the end of each session. Teaching methods included providing concrete steps, role-playing, assigning homework, personalized reinforcement schedules, visual supports, and generalization training.

The CBT social skills program incorporated three, 4-week modules. Module 1 focused on nonverbal communication including active listening and social referencing (i.e., following eye gaze and checking facial expressions and gestures of others). Children practiced using their gaze direction, facial expression, and/or gestures to



communicate their intent to others. In addition, sessions addressed synchronization of affect and actions to develop empathy and connection with others (Gustein & Sheely, 2002). Module 2 activities focused on emotion recognition. Skills during Module 2 addressed recognition of emotion in others (e.g., facial expression, tone of voice, and gestures), communication of feelings with others, and appropriate responses during various social situations. Module 3 focused on Theory of Mind training and targeted the ability to comprehend the communicative intent behind non-literal remarks. Module 3 also addressed perspective taking and utilized thought bubbles to visually represent another person's cognition (Kerr & Durkin, 2004; Wellman et al., 2002). During each session, a psychoeducational parent component was incorporated. This consisted of reviewing the homework from the previous week, addressing any concerns or difficulties encountered by parents, and discussing strategies for overcoming those challenges. Parent informational handouts were also provided, along with suggestions for the generalization of skills into the home environment and everyday life.

Comparison Group: Facilitated Play

The comparison group was tailored to incorporate child-led play that was based on the interests of group members. Therapists established "stations" to promote object play (e.g., LEGO and board games), motor/tactile activities (e.g., drawing), and dramatic play. Session components for the control condition included: (1) circle or greeting time; (2) game, activity, or talk time; (3) free play; and (4) snacks and prizes. A tokenexchange system was not implemented, though children were allowed to choose a small prize at the end of each session. During each session, a concurrent parent group was provided, which was supportive in nature and facilitated by a therapist.



Measures

Participants were administered behavioral assessments and underwent an fMRI scan at baseline, post-treatment, and at a 3-month follow-up. Parent-rated measures of social behavior were collected in addition to child-based assessments of social cognition, particularly for emotion recognition and theory of mind. For the larger behavioral study, a principal components analysis (PCA) with varimax (orthogonal) rotation was conducted to develop composite scores for the dual treatment targets of social behavior and social cognition (Soorya et al., 2015). PCA was used as a means to reduce the occurrence of type I errors associated with modeling numerous tests separately as well as with multiple comparisons, and to reduce measurement errors. Raw subscale scores of each measure were entered into the factor analysis to develop empirically based groupings. Variables with high factor loadings for subscales were retained. Social behavior and social cognition composites measures were constructed based upon well-validated measures of social relationships, nonverbal communication, empathy, emotion recognition, and perspective taking.

Social behavior composite. The resulting social behavior composite included the following: Diagnostic Analysis of Nonverbal Accuracy-2 (DANVA-2; Nowicki & Duke, 2003), Reading the Mind in the Eyes Test, Child Version, (RMET; Baron-Cohen et al., 2001a), and the mentalizing scale of the Strange Stories Task (Brent, Rios, Happe, & Charman, 2004). Lower scores on the social behavior composite indicate better social relationships, nonverbal communication, and empathy.

Social cognition composite. The resulting social cognition composite included th.e following tests/subscales: Children's Communication Checklist-2 (CCC-2; Bishop,



2003) social relations subscale, CCC-2 nonverbal subscale, and Griffith Empathy Scale (Dadds et al., 2008) total. Higher scores on the social cognition composite indicate better emotion recognition and perspective taking.

fMRI Activation Paradigm

All children underwent an event-related fMRI task where they viewed 160 photographs of emotionally expressive faces, which was adapted from a previously validated task (Davies et al., 2011). While undergoing fMRI, children viewed faces from the NimStim Face Stimulus Set (Tottenham et al., 2009) that depicted expressions of anger, fear, disgust or a neutral expression (see Figure 2). Half of the faces displayed a direct eye gaze towards the participant, while half of the faces were modified to display an averted eye gaze towards the participant's left or right. The order of faces was determined using an optimized random sequence (Wager & Nichols, 2003). Alternate versions of each set of emotions were employed so that participants would not receive identical activation runs at each time point (e.g., baseline, end of treatment, and followup). Stimulus faces were presented in a pseudo-random order for 2 s each and were preceded with fixation crosses to the eyes to ensure that children were attending to the eye region. Null events were included in order to increase the statistical efficiency (Dale, 1999), which consisted of fixation crosses situated in the center of a blank screen for 2 s each. Null events were distributed pseudo-randomly throughout each run and were modeled as a separate condition. Participants were instructed to simply observe the faces.





Figure 2. fMRI task sequence and eye gaze paradigm. Stimulus faces were preceded by fixation crosses in which participants viewed 160 photographs of emotional faces. Faces were presented for 2 s each and preceded by 1s fixation crosses. Faces depicted four emotions: fearful, angry, neutral, or disgusted. Faces displayed either a direct or averted eye gaze.



fMRI Data Acquisition Parameters

Imaging was performed using a Siemens Allegra 3 Tesla scanner with an Acoustic Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (ANMR) upgrade for echoplanar images (EPI). A T2-weighted high-resolution anatomical scan was obtained for each participant for coregistration purposes: repetition time (TR), 5000 ms; echo time (TE), 33 ms; matrix size 128 x 128; field of view (FOV), 20 cm. For each participant, 216 interleaved, wholebrain functional volumes were collected in the axial plane parallel to the intercommissural (AC-PC) line using an EPI gradient echo sequence: TR, 2.5 s; TE, 25 ms; slice thickness, 3 mm/1 mm gap; flip angle, 90°; matrix size 64 x 64; FOV, 21 cm.

Statistical Analysis

Behavioral data analysis. Behavioral outcomes for the social behavior and cognition composite measures were analyzed using general linear mixed models (SAS/ STAT software, version 9.4). Mixed models were used to examine the longitudinal effect of treatment condition on composite measures and moderation analyses. Participants were included if at least two time points of valid data were available. All effects are reported as significant at p < 0.05.

Neuroimaging analysis. Neuroimaging statistical analyses were conducted with SPM5 (Wellcome Department of Cognitive Neurology, London, England; http://www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm). Functional images were realigned to correct for head motion, spatially normalized to Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) space for intersubject averaging (Woods, Dapretto, Sicotte, Toga, & Mazziotta, 1999), and spatially smoothed using an 8 mm full-width half-maximum Gaussian kernel. For each participant's functional run, any volume that exceeded a difference of 3mm/deg from the



first volume or 2mm/deg between successive volumes were identified and removed (i.e., "scrubbed"). Participants with less than 85% of volumes retained after scrubbing were excluded from the final analysis. For the 24 participants with baseline and 12-week scans analyzed, 5 participants had volumes removed (2 in the CBT group and 3 in the comparison group). For the three-month follow-up, 7 participants were lost to follow-up and 4 participants were excluded due to excessive motion. Of the 13 participants included in the follow-up analysis, 4 participants' runs were subjected to scrubbing. Following motion correction and data scrubbing, we performed independent samples *t* tests to compare subject movement for the CBT vs. comparison groups. There were no significant differences between the CBT and comparison groups for mean amount of head motion (see Table 4). To remove any artifactual signal changes due to head motion, spatial realignment parameters were included as regressors of no interest in the model.

For each participant, condition effects were estimated according to the General Linear Model, using a canonical hemodynamic response function. Functional MRI measures local changes in the proportion of oxygenated blood in the brain (e.g., the Blood Oxygen Level Dependent or BOLD signal). This proportion changes in response to neural activity. Therefore, the BOLD signal or the hemodynamic response indicates the location and magnitude of neural activity.

The effect of time was modeled at the single-subject level and a one-sample *t*-test was applied to examine differences from baseline to endpoint within each group. Between-group differences were examined using a 2-sample independent *t*-test within regions where activation was detected in either group. The threshold for significance was set at a voxel-wise uncorrected p < 0.01 (two-tailed), with a cluster threshold of 71



contiguous functional voxels. This yielded an overall corrected threshold of p < 0.05, as determined by a Monte Carlo simulation (Forman et al., 1995). An inclusive mask was applied for second-level analyses, which was accomplished by creating an image file for each group at baseline and endpoint consisting of activity across all gaze conditions vs. rest (p < 0.05, uncorrected, and 50 contiguous voxels) and combining these images to create the mask. For the post-intervention interval, one sample and two sample *t*-tests were used as described above to examine differences from baseline and endpoint to the 3-month follow-up within each group and for between group differences, respectively. In addition, to examine changes in neural activity that were associated with treatment-related changes on measures of social functioning, we conducted a regression between changes in social behavior and social cognition composite scores (Soorya et al., 2015) and changes in brain activation following treatment.

Table 4

| Mean Amour | nt of Head | Movement for | CRT and | Comparison | Grouns |
|-------------|------------|--------------|---------|------------|--------|
| wieun miour | n oj menu | MOVEMENT JOI | CD1 unu | Comparison | Groups |

| | | Translational motion (mm) | Rotational motion (deg) |
|------------|----------|---------------------------|-------------------------|
| | Interval | mean (SE) | mean (SE) |
| CBT | Baseline | 0.289 (0.0422) | 0.331 (0.0387) |
| | Endpoint | 0.363 (0.0823) | 0.359 (0.0733) |
| Comparison | Baseline | 0.246 (0.0382) | 0.341 (0.0705) |
| | Endpoint | 0.377 (0.0791) | 0.401 (0.0706) |

Note. Based on n = 13 participants in the CBT group and n = 11 participants in the comparison group.



Moderators of neural treatment outcomes. Regression analyses were conducted to evaluate the relationship between participant characteristics and changes in brain activity pre- to post-intervention. Participant characteristics used in the regression analysis included chronological age and verbal abilities. Verbal abilities were measured by verbal IQ composite scores.

Neural predictors and moderators of treatment outcomes. Regression analyses were also conducted to evaluate the relationship between baseline brain activity and changes in social cognition and behavior. We examined baseline neural activity as a predictor and moderator of treatment response across both groups and within each group, respectively.


CHAPTER III

RESULTS

Behavioral Results

Consistent with the larger behavioral study (Soorya et al., 2015), for participants retained in the neuroimaging analyses (n = 24), results of linear mixed model regression analyses showed a significant group by time interaction for the social behavior composite. This reflected a significant improvement in ratings of social competence for the CBT group following treatment (p = 0.0189), whereas the comparison group did not show significant change (Figure 3). There were no significant main effects or interactions for the social cognition composite. There were also no significant correlations with baseline participant characteristics, including verbal IQ and age, and changes in social behavior and cognition composite scores. However, for the larger clinical trial, verbal IQ moderated improvements on the social behavior composite for the CBT group (Soorya et al., 2015). That is, children who had greater verbal processing abilities showed the greatest gains in social behavior (i.e., a decrease in the social behavior composite score) following treatment. In addition, age approached significance as a moderator of social behavior in the larger clinical cohort.

For the follow-up interval (n = 24), linear mixed model analyses indicated no significant group x time interaction effect for social behavior and social cognition composite scores. Overall, the significant gains made in social behavior outcomes at endpoint were not maintained at the 3-month follow-up.





Figure 3. Changes in social behavior scores for CBT and comparison groups following treatment. A significant Group x Time interaction was found for the social behavior composite immediately following treatment (week 12). There was no significant Group x Time interaction at follow-up (week 24) for the social behavior composite. Decreasing scores on the social behavior composite measure reflect an improvement in performance.



Neuroimaging Results

Within-Group Effects

We first examined changes in brain activity from pre- to post-treatment within each group. Following treatment, children in the CBT group showed greater activity in prefrontal networks implicated in Theory of Mind and emotion regulation including the MPFC and VLPFC, respectively, relative to baseline for both direct and averted gaze conditions (see Figure 4). Greater activity was also observed in regions associated with visual and emotion processing (e.g., occipital cortex, cingulate gyrus), frontotemporal networks (e.g., precentral and postcentral gyri, right middle temporal gyrus), and subcortical regions including the left caudate, bilateral putamen, and right thalamus. In contrast, children in the comparison group (n = 11) did not show any significant changes in activity at endpoint. Peak coordinates are shown in Table 5.

Between-Group Effects

Our core hypotheses centered on identifying the neural effects of CBT relative to a comparative play group in areas implicated in social cognition. Therefore, we examined changes in brain activity between both groups (N = 24) following treatment (CBT vs. comparison for pre- vs. post-treatment). When viewing faces with a direct and averted gaze, children in the CBT group showed greater changes in activity relative to the comparison group in regions associated with reasoning about others' intentions (MPFC), emotion processing (e.g., cingulate gyrus, insula), and frontal networks (e.g., left middle frontal gyrus) (see Figure 5). Peak coordinates are shown in Table 6. In contrast, there were no significant areas of greater change in activity for the Comparison versus CBT contrast.





Figure 4. Within group changes in activity for the CBT group following treatment. Children in the CBT group showed greater activity in the MPFC and VLPFC relative to baseline when viewing faces with a direct gaze (left) and averted gaze (right) following treatment. In contrast, children in the comparison group did not show any regions of increased activity post- versus pre-treatment. Images are thresholded at t > 2.68, volume = 568 mm³, p < 0.05, corrected.



| RegionBAHxyztMPFC9L-256365.27-129R-12365.27148L-1242465.151010R1454145.151011L-1044-124.08-1211L-238-103.78-211L-238-103.78-1211R-1024L-4034-44.30Anterior cingulate gyrus32L-1032281024R830243.998Posterior cingulate gyrus23L-10322811R-332423242412-103228143.999L-33R-12-121412-10322429151-10322424161-1032243.9991-10231-12151-1032243.99161-1032243.99171-101-10181-101-141911-101191-12-12 | y z t 56 36 5.27 54 14 5.15 44 -12 4.08 38 -10 3.78 34 -4 4.30 32 28 3.74 30 24 3.90 38 14 4.20 38 14 4.20 | $\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | z 1 34 18 18 18 14 8 8 -10 -114 -14 | 3.92 5.15 4.21 | x y | t | |
|--|--|---|---|----------------------|-------|------|------|
| $ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | 56 36 5.27 42 46 5.24 54 14 5.15 54 14 5.15 44 -12 4.08 38 -10 3.78 34 -4 4.30 32 28 3.74 30 24 3.90 38 14 4.20 38 14 4.20 | -12 58 14 44 10 62 -12 50 -2 40 10 40 36 34 10 42 10 42 | 34 18 18 -10 -10 -4 | 3.92 5.15 4.21 | | 7 | t |
| $ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | 42 46 5.24 54 14 5.15 44 -12 4.08 38 -10 3.78 34 -4 4.30 32 28 3.74 30 24 3.90 38 14 4.20 38 14 4.20 | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | 18 14 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 | 5.15 | | | |
| | 42 46 5.24 54 14 5.15 44 -12 4.08 38 -10 3.78 38 -10 3.78 34 -4 4.30 32 28 3.74 30 24 3.90 38 14 4.20 38 14 4.20 | $\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | 14 8 -10 -14 -4 | 4.21 | | | |
| $ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | 54 14 5.15 44 -12 4.08 38 -10 3.78 34 -4 4.30 32 28 3.74 30 24 3.90 38 14 4.20 38 14 4.20 | 10 62 -12 50 -2 40 10 40 36 33 36 34 | 14 8 - 10 - 14 - 4 | 4.21 | | | |
| $ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | 44 -12 4.08 38 -10 3.78 34 -4 4.30 32 28 3.74 30 24 3.90 38 14 4.20 38 14 4.20 38 14 4.20 | -12 50 -2 40 10 40 36 34 10 42 | 8 10 8 - 4 4 - 4 | | | | |
| 11 L -2 38 -10 3.78 -2 11 R 11 R 10 3.78 -2 11 R -47 L -40 34 -4 4.30 -38 11 R -10 32 L -10 32 28 3.74 Anterior cingulate gyrus 32 L -10 32 28 3.74 36 224 R 8 30 24 1 3.99 8 8 14 3.99 10 Posterior cingulate gyrus 23 L -8 38 14 3.99 8 12 Insula 1 L -8 38 14 3.99 8 12 Insula 1 < | 38 -10 3.78 34 -4 4.30 32 28 3.74 30 24 3.90 38 14 4.20 28 14 3.90 | -2 40 10 40 36 33 10 40 | -10 -14 -4 | 3.16 | | | |
| 11R10VLPFC47L-4034-44.30-38Anterior cingulate gyrus32L-1032283.74Anterior cingulate gyrus32R8301024R830243.901023R833144.20-1223R823L-344Insula11212424Middle frontal gyrus23L-34-24Insula1124224123R-26-1023R-2622411-24-2411-262246504224242411-26224650422424-2411-2622469L-3424-269L-3424249L-3424249L-3424249L-3424249L-3424269L-3424249L-34242491-3448291-342424101-3424 <t< td=""><td>34 -4 4.30 32 28 3.74 30 24 3.90 38 14 4.20 28 14 3.99</td><td>10 40 -38 32 36 34 10 40</td><td>- 14</td><td>5.72</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<> | 34 -4 4.30 32 28 3.74 30 24 3.90 38 14 4.20 28 14 3.99 | 10 40 -38 32 36 34 10 40 | - 14 | 5.72 | | | |
| VLPFC47L-4034-44.30-38Anterior cingulate gyrus32L -10 3228 3.74 36Anterior cingulate gyrus32L -10 3228 3.74 301032R830243.901032243998Posterior cingulate gyrus24L -8 38144.20 -10 23R823L -39 1 -12 1nsula1L -34 42.24 -12 Insula1L -34 42.24 -12 Insula1L -34 -399 -12 -12 Middle frontal gyrus6L -34 -26 -26 9L -34 44 -26 -22 46 9L -34 -399 -42 -42 9L -34 -399 -42 -42 9L -34 -36 -26 -22 9L -34 -36 -26 -46 9L -34 -46 -36 -42 9L -34 -36 -46 </td <td>34 -4 4.30 32 28 3.74 30 24 3.90 38 14 4.20 28 14 3.99</td> <td>-38 32 36 34 10 42</td> <td>4-</td> <td>4.54</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> | 34 -4 4.30 32 28 3.74 30 24 3.90 38 14 4.20 28 14 3.99 | -38 32 36 34 10 42 | 4- | 4.54 | | | |
| Anterior cingulate gyrus 47 R 36 Anterior cingulate gyrus 32 L -10 32 28 3.74 32 R8 30 24 3.90 10 24 L-8 38 14 4.20 -10 24 R8 23 L -8 38 14 4.20 23 L -8 31 L -12 -12 23 R -33 L -24 -12 110 31 L -24 -12 -24 110 1 -34 -26 -12 110 1 -34 -26 -26 110 1 -34 -26 -22 110 1 -34 -26 -22 110 1 -34 -26 -22 110 1 -34 -26 -22 110 1 -34 -26 -22 110 1 -34 -26 -22 110 1 -34 -26 -22 110 1 -34 -26 -22 110 1 -34 -26 -22 110 1 -34 -24 110 1 -34 -24 110 1 -34 -24 110 -24 -24 110 -24 -24 110 -24 -24 12 -24 -24 12 <t< td=""><td>32 28 3.74 30 24 3.90 38 14 4.20 28 14 3.99</td><td>36 34 10 47</td><td></td><td>5.80</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<> | 32 28 3.74 30 24 3.90 38 14 4.20 28 14 3.99 | 36 34 10 47 | | 5.80 | | | |
| Anterior cingulate gyrus 32 L -10 32 28 3.74 32 R 8 30 24 3.90 10 24 L -8 38 14 4.20 -10 24 R 8 28 14 3.99 8 Posterior cingulate gyrus 23 R 23 24 24 24 31 L -8 38 14 3.99 8 1 L -8 28 14 3.99 8 23 R - -24 24 24 Insula L - -34 -12 Middle frontal gyrus 6 L -34 -28 Middle frontal gyrus 6 L -34 -42 9 L -36 26 5.04 -42 10 L -34 48 2 48 -42 9 L -34 48 2 48 -42 10 L -34 | 32 28 3.74 30 24 3.90 38 14 4.20 28 14 3.99 | 10 47 | °, | 4.65 | | | |
| 32 R 8 30 24 3.90 10 24 L -8 38 14 4.20 -10 24 R 8 28 14 3.99 8 23 L -8 38 14 4.20 -10 23 R -23 R -24 4 31 L -23 8 -24 4 1nsula 1 L -24 -24 Inferior frontal gyrus 6 L -34 -24 Middle frontal gyrus 6 L -34 -24 9 L -26 25 46 504 9 L -34 48 -26 -42 9 L -34 48 -26 -42 10 L -34 48 -26 -42 9 L -26 22 46 504 9 L -34 48 -26 -42 10 L -34 4 | 30 24 3.90 38 14 4.20 28 14 3.99 | 10 42 | | | | | |
| 24 L -8 38 14 4.20 -10 24 R 8 28 14 3.99 8 Posterior cingulate gyrus 23 L -12 -12 23 R -12 -12 -12 23 R -12 -12 -12 31 L -12 -12 -12 16 L -34 -12 -24 Inferior frontal gyrus 6 L -34 -42 Middle frontal gyrus 6 L -26 -42 9 L -26 22 46 5.04 10 L -34 48 -26 -42 | 38 14 4.20 28 14 3.99 | | 9 | 3.80 | | | |
| 24 R 8 28 14 3.99 8 Posterior cingulate gyrus 23 L -12 -12 23 R 31 L -12 -12 11 31 L -24 4 -24 11 L -24 -24 -24 11 L -26 22 46 5.04 12 9 L -34 42 -42 9 L -34 48 2 48 -42 10 L -34 48 2 48 -42 | 28 14 3.99 | -10 36 | 14 | 5.45 | | | |
| Posterior cingulate gyrus 23 L -12 23 R 23 R 4 31 L -24 -24 Insula L -24 -28 Inferior frontal gyrus 6 L -34 4 Middle frontal gyrus 6 L -34 4 -42 9 L -34 48 2 481 -42 9 L -34 48 2 481 -42 9 L -34 48 2 481 -42 10 L -34 48 2 481 -42 | | 8 30 | 8 | 3.83 | | | |
| 23 R Insula Inferior frontal gyrus Middle frontal gyrus 8 L 9 L 10 L 31 L -24 -24 -24 -28 -28 -28 -28 -28 -28 -28 -28 | | -12 -34 | 32 | 5.73 | | | |
| 31 L -24 Insula L -28 Inferior frontal gyrus 44 L -28 Middle frontal gyrus 6 L -34 4 56 6.55 8 L -26 22 46 5.04 -42 9 L -34 48 2 4.81 -42 9 L -34 48 2 4.81 -42 10 L -34 48 2 4.81 -32 | | 4 -58 | 16 | 3.72 | | | |
| Insula L -28 Inferior frontal gyrus 44 L -42 Middle frontal gyrus 6 L -34 4 56 6.55 8 L -26 22 46 5.04 -42 9 L -34 48 2 4.81 -42 10 L -34 48 2 4.81 -32 | | -24 -36 | 30 | 3.69 | | | |
| Inferior frontal gyrus 44 L -42 Middle frontal gyrus 6 L -34 4 56 6.55 8 L -26 22 46 5.04 -42 9 L -34 48 2 4.81 -42 10 L -34 48 2 4.81 -32 | | -28 10 | 18 | 4.49 | -34 2 | 0 26 | 3.29 |
| Middle frontal gyrus 6 L -34 4 56 6.55 8 L -26 22 46 5.04 9 L -34 48 2 4.81 -42 10 L -34 48 2 4.81 -32 | | -42 14 | 12 | 4.32 | | | |
| 8 L -26 22 46 5.04 9 L 10 L -34 48 2 4.81 -32 10 L -34 48 2 4.81 -32 | 4 56 6.55 | | | | | | |
| 9 L 10 L -34 48 2 4.81 -32 10 D -36 51 52 | 22 46 5.04 | | | | | | |
| 10 L -34 48 2 4.81 -32 | | -42 34 | 26 | 3.50 | | | |
| | 48 2 4.81 | -32 56 | 9 | 3.37 | | | |
| 10 K 40 24 8 2.22 | 54 8 5.52 | | | | | | |
| Superior frontal gyrus 6 L -12 16 62 4.23 -12 | 16 62 4.23 | -12 16 | 62 | 6.61 | | | |
| 9 R 24 48 34 4.96 | 48 34 4.96 | | | | | | |

Enc J C I 4 Ù ć 117:4 Ľ Ż ULL.

Table 5

المنسارات

www.manaraa.com

| ontinued) | |
|-----------|--|
| ૅ | |
| ŝ | |
| e | |
| abl | |

| able 5 (continued) | Direct | Gaze | | | Averted | Gaze | | Averted >] | Direc |
|--|----------|------|------|----------------|----------------|----------|--------------|--------------------------------|-------|
| Region BA H x | v | z t | | x | | z t | | <i>x y z</i> | t |
| Precentral gyrus 4 L 6 L | ` | | | -32 | -16 | 46 | 7.52 | - <u>30 -16 4</u> -38 -12 3 | 4 50 |
| Postcentral gyrus 1 L | | | | -52 | -22 | 54 | 3.15 | | |
| Precuneus 7 L -10 | 0 -54 | 72 | 5.27 | -10 | -56 | 72 | 5.65 | | |
| 7 R 2 | 2 -52 | 64 | 3.64 | 7 | -52 | 64 | 3.30 | | |
| Middle temporal gyrus 39 R 38 | 8 -66 | 30 | 4.22 | 40 | -64 | , 28 | 4.30 | | |
| Globus pallidus L | | | | -16 | 4 | 4 | 4.62 | | |
| Putamen L | | | | -24 | 10 | , 0 | 4.32 | | |
| R 20 | 0 18 | -7 | 4.11 | 20 | 18 | -2 | 4.55 | | |
| Caudate | | | | <mark>،</mark> | 24 | -2 | 4.6 | | |
| Thalamus R | | | | 26 | -26 | 9 | 3.59 | | |
| Cuneus 18 R 2 | 2 -94 | 20 | 3.99 | | | | | | |
| Middle occipital gyrus 18 L | | | | -18 | -98 | 16 | 3.80 | | |
| 18 L -18 | 86- 8 | 16 | 3.56 | 22 | -86 | 16 | 5.22 | | |
| Superior occipital gyrus 19 R 32 19 L | 2 -88 | 24 | 4.15 | -22 -22 | 88 88 88 | 30 30 | 4.92 4.29 | | |
| Cerebellum L -24 | 4 -80 | -24 | 3.26 | -20 | -80 | -22 | 3.99 | | |



Figure 5. Between group changes in activity for CBT versus comparison groups from baseline to post-treatment. The CBT group showed greater changes in MPFC activity following treatment when processing faces with a direct gaze (left) and averted gaze (right) relative to the comparison group. There were no areas in which the comparison group showed more changes in activity relative to the CBT group. Images are thresholded at t > 2.51, volume = 568 mm³, p < 0.05, corrected.



Table 6

Observed Peaks for CBT versus Comparison Groups (post > pre) for Faces With Averted and Direct Gaze

| | | | | Direc | ct Gaz | ze | | Avert | ed Ga | ze |
|--------------------------|----|---|-----|-------|--------|------|-----|-------|-------|------|
| | BA | Н | x | У | Z | t | x | У | Z | t |
| MPFC | 9 | L | -12 | 56 | 36 | 4.85 | | | | |
| | 8 | L | -8 | 46 | 46 | 3.11 | | | | |
| | 11 | L | | | | | -2 | 50 | -14 | 3.39 |
| | 10 | | | | | | 0 | 52 | -4 | 3.56 |
| Middle frontal gyrus | 10 | L | -22 | 56 | 22 | 3.24 | | | | |
| Anterior cingulate gyrus | 32 | | | | | | 0 | 32 | -8 | 3.92 |
| Insula | 13 | L | | | | | -32 | -8 | 12 | 3.05 |
| Claustrum | | L | | | | | -26 | 8 | 18 | 4.28 |

Note: BA = probable Brodmann area; H = hemisphere; L and R = left and right hemispheres, respectively; *x*, *y*, and *z* = the Montreal Neurological Institute coordinates corresponding to the left-right, anterior-posterior, and inferior-superior axes, respectively; t = the highest t-score within a region. The threshold of significance was set at p < 0.05corrected for multiple comparisons at the cluster level and p < 0.01 corrected for multiple comparisons at the voxel level.

When we examined changes in differential activation for the two gaze conditions within each group, the direct>averted gaze contrast showed no significant changes following treatment in either group. For the contrast averted>direct gaze, there was a significant increase in activation for the CBT group only in the precentral gyrus and insula (peak coordinates are shown in Table 5). No significant between-group differences were found for changes in activity following treatment for the contrasts direct>averted and averted>direct.



Three-Month Follow-Up

We examined changes in brain activity within each group at the 3-month followup (n = 7 for CBT and n = 6 for comparison). Analyses showed an increase in activation in subcortical regions (caudate) from baseline to follow-up for the CBT group for direct gaze, which may suggest that changes in neural activity were not maintained at the threemonth follow-up timepoint for children in the CBT group (peak coordinates are shown in Table 7). However, null findings related to changes in social cognitive regions may also reflect a lack of power given the small sample size for follow-up. For the comparison group, analyses showed an increase in activation in regions implicated in emotion (cingulate gyrus, insula) as well as temporal (middle temporal gyrus) and occipital regions for direct gaze. No significant between-group differences were found for changes in activity from baseline to follow-up.

Moderators of Neural Treatment Outcomes

We assessed the relationship between participant characteristics and changes in neural activity following treatment. For the CBT group only (n = 13), regression analyses revealed that there was a significant correlation between older age and increased activity in the right MPFC pre- to post-treatment for the CBT group. Age was also significantly correlated with increased activity in the right VLPFC post-treatment for the CBT group (Figure 6). Older age was associated greater changes in activation pre- to post-intervention in regions implicated in emotion (anterior cingulate gyrus, anterior insula), and bilateral middle frontal gyrus. Peak coordinates for these regions are shown in Table 8. Overall, this indicates that older children demonstrated greater changes in neural activity.



Table 7

Peaks of Activation for the CBT and Play Groups for the Direct Gaze Condition at the

Three-Month Maintenance Timepoint (follow-up > pre)

| Region | BA | Н | x | у | Z | t |
|---------------------------|----|---|-----|-----|----|------|
| CBT | | | | | | |
| Caudate | | L | -4 | 22 | -2 | 5.38 |
| Play | | | | | | |
| Middle temporal gyrus | 39 | R | 38 | -44 | 30 | 2.52 |
| | | L | -28 | -54 | 24 | 6.79 |
| Posterior cingulate gyrus | 30 | R | 28 | -48 | 20 | 5.76 |
| | 31 | L | -28 | -66 | 18 | 7.04 |
| Insula | | R | 38 | -36 | 18 | 8.50 |
| Middle occipital gyrus | 19 | L | -32 | -70 | 12 | 9.08 |

Note: BA = probable Brodmann area; H = hemisphere; L and R = left and right hemispheres, respectively; *x*, *y*, and *z* = the Montreal Neurological Institute coordinates corresponding to the left-right, anterior-posterior, and inferior-superior axes, respectively; t = the highest t-score within a region. The threshold of significance was set at p < 0.05corrected for multiple comparisons at the cluster level and p < 0.01 corrected for multiple comparisons at the voxel level.





Figure 6. Age as a moderator of treatment outcomes for the CBT group. There was a significant correlation between age and increased activity in the MPFC (top) and right VLPFC (bottom) following treatment for the CBT group. Children were between the ages of 8 and 11, indicating that the children who were older demonstrated the greatest changes in activity in the regions shown. Parameter estimates of activity were averaged across each region (MPFC and VLPFC), extracted, and plotted for data visualization purposes. Images are thresholded at *t* > 2.72, volume = 568 mm³, *p* < 0.05, corrected.



Table 8

Observed Peaks for Age as Moderator of Change in Activity for the CBT Group (post > pre) Across All Gaze Conditions

| Region | BA | Н | x | у | Z | t |
|----------------------|----|---|-----|----|----|------|
| MPFC | 10 | R | 8 | 58 | 10 | 6.00 |
| VLFPC | 47 | R | 36 | 34 | -2 | 4.50 |
| Anterior cingulate | 32 | | 0 | 48 | 8 | 6.28 |
| Anterior insula | | L | -24 | 24 | 16 | 4.85 |
| Middle frontal gyrus | 10 | R | 34 | 50 | 8 | 5.50 |
| | 10 | L | -28 | 40 | 4 | 4.92 |

Note: BA = probable Brodmann area; H = hemisphere; L and R = left and right hemispheres, respectively; *x*, *y*, and *z* = the Montreal Neurological Institute coordinates corresponding to the left-right, anterior-posterior, and inferior-superior axes, respectively; t = the highest t-score within a region. The threshold of significance was set at p < 0.05corrected for multiple comparisons at the cluster level and p < 0.01 corrected for multiple comparisons at the voxel level.



Neural Predictors of Treatment Outcomes

Regression analyses were conducted to evaluate the relationship between baseline brain activity and changes in social cognition and behavior. Across both groups (N = 36), baseline activity in the left FG was significantly correlated with improvement in social awareness (Figure 7A), as measured by the social awareness subscale of the Social Responsiveness Scale (Constantino, 2005). For the CBT group only (n = 19), activity in the right FG moderated changes in social awareness; specifically, children in the CBT group with greater baseline FG activity showed greater improvement in social awareness when viewing faces with a direct gaze (Figure 7B). Baseline activation in other areas associated with gains in social awareness included mentalizing and social brain networks (MPFC, IFG, temporal tip), frontal regions (SFG and MFG), areas involved in emotion processing (ACC and PCC), occipital cortex, and the cerebellum. Peak coordinates are shown in Table 9. There were no significant regions of activation associated with gains in social awareness for the comparison group.

Across both groups (N = 36), baseline activity in the right FG predicted improvement on a social cognition composite measure following treatment (Figure 7C). Baseline activation in other brain areas associated with gains on the social cognition composite included bilateral frontal regions (superior frontal gyrus). Peak coordinates are shown in Table 10.





Figure 7. Fusiform gyrus activity is associated with response to social skills treatment groups for children with autism. Baseline activity in the fusiform gyrus (FG) was significantly correlated with improvement on the social awareness subscale of the Social Responsiveness Scale across both groups in the left FG (A) and for the CBT group only in the right FG (B). In addition, baseline activity in the right FG was correlated with improvements in social cognition following treatment across both groups (C). Images are thresholded at t > 2.72, volume = 568 mm³, p < 0.05, corrected.



Table 9

Observed Peaks for Baseline Neural Activity as a Predictor and Moderator of Change in Social Awareness on the Social Responsiveness Scale (post > pre) Across All Gaze Conditions

| Region | BA | Н | x | У | Z | t |
|---------------------------|----|---|-----|-----|-----|------|
| Across Groups | | | | | | |
| Fusiform gyrus | 37 | L | -38 | -48 | -20 | 4.55 |
| CBT Group | | | | | | |
| Fusiform gyrus | 37 | L | -36 | -42 | -18 | 5.18 |
| | 37 | R | 38 | -54 | -20 | 4.94 |
| MPFC | 8 | R | 12 | 42 | 50 | 5.16 |
| Anterior cingulate gyrus | 24 | L | -14 | 38 | 4 | 5.44 |
| | 24 | R | 2 | 34 | 8 | 2.90 |
| | 32 | R | 4 | 46 | 6 | 4.38 |
| Posterior cingulate gyrus | 29 | R | 4 | -54 | 12 | 4.07 |
| | 23 | R | 8 | -48 | 24 | 3.54 |
| Inferior frontal gyrus | 44 | L | -46 | 12 | 10 | 5.09 |
| | 45 | L | -44 | 26 | 18 | 3.93 |
| | 47 | L | -48 | 26 | -2 | 3.81 |
| Superior frontal gyrus | 8 | R | 22 | 42 | 44 | 3.76 |
| Middle frontal gyrus | 46 | L | -44 | 26 | 18 | 3.93 |
| Temporal tip | 38 | R | 32 | 10 | -26 | 7.45 |
| | 38 | L | -34 | 18 | -34 | 5.33 |
| Middle temporal gyrus | 21 | R | 62 | -4 | -16 | 5.51 |
| Middle occipital gyrus | 19 | R | 48 | -78 | -4 | 5.83 |
| Cuneus | 18 | R | 16 | -98 | 4 | 3.09 |
| Lingual gyrus | 18 | R | 20 | -72 | -14 | 3.61 |
| Cerebellum | | R | 32 | -58 | -22 | 4.93 |
| | | L | -22 | -50 | -18 | 4.53 |

Note: BA = probable Brodmann area; H = hemisphere; L and R = left and right hemispheres, respectively; *x*, *y*, and *z* = the Montreal Neurological Institute coordinates corresponding to the left-right, anterior-posterior, and inferior-superior axes, respectively; t = the highest t-score within a region. The threshold of significance was set at p < 0.05corrected for multiple comparisons at the cluster level and p < 0.01 corrected for multiple comparisons at the voxel level.



Table 10

Peak Coordinates for Baseline Activity as Predictor of Change in Social Cognition Composite Score When Viewing Faces with a Direct Gaze

| Region | BA | Η | x | У | Z | t |
|------------------------|----|---|-----|-----|-----|------|
| Fusiform gyrus | 37 | R | 42 | -68 | -18 | 3.25 |
| Superior frontal gyrus | 9 | L | -22 | 58 | 30 | 3.12 |
| | 10 | L | -34 | 52 | 24 | 2.98 |

Note: BA = probable Brodmann area; H = hemisphere; L and R = left and right hemispheres, respectively; *x*, *y*, and *z* = the Montreal Neurological Institute coordinates corresponding to the left-right, anterior-posterior, and inferior-superior axes, respectively; t = the highest t-score within a region. The threshold of significance was set at p < 0.05corrected for multiple comparisons at the cluster level and p < 0.01 corrected for multiple comparisons at the voxel level.



CHAPTER IV

DISCUSSION

Summary of Findings

In the present study we investigated the neural effects of a cognitive-behavioral social skills treatment on gaze processing in school-aged children with ASD. As part of a larger clinical trial, the cognitive-behavioral intervention addressed three skill areas known to be impaired in children with ASD: nonverbal communication, emotion recognition, and theory of mind (Soorya et al., 2015). Both neural and behavioral outcome measures were administered at baseline, endpoint, and at a 3-month follow-up. Changes on the neural level were examined using an fMRI paradigm tapping into gaze and emotion processing.

Behavioral Outcomes

Behavioral analyses on the 24 children included in the final neuroimaging sample showed that participants in the CBT group made significant gains in social behavior following treatment relative to the comparison group. However, neither group showed significant improvements in social cognition following treatment. We also examined whether baseline participant characteristics (e.g., age, IQ) were moderators or predictors of treatment response. There were no moderating effects of baseline characteristics including age and IQ on changes in social behavior and social cognition composites for the present imaging sample. For the larger clinical cohort, verbal IQ moderated changes on the social behavior composite, whereby higher verbal IQ was associated with improvements in social behavior impairments for the CBT group (Soorya et al., 2015).



Age approached significance as a moderator of gains in social behavior for the CBT group in the larger cohort.

Neuroimaging Outcomes

When we examined changes in brain activity pre- to post-treatment within each group in response to direct and averted gaze, children in the CBT group showed increased activity in prefrontal networks implicated in social cognition, including the MPFC and VLPFC. Children in the CBT group also showed changes in activation in regions associated with visual processing (occipital cortex), emotion processing (cingulate cortex), fronto-temporal networks, and subcortical regions (caudate, putamen, thalamus). The comparison group did not show significant changes in activation pre- to post-intervention.

When we examined changes in activity between groups for direct and averted gaze conditions following treatment, children in the CBT group showed greater changes in activation in regions associated with mentalizing (MPFC), emotion processing (e.g., cingulate gyrus), and frontal networks (e.g., left middle frontal gyrus) relative to the comparison group. There were no significant areas of greater change in activity for the comparison group relative to CBT. When examining changes in differential activation for direct and averted gaze following treatment, no significant differences were found between groups.

Analyses suggest that neural and behavioral changes may not be maintained at the 3-month follow-up. Within-group analyses showed that there were no significant changes in activation in social brain regions for the CBT group from baseline to followup. Likewise, between-group analyses showed no significant areas of greater change in



70

activation for the CBT group relative to the comparison group from baseline to followup. However, null findings could also be due to low power given the small sample size.

Regression analyses were conducted to investigate neural and behavioral moderators and predictors of treatment response. When we examined the relationship between baseline characteristics and changes in brain activity, older age was associated with greater change in activation pre- to post-treatment in brain regions implicated in emotion (ACC, anterior insula, VLPFC) and mentalizing (MPFC) for the CBT group only. We then examined the relationship between baseline neural activity and changes in behavior across both groups, and found that baseline activity in the FG predicted response to treatment. Specifically, children with greater baseline activation of the FG, particularly in the right hemisphere, demonstrated the greatest gains in measures of social competence including the social awareness subscale of the SRS-2 and the social cognition composite. However, caution is warranted when interpreting these results since no significant changes were found on measures of social awareness or the social cognition composite pre- to post-intervention in either group.

Implications

Behavioral Outcomes of Social Competence

In the present study we examined the neural mechanisms of response to CBT for social impairments in children with ASD relative to a child-directed play group. Clinically, for the 24 children in this neuroimaging study, the CBT group made significant improvements in social behavior following treatment relative to a comparison group. Significant gains in social cognition were not observed in either group. These findings are consistent with treatment outcomes from the larger clinical study (Soorya et



al., 2015). It is possible that changes in social cognition abilities, which includes a broad range of skills such as emotion recognition, imitation, and theory of mind, are more difficult to address. This interpretation is supported by results from other randomized-controlled trials of social skills groups for ASD that have not found improvements in social cognition on tasks of emotion recognition (Baghdadli et al., 2013; Lopata et al., 2010) and mentalizing stories (Solomon et al., 2004). In a recent meta-analysis of 22 intervention studies addressing theory of mind training in ASD, Fletcher-Watson and colleagues (2014) reported poor outcomes in the maintenance and generalization of social cognition abilities to other contexts, particularly emotion recognition and mentalizing. It is also possible that the cognitive aspect of social functioning was not effectively addressed by the Seaver-NETT program to a level that would yield a statistically significant benefit. A greater intensity or dosage of treatment beyond one hour per week or a greater duration of treatment beyond 12 weeks may be needed to significantly improve social cognition and associated skills.

Although developmental variables including age and verbal IQ were not found to moderate outcomes in this smaller imaging sample, in the larger clinical cohort, there was a moderating effect of verbal IQ on social behavior outcomes at endpoint. Higher verbal IQ scores were associated with greater change in the social behavior composite for the CBT group. Age also approached significance as a moderator of social behavior outcomes in the clinical cohort, with increased age associated with gains in social behavior for the CBT group. These findings have implications for identifying subgroups of children for whom a cognitive-behavioral approach may be most beneficial whereby



children with ASD who have greater verbal processing skills and are older may benefit from CBT to target core autism deficits.

Increased Activation of Social Brain Networks: MPFC and VLPFC

Medial prefrontal cortex. Consistent with our hypothesis, children in the CBT group showed increases in activity in social brain networks following treatment. In particular, greater activation was found in regions implicated in mentalizing and emotion processing including the MPFC and VLPFC, respectively, while viewing faces with direct and averted gaze. In contrast, children in the comparison group did not show significant changes in activity at endpoint. Between-group analyses confirmed that the effect of treatment on increased MPFC activity was greater in the CBT group relative to the comparison group when viewing expressive faces with a direct and averted gaze.

Hypoactivation of the MPFC has been found in people with ASD when viewing faces with varying gaze (Georgescu et al., 2013; von dem Hagen et al., 2014). Studies have shown that the MPFC is an integral part of the Theory of Mind network, which refers to regions of the brain implicated in mentalizing (see reviews by: Amodio & Frith, 2006; Frith & Frith, 1999; Frith & Frith, 2006; Frith, 2001; Gallagher & Frith, 2003; Saxe et al., 2004; Van Overwalle, 2011). In addition to its association with mentalizing, MPFC activation has been reported in typically developing individuals during gaze paradigms that include the processing of emotional expressions when participants are asked to make explicit judgements about emotions (Wicker et al., 2003), make appraisals about socially relevant expressions (Schilbach et al., 2006), and view gaze shifts (Hooker et al., 2003). Activation of the MPFC has also been found when viewing different gaze directions in the context of a neutral facial expression (Calder et al., 2002; Conty et al.,



2007; Kampe et al., 2003; Wicker et al., 1998) and shifts in gaze (Bristow et al., 2007; Mosconi et al., 2005; Williams et al., 2005). However, it is important to note that several studies did not find similar MPFC activation during passive tasks when viewing emotional expreessions with different gaze (Davies et al., 2011; Engell & Haxby, 2007; Hoffman & Haxby, 2000; Pitskel et al., 2011; Zurcher, Rogier, et al., 2013) and during active tasks when categorizing gender from faces (George et al., 2001). Similarly, several neuroimaging studies did not report activation of the MPFC during spatial cueing tasks of social (i.e., directional gaze) versus non-social (i.e., arrows) stimuli (Dichter & Belger, 2007; Greene et al., 2011; Hietanen et al., 2006; Kato et al., 2001; Vaidya et al., 2011) and during shifts in gaze (Pelphrey, Morris, & McCarthy, 2005; Pelphrey, Singerman, et al., 2003). Recruitment of the MPFC and other regions of the social brain during gaze tasks could be evoked to infer the goals and intentions behind another person's gaze, leading some to propose that gaze processing is linked to social cognition (see reviews by: Itier & Batty, 2009; Nummenmaa & Calder, 2009).

Our results show that increased activity in the MPFC was observed only in the CBT group following treatment. It is noteworthy that Davies and colleagues (2011), using the same task, did not find activation of the MPFC in TD children as this was a passive viewing task that did not require the explicit appraisal of mental states. Moreover, it is important to emphasize that the participants in our study were not instructed to make any explicit judgments pertaining to the mental states of the actors. It is likely, therefore, that these observed differences in MPFC activity pre- to post-intervention for the CBT group may reflect a greater tendency to implicitly interpret emotion and gaze depicted in faces. Given that deficits in gaze processing may be linked



to mentalizing impairments in ASD (George & Conty, 2008), our data suggest that increased MPFC activity observed for the CBT group in response to emotional faces may reflect more automatic processing of the thoughts and feelings that are associated with an emotional face following a cognitive-behavioral approach for treating social skills deficits.

Our finding of greater MPFC activation during a passive gaze task following CBT relative to comparison is also consistent with results from a separate neuroimaging paradigm examining the neural correlates of mentalizing or irony comprehension that we empolyed as part of the larger study. During this irony task, children in the CBT group also showed increased MPFC activation following treatment relative to the comparison group (Wang et al., in preparation). The convergence of these findings from the gaze and irony comprehension tasks may highlight the potential of MPFC activity as a biomarker of treatment response. Given the heterogeneity of symptomatology associated with ASD, the identification of neural biomarkers may play an important role in informing treatment.

Ventrolateral prefrontal cortex. An increase in activation in the VLPFC was found in the CBT group following treatment. However, changes in VLPFC activation from baseline to endpoint were not significantly different for the CBT and comparison groups. The VLPFC is implicated in the labeling of negative affect and emotion regulation (Hariri et al., 2000; Hariri, Mattay, Tessitore, Fera, & Weinberger, 2003; Wang et al., 2004) as well as in making evaluative judgements (Cunningham, Johnson, Gatenby, Gore, & Banaji, 2003; Pinkham et al., 2008). Recent evidence suggests that the VLPFC is involved in mental state attribution (Dal Monte et al., 2014) and



hypoactivation of this region has been found in autism during social cognition tasks of biological motion (Kaiser et al., 2010), evaluation of trustworthiness (Pinkham et al., 2008), and gaze processing (Davies et al., 2011). We predicted that following treatment, children in the CBT group would show greater activity in the VLPFC for faces with a direct gaze relative to averted gaze compared to the play group. These predictions were based on prior findings from Davies and colleagues (2011) using the same paradigm of processing gaze in emotional faces, where TD children showed activation of the left VLPFC for emotional faces with direct versus averted gaze while children in the ASD group showed underactivity in this region. Our findings did not support this hypothesis. Alternatively, the lack of changes in differential VLPFC response for direct and averted gaze reflects increases in VLPFC activation for both gaze conditions, which could be due to CBT teaching that both direct and averted gaze give clues as to interpreting mental state.

ACC and Insula

Changes in activity in the ACC and insula were significantly greater for the CBT group relative to the comparison group following treatment when viewing faces with an averted gaze. The ACC and insula have been implicated in the processing of affect from faces (for a meta-analysis, see Fusar-Poli et al., 2009), and there is also evidence that the anterior portion of the insular cortex is involved in the awareness of internal emotional states (Craig, 2009). In a meta-analysis by Di Martino and colleagues (2009), activation of the ACC and insula was reported in studies using social tasks. Neuroimaging studies have shown that atypical activation of the ACC and insula is found in people with ASD when processing facial expressions and gaze direction (Georgescu et al., 2013; Pitskel et



al., 2011; Zurcher, Rogier, et al., 2013), gaze shifts (Dichter & Belger, 2007; Vaidya et al., 2011), and during mentalizing tasks (for a meta-analysis see Di Martino et al., 2009). Together, our findings of increased activation of the ACC and insula for the CBT group may reflect a greater subjective awareness of emotions or the integration of external stimuli (e.g., images of emotional faces) with participants' own internal states (e.g., the comparable subjective feeling elicited in the participant).

Three-Month Follow-up

At the three-month follow-up, changes in activity in 'social brain' networks were not maintained for the seven CBT participants with available fMRI data. This finding is also consistent with behavioral outcomes from the larger clinical sample where no significant changes in composite measures were found at follow-up (Soorya et al., 2015). This could suggest that 12 weeks may not allow adequate time for permanent changes on a behavioral level and a neural systems level. However, given that 11 participants were either excluded for follow-up analyses due to excessive motion or were lost to contact, the statistical power is limited for the maintenance timepoint fMRI analysis due to the small number of participants with available follow-up scans.

Behavioral Moderators of Change in Neural Activity

We examined baseline participant characteristics that are associated with changes in neural activity. There was a significant correlation between age and increased activity in the MPFC and VLPFC following treatment for the CBT group, such that children who were older showed the greatest increase in activity in these social brain regions. These results also complement findings from the larger clinical cohort of this randomized, comparative trial examining the behavioral effects of the CBT treatment, where older age



was marginally associated with greater improvement in social behavior (Soorya et al., 2015). Further, the moderating effect of age on increased MPFC and VLPFC activation may have implications for identifying subgroups of children with ASD for whom a particular treatment approach may be most benefical. Overall, our findings suggest that older chidren may benefit from a didactic, group CBT approach to treating social deficits at both the behavioral and neural levels.

Neural Moderators and Predictors of Treatment Response

We also examined the association between baseline neural activity and gains on measures of social behavior and cognition. Greater activity at baseline in mentalizing regions (MPFC and IFG) and areas implicated in emotion processing (ACC and PCC) was associated with improvements on parent-rated measures of social awareness on the SRS-2. Gains in social awareness for the CBT group was also correlated with greater baseline activity in the temporal tip, implicated in social cognition and mentalizing (Amodio & Frith, 2006; Frith, 2001; Gallagher & Frith, 2003; Schultz et al., 2003). Of particular note, we found that baseline activity in the FG was associated with improvement on measures of social awareness and social cognition following treatment. Specifically, greater baseline activation of the left FG predicted improvement in social awareness across groups. Activation of the right FG moderated gains on the social awareness subscale and social cognition composite for the CBT group only. Together, our findings suggest that children who exhibit a more typical neural response to faces at baseline may be more likely to show improvement following social skills groups, both for cognitive-behavioral and child-directed approaches.



Greater activation of the FG and other social brain regions at baseline could also be an indicator of "neural readiness" for social skills groups. While FG activity is primarily associated with face processing (Kanwisher et al., 1997), particularly in the right hemisphere (Dalton et al., 2005; George et al., 1999; Hooker et al., 2003; Lehmann et al., 2004; Morris, Pelphrey, & McCarthy, 2007; Schultz et al., 2000), some studies have suggested a role of the FG beyond the perception of faces. Activation of the right FG has been implicated in expertise for distinguishing objects (Gauthier & Tarr, 2002; McGugin, Newton, Gore, & Gauthier, 2014) and during mental state attribution tasks (Castelli, Happe, Frith, & Frith, 2000; Schultz et al., 2003). Greater right FG activity has also been shown to correlate with less severe social impairments or autism symptomatology (Scherf, Elbich, Minshew, & Behrmann, 2015). However, these findings should be taken with caution since neither group showed significant increases in social awareness or social cognition following treatment, and therefore the clinical significance is unclear. Although our sample is relatively small, our analysis offers a first step toward identifying potential neural predictors of treatment response for children with ASD—an essential goal of autism research given the heterogeneity of symptoms and the variability in treatment response among children with ASD (Kasari et al., 2014). Elucidating biomarkers of treatment response may also facilitate the characterization of children with ASD to receive a specific intervention approach to promote positive treatment outcomes.

There were no significant correlations with baseline neural activity and improvement on the social behavior composite for the CBT group. The lack of significant findings here may reflect that the domains assessed for the social behavior



composite (i.e., empathy, nonverbal communication, and social relations) are not directly associated with FG activation. Rather, the domains assessed for the social cognition composite overlap more closely with cognitive functions associated with FG activation including emotion and face processing (see reviews by: Kanwisher & Yovel, 2006; Vuilleumier & Pourtois, 2007).

Summary

To our knowledge, this is the first randomized, comparative trial demonstrating that a cognitive-behavioral approach for treating social deficits in children with ASD is associated with changes in neural activity. While few studies have examined the neural outcomes of behavioral interventions for ASD, preliminary findings suggest that social brain networks are sensitive to change following treatment (Ventola et al., 2013). To date, five studies have investigated the neural response to treatment for people with ASD, in which changes in social brain and executive functioning networks were reported following treatment. Four of these studies examined the effects of behavioral intervention and friendship training for young children and adolescents, including the Early Start Denver Model (ESDM; Dawson et al., 2012), Pivotal Response Treatment (Ventola et al., 2015; Voos et al., 2013), and the Program for the Education and Enrichment of Relational Skills (PEERS; Van Hecke et al., 2015). Another study examined computerized cognitive training for emotional processing in adults (Bolte et al., 2015). Together, findings from this study add to the growing body of literature demonstrating the plasticity of neural networks in response to treatment in ASD.



Methodological Considerations

One limitation in this study was the small sample size due to movement in the scanner and attrition. The neuroimaging sample of children with adequate scan data is small (N = 24) compared to the larger behavioral portion of the study (N = 69); the majority of participants were excluded from the final analysis due to inadequate scan data or excessive motion (n = 35), where a nearly equal number of participants were removed from analyses in the CBT group (n = 18) and the play group (n = 17). However, the neuroimaging sample (N = 24) remained equivalent to the larger clinical sample (N = 69) in terms of IQ and symptom severity.

The fMRI apparatus can be daunting for a child with ASD, especially given the prominent sensory sensitivities common to ASD and the plethora of sounds and vibrations that the participant is exposed to during a scan. As part of the study protocol, a mock scanner was available for children to acclimate to the fMRI setting. Mock scanners are similar in shape and size to an actual MRI and offer an opportunity for a simulated experience that includes typical sounds heard during an MRI, a rolling patient table, and a mock head coil. Motion may also be monitored during the mock scan using software such as MoTrak, allowing the researcher or clinician to provide feedback in real-time regarding movement. However, the MoTrak software was not available to our group during this study. In addition, analysis of the motion data following the fMRI scan would have provided an accurate estimate of motion artifacts above a previously set threshold (e.g., below 3 mm/degrees of motion or a ratio of 0.75 of functional runs retained after scrubbing). This would allow for a separate, second scanning session to be offered to the participant or used as exclusion criteria to reduce attrition due to inadequate scanner data.



In terms of attrition, three participants dropped out of the study and eight participants were unable to complete post scans. However, the overall majority of children were able to complete 12 weeks of treatment in addition to pre and post scans. Analyses of the 3-month follow-up data were also hindered by a small sample size, as many families were lost to contact, unable to complete the follow-up scans and/or behavioral report measures. This posed difficulties for ascertaining the maintenance of skills following the intervention.

In terms of generalizability, it is important to replicate these findings to fully understand treatment outcomes and transfer of skills to naturalistic settings such as the school environment and interactions with peers. In addition, the participants in this study were all verbally fluent, which also limits the generalizability of findings given the heterogeneity of symptoms, severity, and executive functioning among people with ASD. There is also a need for studies that examine the behavioral and neural effects of social skills treatments for adolescents and adults with ASD, as most published data on social skills treatments are based on young or school-aged children (Reichow & Volkmar, 2010).

Clinical Implications

Our findings suggest that a CBT approach to social skills groups may result in increased activity in social brain networks shown to be hypoactive in ASD. Deficits in making eye contact and following eye gaze are often a target for interventions that aim to increase the awareness and processing of social cues in the environment of individuals with ASD. While there is variability in treatment approaches, an overall goal is to teach individuals with autism how to interpret salient social stimuli such as facial expression



and eye gaze in order to develop social skills (e.g., understanding one's state of mind). The CBT intervention employed in this study capitalized on applying both "top-down" and "bottom-up" approaches to take advantage of the cognitive strengths and varied learning modalities of individuals with ASD. Top-down approaches provided children with explicit strategies for learning social skills. Bottom-up approaches promoted implicit awareness of social cues and increased motivation through behavioral strategies including breaking down a skill into concrete steps, modeling, rehearsal, and positive reinforcement.

Our findings of significant improvements in social behavior for the CBT group indicate that a cognitive-behavioral approach to treating the core deficits in ASD may promote improvements in social competence. In addition, changes at the neural systems level were found in regions of the social brain for children in the CBT group. Treatments that emphasize the use of both explicit cognitive strategies (e.g., labeling emotions, guided practice, prompting, providing specific performance demands) and behavioral approaches (e.g., reinforcement) may promote the use of more implicit strategies during social situations, such as the ability to automatically derive meaning from gaze and emotional expressions in the absence of prompting. Though this work was limited by relatively small group sizes, it nevertheless contributes to our understanding of the social impairments in ASD and the plasticity of social brain networks in response to a CBI for social deficits.



Future Research

Efficacy of CBT for Treating Core ASD Impairments

We examined the neural and behavioral effects of a CBT-based social skills treatment on core ASD deficits, which addressed common areas of difficulty such as theory of mind. However, the range of symptoms, cognitive abilities, verbal processing skills, and severity among individuals with ASD can make the use of a single treatment modality, such as CBT, difficult. In combination with behavioral interventions, fMRI invites a greater understanding of treatment response without the potential bias and challenges of behavioral testing as well as parent- or self-report measures. Given the heterogeneity of ASD, neuroimaging biomarkers also offer new insights into the development of the next generation of treatments such as a personalized medicine approach. A greater understanding of neural biomarkers of treatment response may curtail many of the challenges in treatment planning for individuals with ASD. Specifically, the use of neuroimaging to inform the treatment approach could aid in identifying those for whom a particular treatment modality may be most optimal. However, more work is needed to identify neural biomarkers of treatment response that would help in determining the appropriate age, dose, and type of therapy to deliver in order to optimize the behavioral and neural development of children with ASD.

A comparative play group was used in this study to account for non-specific treatment effects such as time spent with a therapist and parental expectations of outcomes. Children in the play group did not show any significantly greater changes in activation pre- to post-intervention relative to the CBT group. While our sample size was small, it is possible that a child-directed approach may benefit the learning social skills



for subgroups of children; though, this is beyond the scope of this study. Future research that investigates the use of more play-based approaches for treating social deficits may provide valuable insight into understanding for whom a particular type of therapy approach is most beneficial.

Long-Term Neural and Behavioral Outcomes of Treatment

This study examined the maintenance of changes in behavior and brain activity at a 3-month follow-up, albeit future work is needed to examine long-term outcomes to fully assess the maintenance of skills and neural activity. While social skills interventions show promising outcomes in the treatment of youths with ASD to target core impairments, we have limited data on the long-term effects of children's social skills intervention experiences. In one study, Dekker and colleagues (2014) examined generalization and maintenance of social skills at a 6-month follow-up in a sample of Dutch children with ASD. The longest follow-up periods reported were five years for an early intervention program for children with ASD (Kasari, Gulsrud, Freeman, Paparella, & Hellemann, 2012) and one to five years for a parent-assisted social skills training program for children with ASD (Mandelberg, Frankel, Cunningham, Gorospe, & Laugeson, 2014). While many studies have reported benefits of social skills training for ASD, few have investigated long-term outcomes. Future work that investigates the longterm outcomes of social skills interventions is important for determining the maintenance and generalization of skills (Foxx, 2013), as well as if changes are maintained on a neural level.



Understanding the Active Ingredients of Treatment

A greater understanding is also needed of the active ingredients of behavioral interventions that may be effective in addressing core impairments of ASD. The CBT treatment used in this study employed three modules: nonverbal communication, emotion recognition, and theory of mind training. Because assessments were conducted pre- and post-treatment rather than after each module, it is difficult to determine which components are the most beneficial. In addition, assessments were conducted before and after 12 weeks of treatment, making it challenging to ascertain the neural and behavioral effects of each individual module or identify active ingredients. More work is needed towards teasing apart the active components of a treatment, which would provide a better understanding of who benefits most from which interventions, as well as the neural and behavioral mechanisms for why an intervention may work (Kasari et al., 2014).

Minimally Verbal People with ASD

Our study design focused on neural mechanisms of change in school-aged, verbally fluent children with ASD. However, neuroimaging and electrophysiology studies examining treatment outcomes are sparse for minimally verbal and young children with ASD (Tager-Flusberg & Kasari, 2013), especially given the impact of motion-related effects on decreased signal intensity. In addition, imaging methodology that accommodates the sensory sensitivities common to autism would aid progress towards making neuroimaging more amenable to people with ASD across a wider range of functional abilities. The use of electroencephalography (EEG) and functional nearinfrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) are two techniques that offer temporal information of stimulus processing that are less sensitive to motion effects relative to fMRI. Techniques



such as EEG and fNRIS would also provide a greater understanding of the impact of early intervention on changes in brain activity. Additional research is needed to understand the neural correlates of social cognition and neural mechanisms underlying treatment response in minimally verbal and young children with ASD. Further, EEG and fNIRS may prove to be more beneficial for research with minimally verbal people with ASD where the rigorous procedures of MRI are not feasible due to attention and behavioral concerns.

Functional Connectivity: Understanding Interactions Between Networks

There is compelling evidence from neuroimaging studies that the deficits in social behavior and cognition in ASD may be associated with aberrant activity within as well as between social brain networks. While assessing connectivity or the relationship between social brain regions was beyond the scope of this study, the measurement of functional connectivity provides new insights for understanding the interactions between anatomically separate areas of the brain and how this integration is linked to behavior. It is possible that diminished connectivity between socio-emotional cortical regions may account for a lack of top-down modulation from downstream anterior regions such as the MPFC, which would attach salience to social information. Underconnectivity has been shown between fronto-temporal regions implicated in mentalizing and extrastriate cortex (Castelli et al., 2002; see review by Frith, 2001; Kana et al., 2015; Wicker et al., 2008) as well as between the amygdala and insular cortex (Ebisch et al., 2011). Underconnectivity has also been shown between voice-selective cortical regions in the posterior STS and structures involved in reward including the ventral tegmental areas and nucleus accumbens, and structures involved in emotion processing including the amygdala,



suggesting that weak connectivity may account for a diminished reward value and salience of speech in ASD (Abrams et al., 2013). In a recent study, Kana and colleagues (2015) reported decreased connectivity between the MPFC and the amygdala, temporal lobe, parietal lobe, and fusiform gyrus in adults with ASD during a mentalizing task of emotion judgments using real-life scenarios. Resting state findings from the Autism Brain Imaging Data Exchange (ABIDE) demonstrated a predominance of decreased corticocortical intrinsic functional connectivity, particularly for the temporal lobe, while hyperconnectivity was found primarily in subcortical regions including the thalamus and globus pallidus (Di Martino et al., 2014). There is also a growing body of evidence that hyperconnectivity within a number of different functional networks may be associated with social impairments in ASD (Di Martino et al., 2014; Uddin et al., 2013), as well as the variability of hypo- and hyperconnectivity within and between networks across the lifespan of children and adults with ASD (Nomi & Uddin, 2015a).

Imaging Genetics: Understanding Changes in Epigenetics in Response to Treatment

While integrating genetics was beyond the scope of this study, future clinical trials examining external or environmental factors that affect gene regulation, referred to as epigenetics, may prove useful in predicting treatment response and understanding changes in brain activity. Oxytocin, a neuropeptide that is dependent upon the expression of its receptor gene (OXTR), is involved in social behavior and has received much attention as a potential treatment for autism (Young & Barrett, 2015). Methylation of genes (addition of methyl or CH3 groups) serves to turn on or off gene expression, which can also be influenced by experience and environmental factors. Neuroimaging studies have reported associations between OXTR methylation as well as plasma oxytocin levels


and activation of regions implicated in social cognition and emotion regulation during social perception paradigms of biological motion (Jack, Connelly, & Morris, 2012; Lancaster et al., 2015) and emotional expressions (Puglia, Lillard, Morris, & Connelly, 2015). Given that the effectiveness of behavioral interventions targeting social information processing may also be modulated by OXTR methylation, future work investigating the association between plasma oxytocin levels or OXTR methylation patterns with changes in brain activity would provide a better understanding of the etiology of ASD, identification of biomarkers of treatment response, and changes in neural activation following intervention.

Concluding Remarks

Neuroimaging provides a noninvasive method of understanding the developmental pathology of ASD and neural correlates of social cognition. Deficits in social perception in ASD, such as mentalizing and the processing of eye gaze, may be due to aberrant activity in 'social brain' regions. The current study demonstrates the neural effects of a cognitive-behavioral treatment for social skills deficits on the plasticity of networks involved in social cognition in verbally fluent children with ASD. This study contributes to our understanding of the neural correlates of social deficits associated with ASD, biomarkers of treatment response, and the neural processes underlying response to treatment in networks crucial for social cognition.

In terms of clinical implications, social skills interventions combining cognitive and behavioral techniques may improve social competence for children with ASD. Given the paucity of data identifying biomarkers of treatment response in ASD, this study provides evidence for the MPFC as a potential neural biomarker of treatment response for



social skills training. With the heterogeneity of ASD symptomatology, however, a greater understanding of neural biomarkers could set the stage for the development of a personalized medicine approach. Future studies integrating an interdisciplinary approach of neuroscience and behavioral interventions could provide insights for next generation therapies. Particularly, treatments that are specific to the individual and target change at the behavioral and neural levels in a noninvasive and non-pharmacological manner.



References

- Abrahams, B. S., & Geschwind, D. H. (2008). Advances in autism genetics: on the threshold of a new neurobiology. *Nature reviews. Genetics*, *9*(5), 341-355. doi:10.1038/nrg2346
- Abrams, D. A., Lynch, C. J., Cheng, K. M., Phillips, J., Supekar, K., Ryali, S., . . . Menon, V. (2013). Underconnectivity between voice-selective cortex and reward circuitry in children with autism. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(29), 12060-12065. doi:10.1073/pnas.1302982110
- Adams, R. B., Jr., Gordon, H. L., Baird, A. A., Ambady, N., & Kleck, R. E. (2003). Effects of gaze on amygdala sensitivity to anger and fear faces. *Science*, 300(5625), 1536. doi:10.1126/science.1082244
- Adolphs, R. (2010). What does the amygdala contribute to social cognition? Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1191(1), 42-61.
- Adrien, J. L., Faure, M., Perrot, A., Hameury, L., Garreau, B., Barthelemy, C., & Sauvage, D. (1991). Autism and family home movies: preliminary findings. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 21(1), 43-49.
- Adrien, J. L., Lenoir, P., Martineau, J., Perrot, A., Hameury, L., Larmande, C., & Sauvage, D. (1993). Blind ratings of early symptoms of autism based upon family home movies. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 32(3), 617-626. doi:10.1097/00004583-199305000-00019
- Akechi, H., Senju, A., Kikuchi, Y., Tojo, Y., Osanai, H., & Hasegawa, T. (2009). Does gaze direction modulate facial expression processing in children with autism spectrum disorder? *Child Development*, 80(4), 1134-1146. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01321.x
- Akiyama, T., Kato, M., Muramatsu, T., Saito, F., Nakachi, R., & Kashima, H. (2006). A deficit in discriminating gaze direction in a case with right superior temporal gyrus lesion. *Neuropsychologia*, 44(2), 161-170. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2005.05.018
- Akiyama, T., Kato, M., Muramatsu, T., Saito, F., Umeda, S., & Kashima, H. (2006).
 Gaze but not arrows: a dissociative impairment after right superior temporal gyrus damage. *Neuropsychologia*, 44(10), 1804-1810.
 doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2006.03.007
- Allison, T., Puce, A., & McCarthy, G. (2000). Social perception from visual cues: role of the STS region. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 4(7), 267-278.

American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). Washington, DC: Author.



- Amodio, D. M., & Frith, C. D. (2006). Meeting of minds: the medial frontal cortex and social cognition. *Nature Reviews: Neuroscience*, 7(4), 268-277. doi:10.1038/nrn1884
- Annaz, D., Campbell, R., Coleman, M., Milne, E., & Swettenham, J. (2012). Young children with autism spectrum disorder do not preferentially attend to biological motion. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 42(3), 401-408. doi:10.1007/s10803-011-1256-3
- Anstis, S. M., Mayhew, J. W., & Morley, T. (1969). The perception of where a face or television'portrait'is looking. *The American journal of psychology*, 474-489.
- Baghdadli, A., Brisot, J., Henry, V., Michelon, C., Soussana, M., Rattaz, C., & Picot, M. C. (2013). Social skills improvement in children with high-functioning autism: a pilot randomized controlled trial. *European Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 22(7), 433-442. doi:10.1007/s00787-013-0388-8
- Baranek, G. T. (1999). Autism during infancy: a retrospective video analysis of sensorymotor and social behaviors at 9-12 months of age. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 29(3), 213-224.
- Baron-Cohen, Campbell, R., Karmiloff-Smith, A., & Grant, J. (1995). Are children with autism blind to the mentalistic significance of the eyes? *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, *13*(4), 379-398.
- Baron-Cohen, Ring, H. A., Wheelwright, S., Bullmore, E. T., Brammer, M. J., Simmons, A., & Williams, S. C. (1999a). Social intelligence in the normal and autistic brain: an fMRI study. *Eur J Neurosci*, 11(6), 1891-1898.
- Baron-Cohen, S., Jolliffe, T., Mortimore, C., & Robertson, M. (1997). Another advanced test of theory of mind: evidence from very high functioning adults with autism or asperger syndrome. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines, 38*(7), 813-822.
- Baron-Cohen, S., Leslie, A., & Frith, U. (1985). Does the autistic child have a "theory of mind"? Cognition, 21(1), 37-46.
- Baron-Cohen, S., Ring, H., Wheelwright, S., Bullmore, E., Brammer, M., Simmons, A., & Williams, S. (1999b). Social intelligence in the normal and autistic brain: an fMRI study. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 11(6), 1891-1898.
- Baron-Cohen, S., Wheelwright, S., Hill, J., Raste, Y., & Plumb, I. (2001a). The "Reading the Mind in the Eyes" Test revised version: a study with normal adults, and adults with Asperger syndrome or high-functioning autism. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines, 42*(2), 241-251.
- Baron-Cohen, S., Wheelwright, S., Hill, J., Raste, Y., & Plumb, I. (2001b). The "Reading the Mind in the Eyes" Test revised version: a study with normal adults, and adults



with Asperger syndrome or high-functioning autism. *Journal of Child Psychology* & *Psychiatry*, 42(2), 241-251.

- Batki, A., Baron-Cohen, S., Wheelwright, S., Connellan, J., & Ahluwalia, J. (2000). Is there an innate gaze module? Evidence from human neonates. *Infant Behavior* and Development, 23(2), 223-229.
- Bauminger, N. (2002). The facilitation of social-emotional understanding and social interaction in high-functioning children with autism: intervention outcomes. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *32*(4), 283-298.
- Bauminger, N. (2007). Brief report: Group social-multimodal intervention for HFASD. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 37(8), 1605-1615.
- Baxter, A., Brugha, T., Erskine, H., Scheurer, R., Vos, T., & Scott, J. (2015). The epidemiology and global burden of autism spectrum disorders. *Psychological Medicine*, 45(03), 601-613.
- Beck, J. S. (2011). Cognitive behavior therapy: Basics and beyond: Guilford Press.
- Bellini, S., & Peters, J. K. (2008). Social skills training for youth with autism spectrum disorders. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 17(4), 857-873, x. doi:10.1016/j.chc.2008.06.008
- Bhat, A. N., Galloway, J. C., & Landa, R. J. (2012). Relation between early motor delay and later communication delay in infants at risk for autism. *Infant Behavior & Development*, 35(4), 838-846. doi:10.1016/j.infbeh.2012.07.019
- Bishop, D. (2003). *Children's Communication Checklist, Version 2 (CCC-2)*. London: Psychological Corporation.
- Bolte, S., Ciaramidaro, A., Schlitt, S., Hainz, D., Kliemann, D., Beyer, A., ... Walter, H. (2015). Training-induced plasticity of the social brain in autism spectrum disorder. *British Journal of Psychiatry*. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.113.143784
- Bookheimer, S. Y., Wang, A. T., Scott, A., Sigman, M., & Dapretto, M. (2008). Frontal contributions to face processing differences in autism: evidence from fMRI of inverted face processing. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 14(6), 922-932. doi:10.1017/s135561770808140x
- Bowler, D. M. (1992). "Theory of mind" in Asperger's syndrome. *Journal of Child Psychology & Psychiatry*, 33(5), 877-893.
- Boyarskaya, E., Sebastian, A., Bauermann, T., Hecht, H., & Tuscher, O. (2015). The Mona Lisa effect: neural correlates of centered and off-centered gaze. *Human Brain Mapping*, *36*(2), 619-632. doi:10.1002/hbm.22651



- Brent, E., Rios, P., Happe, F., & Charman, T. (2004). Performance of children with autism spectrum disorder on advanced theory of mind tasks. *Autism*, 8(3), 283-299.
- Brent, E., Rios, P., Happé, F., & Charman, T. (2004). Performance of children with autism spectrum disorder on advanced theory of mind tasks. *Autism*, 8(3), 283-299.
- Bristow, D., Rees, G., & Frith, C. D. (2007). Social interaction modifies neural response to gaze shifts. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 2(1), 52-61. doi:10.1093/scan/nsl036
- Broekhof, E., Ketelaar, L., Stockmann, L., van Zijp, A., Bos, M. G., & Rieffe, C. (2015). The Understanding of Intentions, Desires and Beliefs in Young Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*. doi:10.1007/s10803-015-2363-3
- Calder, A. J., Lawrence, A. D., Keane, J., Scott, S. K., Owen, A. M., Christoffels, I., & Young, A. W. (2002). Reading the mind from eye gaze. *Neuropsychologia*, 40(8), 1129-1138.
- Campbell, R., Heywood, C. A., Cowey, A., Regard, M., & Landis, T. (1990). Sensitivity to eye gaze in prosopagnosic patients and monkeys with superior temporal sulcus ablation. *Neuropsychologia*, 28(11), 1123-1142.
- Cappadocia, M. C., & Weiss, J. A. (2011). Review of social skills training groups for youth with Asperger syndrome and high functioning autism. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, *5*(1), 70-78.
- Carlin, J. D., Calder, A. J., Kriegeskorte, N., Nili, H., & Rowe, J. B. (2011). A head view-invariant representation of gaze direction in anterior superior temporal sulcus. *Current Biology*, 21(21), 1817-1821. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2011.09.025
- Cassel, T. D., Messinger, D. S., Ibanez, L. V., Haltigan, J. D., Acosta, S. I., & Buchman, A. C. (2007). Early social and emotional communication in the infant siblings of children with autism spectrum disorders: an examination of the broad phenotype. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 37(1), 122-132. doi:10.1007/s10803-006-0337-1
- Castelli, F., Frith, C., Happe, F., & Frith, U. (2002). Autism, Asperger syndrome and brain mechanisms for the attribution of mental states to animated shapes. *Brain*, *125*(Pt 8), 1839-1849.
- Castelli, F., Happe, F., Frith, U., & Frith, C. (2000). Movement and mind: a functional imaging study of perception and interpretation of complex intentional movement patterns. *Neuroimage*, *12*(3), 314-325.



- CDC. (2012). Prevalence of autism spectrum disorders--Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network, 14 sites, United States, 2008. *MMWR: Surveillance Summaries, 61*(3), 1-19.
- CDC. (2014). Prevalence of autism spectrum disorder among children aged 8 years autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 11 sites, United States, 2010. *MMWR: Surveillance Summaries, 63*(2), 1-21.
- Chakrabarti, S., & Fombonne, E. (2001). Pervasive developmental disorders in preschool children. *JAMA*, 285(24), 3093-3099.
- Constantino, J. N. (2005). Social Responsiveness Scale (SRS). Los Angeles: Western Psychological Services.
- Conty, L., N'Diaye, K., Tijus, C., & George, N. (2007). When eye creates the contact! ERP evidence for early dissociation between direct and averted gaze motion processing. *Neuropsychologia*, 45(13), 3024-3037. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2007.05.017
- Corbett, B. A., Carmean, V., Ravizza, S., Wendelken, C., Henry, M. L., Carter, C., & Rivera, S. M. (2009). A functional and structural study of emotion and face processing in children with autism. *Psychiatry Research*, 173(3), 196-205. doi:10.1016/j.pscychresns.2008.08.005
- Cotugno, A. J. (2009). Social competence and social skills training and intervention for children with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 39(9), 1268-1277.
- Craig, A. D. (2009). How do you feel--now? The anterior insula and human awareness. *Nature Reviews: Neuroscience, 10*(1), 59-70. doi:10.1038/nrn2555
- Critchley, H., Daly, E. M., Bullmore, E. T., Williams, S. C., Van Amelsvoort, T., Robertson, D. M., . . . Murphy, D. G. (2000). The functional neuroanatomy of social behaviour: changes in cerebral blood flow when people with autistic disorder process facial expressions. *Brain*, 123(Pt 11), 2203-2212.
- Crooke, P. J., Hendrix, R. E., & Rachman, J. Y. (2008). Brief Report: measuring the effectiveness of teaching social thinking to children with Asperger syndrome (AS) and High Functioning Autism (HFA). *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 38(3), 581-591. doi:10.1007/s10803-007-0466-1
- Csibra, G., & Gergely, G. (2006). Social learning and social cognition: The case for pedagogy. *Processes of change in brain and cognitive development. Attention and performance XXI*, 249-274.
- Cunningham, W. A., Johnson, M. K., Gatenby, J. C., Gore, J. C., & Banaji, M. R. (2003). Neural components of social evaluation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 85(4), 639.



- Dadds, M. R., Hunter, K., Hawes, D. J., Frost, A. D., Vassallo, S., Bunn, P., . . . Masry, Y. E. (2008). A measure of cognitive and affective empathy in children using parent ratings. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, 39(2), 111-122. doi:10.1007/s10578-007-0075-4
- Dahlgren, S. O., & Gillberg, C. (1989). Symptoms in the first two years of life. A preliminary population study of infantile autism. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Neurological Sciences*, 238(3), 169-174.
- Dal Monte, O., Schintu, S., Pardini, M., Berti, A., Wassermann, E. M., Grafman, J., & Krueger, F. (2014). The left inferior frontal gyrus is crucial for reading the mind in the eyes: brain lesion evidence. *Cortex*, 58, 9-17. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2014.05.002
- Dale, A. M. (1999). Optimal experimental design for event-related fMRI. Human Brain Mapping, 8(2-3), 109-114.
- Dalton, K. M., Nacewicz, B. M., Johnstone, T., Schaefer, H. S., Gernsbacher, M. A., Goldsmith, H. H., . . . Davidson, R. J. (2005). Gaze fixation and the neural circuitry of face processing in autism. *Nature Neuroscience*, *8*(4), 519-526.
- Davies, M. S., Dapretto, M., Sigman, M., Sepeta, L., & Bookheimer, S. Y. (2011). Neural bases of gaze and emotion processing in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Brain Behav*, 1(1), 1-11. doi:10.1002/brb3.6
- Davis, M., & Whalen, P. J. (2001). The amygdala: vigilance and emotion. *Molecular Psychiatry*, *6*(1), 13-34.
- Dawson, G., & Burner, K. (2011). Behavioral interventions in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder: a review of recent findings. *Current Opinion in Pediatrics*, 23(6), 616-620. doi:10.1097/MOP.0b013e32834cf082
- Dawson, G., Jones, E. J., Merkle, K., Venema, K., Lowy, R., Faja, S., . . . Webb, S. J. (2012). Early behavioral intervention is associated with normalized brain activity in young children with autism. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 51(11), 1150-1159. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2012.08.018
- Dawson, G., Toth, K., Abbott, R., Osterling, J., Munson, J., Estes, A., & Liaw, J. (2004). Early social attention impairments in autism: social orienting, joint attention, and attention to distress. *Developmental Psychology*, 40(2), 271-283. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.40.2.271
- De Renzi, E., Faglioni, P., Grossi, D., & Nichelli, P. (1991). Apperceptive and associative forms of prosopagnosia. *Cortex*, 27(2), 213-221.
- Dekker, V., Nauta, M. H., Mulder, E. J., Timmerman, M. E., & de Bildt, A. (2014). A randomized controlled study of a social skills training for preadolescent children



with autism spectrum disorders: generalization of skills by training parents and teachers? *BMC Psychiatry*, *14*, 189. doi:10.1186/1471-244x-14-189

- DeRosier, M. E., Swick, D. C., Davis, N. O., McMillen, J. S., & Matthews, R. (2011). The efficacy of a Social Skills Group Intervention for improving social behaviors in children with High Functioning Autism Spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism* and Developmental Disorders, 41(8), 1033-1043. doi:10.1007/s10803-010-1128-2
- Di Martino, A., Ross, K., Uddin, L. Q., Sklar, A. B., Castellanos, F. X., & Milham, M. P. (2009). Functional brain correlates of social and nonsocial processes in autism spectrum disorders: an activation likelihood estimation meta-analysis. *Biological Psychiatry*, 65(1), 63-74. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.09.022
- Di Martino, A., Yan, C. G., Li, Q., Denio, E., Castellanos, F. X., Alaerts, K., ... Milham, M. P. (2014). The autism brain imaging data exchange: towards a large-scale evaluation of the intrinsic brain architecture in autism. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 19(6), 659-667. doi:10.1038/mp.2013.78
- Dichter, G. S. (2012). Functional magnetic resonance imaging of autism spectrum disorders. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 14(3), 319-351.
- Dichter, G. S., & Belger, A. (2007). Social stimuli interfere with cognitive control in autism. *Neuroimage*, 35(3), 1219-1230. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.12.038
- Doo, S., & Wing, Y. K. (2006). Sleep problems of children with pervasive developmental disorders: correlation with parental stress. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology*, 48(8), 650-655. doi:10.1017/s001216220600137x
- Duchaine, B., Jenkins, R., Germine, L., & Calder, A. J. (2009). Normal gaze discrimination and adaptation in seven prosopagnosics. *Neuropsychologia*, 47(10), 2029-2036. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2009.03.011
- Eacott, M. J., Heywood, C. A., Gross, C. G., & Cowey, A. (1993). Visual discrimination impairments following lesions of the superior temporal sulcus are not specific for facial stimuli. *Neuropsychologia*, *31*(6), 609-619.
- Ebisch, S. J., Gallese, V., Willems, R. M., Mantini, D., Groen, W. B., Romani, G. L., ... Bekkering, H. (2011). Altered intrinsic functional connectivity of anterior and posterior insula regions in high-functioning participants with autism spectrum disorder. *Human Brain Mapping*, 32(7), 1013-1028. doi:10.1002/hbm.21085
- Elliott, S. J., & Fitzsimons, L. (2014). Modified CBT for treatment of OCD in a 7-yearold boy with ASD--a case report. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Nursing*, 27(3), 156-159. doi:10.1111/jcap.12081



- Elsabbagh, M., Divan, G., Koh, Y. J., Kim, Y. S., Kauchali, S., Marcin, C., . . . Fombonne, E. (2012). Global prevalence of autism and other pervasive developmental disorders. *Autism Research*, 5(3), 160-179. doi:10.1002/aur.239
- Emery, N. J. (2000). The eyes have it: the neuroethology, function and evolution of social gaze. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, *24*(6), 581-604.
- Engell, A. D., & Haxby, J. V. (2007). Facial expression and gaze-direction in human superior temporal sulcus. *Neuropsychologia*, 45(14), 3234-3241. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2007.06.022
- Engell, A. D., Nummenmaa, L., Oosterhof, N. N., Henson, R. N., Haxby, J. V., & Calder, A. J. (2010). Differential activation of frontoparietal attention networks by social and symbolic spatial cues. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 5(4), 432-440. doi:10.1093/scan/nsq008
- Farmer, C., Butter, E., Mazurek, M. O., Cowan, C., Lainhart, J., Cook, E. H., . . . Aman, M. (2015). Aggression in children with autism spectrum disorders and a clinicreferred comparison group. *Autism*, 19(3), 281-291. doi:10.1177/1362361313518995
- Farroni, T., Csibra, G., Simion, F., & Johnson, M. H. (2002). Eye contact detection in humans from birth. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 99(14), 9602-9605. doi:10.1073/pnas.152159999
- Farroni, T., Johnson, M. H., & Csibra, G. (2004). Mechanisms of eye gaze perception during infancy. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 16(8), 1320-1326.
- Farroni, T., Massaccesi, S., Menon, E., & Johnson, M. H. (2007). Direct gaze modulates face recognition in young infants. *Cognition*, 102(3), 396-404. doi:10.1016/j.cognition.2006.01.007
- Fitzgerald, D. A., Angstadt, M., Jelsone, L. M., Nathan, P. J., & Phan, K. L. (2006). Beyond threat: amygdala reactivity across multiple expressions of facial affect. *Neuroimage*, 30(4), 1441-1448.
- Fletcher-Watson, S., McConnell, F., Manola, E., & McConachie, H. (2014). Interventions based on the Theory of Mind cognitive model for autism spectrum disorder (ASD). *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*(3), CD008785. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD008785.pub2
- Fombonne, E. (2005). Epidemiology of autistic disorder and other pervasive developmental disorders. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, 66 Suppl 10*, 3-8.
- Forman, S. D., Cohen, J. D., Fitzgerald, M., Eddy, W. F., Mintun, M. A., & Noll, D. C. (1995). Improved assessment of significant activation in functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI): use of a cluster-size threshold. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine*, 33(5), 636-647.



- Foxx, R. M. (2013). The maintenance of behavioral change: the case for long-term follow-ups. *American Psychologist*, 68(8), 728-736. doi:10.1037/a0033713
- Frazier, T. W., Youngstrom, E. A., Speer, L., Embacher, R., Law, P., Constantino, J., ... Eng, C. (2012). Validation of proposed DSM-5 criteria for autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 51(1), 28-40 e23. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2011.09.021
- Frith, C., & Frith, U. (1999). Interacting minds--a biological basis. *Science*, 286(5445), 1692-1695.
- Frith, C., & Frith, U. (2012). Mechanisms of social cognition. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 63, 287-313. doi:10.1146/annurev-psych-120710-100449
- Frith, C. D., & Frith, U. (2006). The neural basis of mentalizing. *Neuron*, 50(4), 531-534. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2006.05.001
- Frith, U. (2001). Mind blindness and the brain in autism. *Neuron*, 32(6), 969-979.
- Frith, U. (2004). Emanuel Miller lecture: confusions and controversies about Asperger syndrome. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, 45(4), 672-686. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00262.x
- Fusar-Poli, P., Placentino, A., Carletti, F., Landi, P., Allen, P., Surguladze, S., . . . Politi, P. (2009). Functional atlas of emotional faces processing: a voxel-based metaanalysis of 105 functional magnetic resonance imaging studies. *Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience*, 34(6), 418-432.
- Gallagher, H. L., & Frith, C. D. (2003). Functional imaging of 'theory of mind'. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 7(2), 77-83.
- Gauthier, I., & Tarr, M. J. (2002). Unraveling mechanisms for expert object recognition: bridging brain activity and behavior. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance, 28*(2), 431-446.
- George, N., & Conty, L. (2008). Facing the gaze of others. *Neurophysiologie Clinique*, 38(3), 197-207. doi:10.1016/j.neucli.2008.03.001
- George, N., Dolan, R. J., Fink, G. R., Baylis, G. C., Russell, C., & Driver, J. (1999). Contrast polarity and face recognition in the human fusiform gyrus. *Nature Neuroscience*, 2(6), 574-580. doi:10.1038/9230
- George, N., Driver, J., & Dolan, R. J. (2001). Seen gaze-direction modulates fusiform activity and its coupling with other brain areas during face processing. *Neuroimage, 13*(6 Pt 1), 1102-1112. doi:10.1006/nimg.2001.0769
- Georgescu, A. L., Kuzmanovic, B., Schilbach, L., Tepest, R., Kulbida, R., Bente, G., & Vogeley, K. (2013). Neural correlates of "social gaze" processing in high-



functioning autism under systematic variation of gaze duration. *Neuroimage Clin, 3*, 340-351. doi:10.1016/j.nicl.2013.08.014

- Greene, D. J., Colich, N., Iacoboni, M., Zaidel, E., Bookheimer, S. Y., & Dapretto, M. (2011). Atypical neural networks for social orienting in autism spectrum disorders. *Neuroimage*, 56(1), 354-362. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.02.031
- Grelotti, D. J., Gauthier, I., & Schultz, R. T. (2002). Social interest and the development of cortical face specialization: what autism teaches us about face processing. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 40(3), 213-225.
- Grossmann, T., Johnson, M. H., Lloyd-Fox, S., Blasi, A., Deligianni, F., Elwell, C., & Csibra, G. (2008). Early cortical specialization for face-to-face communication in human infants. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences*, 275(1653), 2803-2811.
- Gustein, S., & Sheely, R. (2002). Relationship development intervention with children, adolescents and adults. *London: Jessica Kingsley*.
- Hadjikhani, N., Joseph, R. M., Snyder, J., Chabris, C. F., Clark, J., Steele, S., ... Tager-Flusberg, H. (2004). Activation of the fusiform gyrus when individuals with autism spectrum disorder view faces. *Neuroimage*, 22(3), 1141-1150.
- Hadjikhani, N., Joseph, R. M., Snyder, J., & Tager-Flusberg, H. (2007). Abnormal activation of the social brain during face perception in autism. *Human Brain Mapping*, 28(5), 441-449. doi:10.1002/hbm.20283
- Happe, Ehlers, S., Fletcher, P., Frith, U., Johansson, M., Gillberg, C., . . . Frith, C. (1996).
 'Theory of mind' in the brain. Evidence from a PET scan study of Asperger syndrome. *Neuroreport: An International Journal for the Rapid Communication of Research in Neuroscience*, 8(1), 197-201.
- Happe, F. G. E. (1993). Communicative competence and theory of mind in autism: A test of relevance theory. *Cognition*, 48(2), 101-119.
- Hariri, A. R., Bookheimer, S. Y., & Mazziotta, J. C. (2000). Modulating emotional responses: effects of a neocortical network on the limbic system. *Neuroreport*, *11*(1), 43-48.
- Hariri, A. R., Mattay, V. S., Tessitore, A., Fera, F., & Weinberger, D. R. (2003). Neocortical modulation of the amygdala response to fearful stimuli. *Biological Psychiatry*, 53(6), 494-501.
- Hart, K. J., & Morgan, J. R. (1993). Cognitive behavioral therapy with children: historical context and current status. In A. J. Finch, W. M. Nelson, & E. S. Ott (Eds.), *Cognitive behavior procedures with children and adolescents: a practical guide*. Boston: Allyn Bacon.



- Hartley, S. L., Sikora, D. M., & McCoy, R. (2008). Prevalence and risk factors of maladaptive behaviour in young children with Autistic Disorder. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 52(10), 819-829. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2788.2008.01065.x
- Haxby, J. V., Hoffman, E. A., & Gobbini, M. I. (2000). The distributed human neural system for face perception. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 4(6), 223-233.
- Hietanen, J. K., Nummenmaa, L., Nyman, M. J., Parkkola, R., & Hamalainen, H. (2006). Automatic attention orienting by social and symbolic cues activates different neural networks: an fMRI study. *Neuroimage*, 33(1), 406-413. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.06.048
- Hobson, R. P., Ouston, J., & Lee, A. (1989). Naming emotion in faces and voices: Abilities and disabilities in autism and mental retardation. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 7(3), 237-250.
- Hoehl, S., Reid, V. M., Parise, E., Handl, A., Palumbo, L., & Striano, T. (2009). Looking at eye gaze processing and its neural correlates in infancy-implications for social development and autism spectrum disorder. *Child Development*, 80(4), 968-985. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01311.x
- Hoffman, E. A., & Haxby, J. V. (2000). Distinct representations of eye gaze and identity in the distributed human neural system for face perception. *Nature Neuroscience*, 3(1), 80-84.
- Hooker, C. I., Paller, K. A., Gitelman, D. R., Parrish, T. B., Mesulam, M. M., & Reber, P. J. (2003). Brain networks for analyzing eye gaze. *Brain Research: Cognitive Brain Research*, 17(2), 406-418.
- Itier, R. J., & Batty, M. (2009). Neural bases of eye and gaze processing: the core of social cognition. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 33(6), 843-863. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.02.004
- Iverson, J. M., & Wozniak, R. H. (2007). Variation in vocal-motor development in infant siblings of children with autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 37(1), 158-170. doi:10.1007/s10803-006-0339-z
- Jack, A., Connelly, J. J., & Morris, J. P. (2012). DNA methylation of the oxytocin receptor gene predicts neural response to ambiguous social stimuli. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 6, 280. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2012.00280
- James, A. C., James, G., Cowdrey, F. A., Soler, A., & Choke, A. (2015). Cognitive behavioural therapy for anxiety disorders in children and adolescents. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*(2), CD004690. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD004690.pub4



- Jensen, P. S., Weersing, R., Hoagwood, K. E., & Goldman, E. (2005). What is the evidence for evidence-based treatments? A hard look at our soft underbelly. *Ment Health Serv Res*, 7(1), 53-74.
- Jessen, S., & Grossmann, T. (2015). Neural signatures of conscious and unconscious emotional face processing in human infants. *Cortex*, 64, 260-270. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2014.11.007
- Jonas, J., Rossion, B., Brissart, H., Frismand, S., Jacques, C., Hossu, G., ... Maillard, L. (2015). Beyond the core face-processing network: Intracerebral stimulation of a face-selective area in the right anterior fusiform gyrus elicits transient prosopagnosia. *Cortex*, 72, 140-155. doi:10.1016/j.cortex.2015.05.026
- Jones, W., Carr, K., & Klin, A. (2008). Absence of preferential looking to the eyes of approaching adults predicts level of social disability in 2-year-old toddlers with autism spectrum disorder. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 65(8), 946-954. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.65.8.946
- Jones, W., & Klin, A. (2013). Attention to eyes is present but in decline in 2-6-month-old infants later diagnosed with autism. *Nature*, *504*(7480), 427-431. doi:10.1038/nature12715
- Jorde, L. B., Hasstedt, S. J., Ritvo, E. R., Mason-Brothers, A., Freeman, B. J., Pingree, C., . . . Mo, A. (1991). Complex segregation analysis of autism. *American Journal* of Human Genetics, 49(5), 932-938.
- Kaiser, M. D., Hudac, C. M., Shultz, S., Lee, S. M., Cheung, C., Berken, A. M., ... Pelphrey, K. A. (2010). Neural signatures of autism. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107(49), 21223-21228. doi:10.1073/pnas.1010412107
- Kampe, K. K., Frith, C. D., & Frith, U. (2003). "Hey John": signals conveying communicative intention toward the self activate brain regions associated with "mentalizing," regardless of modality. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(12), 5258-5263.
- Kana, R. K., Keller, T. A., Cherkassky, V. L., Minshew, N. J., & Just, M. A. (2009). Atypical frontal-posterior synchronization of Theory of Mind regions in autism during mental state attribution. *Social Neuroscience*, 4(2), 135-152. doi:10.1080/17470910802198510
- Kana, R. K., Patriquin, M. A., Black, B. S., Channell, M. M., & Wicker, B. (2015). Altered Medial Frontal and Superior Temporal Response to Implicit Processing of Emotions in Autism. *Autism Research*. doi:10.1002/aur.1496

Kanner, L. (1943). Autistic disturbances of affective contact. Nervous Child, 2, 217-250.



- Kanwisher, N., McDermott, J., & Chun, M. M. (1997). The fusiform face area: a module in human extrastriate cortex specialized for face perception. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 17(11), 4302-4311.
- Kanwisher, N., & Yovel, G. (2006). The fusiform face area: a cortical region specialized for the perception of faces. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences, 361*(1476), 2109-2128. doi:10.1098/rstb.2006.1934
- Kasari, C., Gulsrud, A., Freeman, S., Paparella, T., & Hellemann, G. (2012).
 Longitudinal follow-up of children with autism receiving targeted interventions on joint attention and play. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 51(5), 487-495. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2012.02.019
- Kasari, C., Shire, S., Factor, R., & McCracken, C. (2014). Psychosocial treatments for individuals with autism spectrum disorder across the lifespan: new developments and underlying mechanisms. *Curr Psychiatry Rep, 16*(11), 512. doi:10.1007/s11920-014-0512-6
- Kato, C., Matsuo, K., Matsuzawa, M., Moriya, T., Glover, G. H., & Nakai, T. (2001). Activation during endogenous orienting of visual attention using symbolic pointers in the human parietal and frontal cortices: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Neuroscience Letters*, 314(1-2), 5-8.
- Kawashima, R., Sugiura, M., Kato, T., Nakamura, A., Hatano, K., Ito, K., . . . Nakamura, K. (1999). The human amygdala plays an important role in gaze monitoring. A PET study. *Brain*, 122(Pt 4), 779-783.
- Kendall, P. C. (2006). Guiding theory for therapy with children and adolescents. In P. C. Kendall (Ed.), *Child and Adolescent Therapy: Cognitive-Behavioral Procedures* (3 ed., pp. 3-30). New York: Guilford.
- Kennedy, D. P., & Courchesne, E. (2008). Functional abnormalities of the default network during self- and other-reflection in autism. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 3(2), 177-190. doi:10.1093/scan/nsn011
- Kerr, S., & Durkin, K. (2004). Understanding of thought bubbles as mental representations in children with autism: implications for theory of mind. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *34*(6), 637-648.
- Kim, H., Somerville, L. H., Johnstone, T., Polis, S., Alexander, A. L., Shin, L. M., & Whalen, P. J. (2004). Contextual modulation of amygdala responsivity to surprised faces. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 16(10), 1730-1745. doi:10.1162/0898929042947865
- Kleinke, C. L. (1986). Gaze and eye contact: a research review. *Psychological Bulletin*, *100*(1), 78-100.



103

- Kliemann, D., Dziobek, I., Hatri, A., Baudewig, J., & Heekeren, H. R. (2012). The role of the amygdala in atypical gaze on emotional faces in autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *32*(28), 9469-9476. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.5294-11.2012
- Kliemann, D., Dziobek, I., Hatri, A., Steimke, R., & Heekeren, H. R. (2010). Atypical reflexive gaze patterns on emotional faces in autism spectrum disorders. *Journal* of Neuroscience, 30(37), 12281-12287. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.0688-10.2010
- Klin, A., Jones, W., Schultz, R., Volkmar, F., & Cohen, D. (2002). Visual fixation patterns during viewing of naturalistic social situations as predictors of social competence in individuals with autism. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *59*(9), 809-816.
- Klin, A., Lin, D. J., Gorrindo, P., Ramsay, G., & Jones, W. (2009). Two-year-olds with autism orient to non-social contingencies rather than biological motion. *Nature*, 459(7244), 257-261. doi:10.1038/nature07868
- Klin, A., Shultz, S., & Jones, W. (2015). Social visual engagement in infants and toddlers with autism: early developmental transitions and a model of pathogenesis. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 50, 189-203. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.10.006
- Koning, C., Magill-Evans, J., Volden, J., & Dick, B. (2013). Efficacy of cognitive behavior therapy-based social skills intervention for school-aged boys with autism spectrum disorders. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 7(10), 1282-1290.
- Krasny, L., Williams, B. J., Provencal, S., & Ozonoff, S. (2003). Social skills interventions for the autism spectrum: essential ingredients and a model curriculum. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 12(1), 107-122.
- LaBar, K. S., Crupain, M. J., Voyvodic, J. T., & McCarthy, G. (2003). Dynamic perception of facial affect and identity in the human brain. *Cerebral Cortex*, *13*(10), 1023-1033.
- Lancaster, K., Carter, C. S., Pournajafi-Nazarloo, H., Karaoli, T., Lillard, T. S., Jack, A., . . . Connelly, J. J. (2015). Plasma oxytocin explains individual differences in neural substrates of social perception. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 9, 132. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2015.00132
- Landa, R., & Garrett-Mayer, E. (2006). Development in infants with autism spectrum disorders: a prospective study. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, 47(6), 629-638. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01531.x
- LeBarton, E. S., & Iverson, J. M. (2013). Fine motor skill predicts expressive language in infant siblings of children with autism. *Dev Sci*, 16(6), 815-827. doi:10.1111/desc.12069



- Lecavalier, L., Gadow, K. D., DeVincent, C. J., Houts, C., & Edwards, M. C. (2009). Deconstructing the PDD clinical phenotype: internal validity of the DSM-IV. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, 50(10), 1246-1254. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2009.02104.x
- Lehmann, C., Mueller, T., Federspiel, A., Hubl, D., Schroth, G., Huber, O., . . . Dierks, T. (2004). Dissociation between overt and unconscious face processing in fusiform face area. *Neuroimage*, 21(1), 75-83.
- Lehmkuhl, H. D., Storch, E. A., Bodfish, J. W., & Geffken, G. R. (2008). Brief report: exposure and response prevention for obsessive compulsive disorder in a 12-yearold with autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 38(5), 977-981. doi:10.1007/s10803-007-0457-2
- Leyfer, O. T., Folstein, S. E., Bacalman, S., Davis, N. O., Dinh, E., Morgan, J., . . . Lainhart, J. E. (2006). Comorbid psychiatric disorders in children with autism: interview development and rates of disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 36(7), 849-861. doi:10.1007/s10803-006-0123-0
- Liu, X., Hubbard, J. A., Fabes, R. A., & Adam, J. B. (2006). Sleep disturbances and correlates of children with autism spectrum disorders. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, 37(2), 179-191. doi:10.1007/s10578-006-0028-3
- Lombardo, M. V., Chakrabarti, B., Bullmore, E. T., & Baron-Cohen, S. (2011). Specialization of right temporo-parietal junction for mentalizing and its relation to social impairments in autism. *Neuroimage*, 56(3), 1832-1838. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.02.067
- Lopata, C., Thomeer, M. L., Volker, M. A., & Nida, R. E. (2006). Effectiveness of a cognitive-behavioral treatment on the social behaviors of children with Asperger disorder. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 21(4), 237-244.
- Lopata, C., Thomeer, M. L., Volker, M. A., Nida, R. E., & Lee, G. K. (2008). Effectiveness of a manualized summer social treatment program for highfunctioning children with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 38*(5), 890-904.
- Lopata, C., Thomeer, M. L., Volker, M. A., Toomey, J. A., Nida, R. E., Lee, G. K., ... Rodgers, J. D. (2010). RCT of a manualized social treatment for high-functioning autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 40(11), 1297-1310.
- Lord, C., Risi, S., Lambrecht, L., Cook, E. H., Jr., Leventhal, B. L., DiLavore, P. C., ... Rutter, M. (2000). The Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule--Generic: A standard measure of social and communication deficits associated with the spectrum of autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *30*(3), 205-223.



- Losche, G. (1990). Sensorimotor and action development in autistic children from infancy to early childhood. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, 31(5), 749-761.
- Lovaas, O. I., Koegel, R., Simmons, J. Q., & Long, J. S. (1973). Some generalization and follow-up measures on autistic children in behavior therapy. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 6(1), 131-165.
- Loveland, K. A., & Landry, S. H. (1986). Joint attention and language in autism and developmental language delay. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *16*(3), 335-349.
- Madipakkam, A. R., Rothkirch, M., Guggenmos, M., Heinz, A., & Sterzer, P. (2015). Gaze Direction Modulates the Relation between Neural Responses to Faces and Visual Awareness. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(39), 13287-13299. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.0815-15.2015
- Mandelberg, J., Frankel, F., Cunningham, T., Gorospe, C., & Laugeson, E. A. (2014). Long-term outcomes of parent-assisted social skills intervention for highfunctioning children with autism spectrum disorders. *Autism*, 18(3), 255-263. doi:10.1177/1362361312472403
- Mandell, D. S., & Palmer, R. (2005). Differences among states in the identification of autistic spectrum disorders. Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, 159(3), 266-269.
- Mandy, W. P., Charman, T., & Skuse, D. H. (2012). Testing the construct validity of proposed criteria for DSM-5 autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 51(1), 41-50. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2011.10.013
- Mannion, A., Leader, G., & Healy, O. (2013). An investigation of comorbid psychological disorders, sleep problems, gastrointestinal symptoms and epilepsy in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 7(1), 35-42.
- Mars, A. E., Mauk, J. E., & Dowrick, P. W. (1998). Symptoms of pervasive developmental disorders as observed in prediagnostic home videos of infants and toddlers. *Journal of Pediatrics*, *132*(3 Pt 1), 500-504.
- Mazurek, M. O., Kanne, S. M., & Wodka, E. L. (2013). Physical aggression in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorders. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 7(3), 455-465.
- McGugin, R. W., Newton, A. T., Gore, J. C., & Gauthier, I. (2014). Robust expertise effects in right FFA. *Neuropsychologia*, 63, 135-144. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2014.08.029



- McNally Keehn, R. H., Lincoln, A. J., Brown, M. Z., & Chavira, D. A. (2013). The Coping Cat program for children with anxiety and autism spectrum disorder: a pilot randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43(1), 57-67. doi:10.1007/s10803-012-1541-9
- Mormann, F., Niediek, J., Tudusciuc, O., Quesada, C. M., Coenen, V. A., Elger, C. E., & Adolphs, R. (2015). Neurons in the human amygdala encode face identity, but not gaze direction. *Nature Neuroscience*.
- Morris, J. P., Pelphrey, K. A., & McCarthy, G. (2007). Face processing without awareness in the right fusiform gyrus. *Neuropsychologia*, 45(13), 3087-3091. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2007.05.020
- Mosconi, M. W., Mack, P. B., McCarthy, G., & Pelphrey, K. A. (2005). Taking an "intentional stance" on eye-gaze shifts: a functional neuroimaging study of social perception in children. *Neuroimage*, 27(1), 247-252. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.03.027
- Mundy, P., Sigman, M., & Kasari, C. (1990). A longitudinal study of joint attention and language development in autistic children. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 20(1), 115-128.
- Murray, K., Jassi, A., Mataix-Cols, D., Barrow, F., & Krebs, G. (2015). Outcomes of cognitive behaviour therapy for obsessive-compulsive disorder in young people with and without autism spectrum disorders: A case controlled study. *Psychiatry Research*, 228(1), 8-13. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2015.03.012
- Nation, K., & Penny, S. (2008). Sensitivity to eye gaze in autism: is it normal? Is it automatic? Is it social? *Development and Psychopathology*, 20(1), 79-97. doi:10.1017/s0954579408000047
- Nomi, J., & Uddin, L. Q. (2015a). Developmental changes in large-scale network connectivity in autism. *NeuroImage: Clinical*, 7, 732-741.
- Nomi, J. S., & Uddin, L. Q. (2015b). Face processing in autism spectrum disorders: From brain regions to brain networks. *Neuropsychologia*. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2015.03.029
- Nowicki, S. J., & Duke, M. P. (2003). *Manual for the Receptive Tests of the Diagnostic Analysis of Nonverbal Accuracy 2*. Atlanta: Emory University.
- Nummenmaa, L., & Calder, A. J. (2009). Neural mechanisms of social attention. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 13(3), 135-143. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2008.12.006
- O'Nions, E., Sebastian, C. L., McCrory, E., Chantiluke, K., Happe, F., & Viding, E. (2014). Neural bases of Theory of Mind in children with autism spectrum disorders and children with conduct problems and callous-unemotional traits. *Dev Sci*, 17(5), 786-796. doi:10.1111/desc.12167



- Ogai, M., Matsumoto, H., Suzuki, K., Ozawa, F., Fukuda, R., Uchiyama, I., . . . Takei, N. (2003). fMRI study of recognition of facial expressions in high-functioning autistic patients. *Neuroreport*, 14(4), 559-563.
- Ornitz, E. M., Guthrie, D., & Farley, A. H. (1977). The early development of autistic children. *Journal of Autism and Childhood Schizophrenia*, 7(3), 207-229.
- Osterling, & Dawson, G. (1994). Early recognition of children with autism: a study of first birthday home videotapes. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 24(3), 247-257.
- Osterling, Dawson, G., & Munson, J. A. (2002). Early recognition of 1-year-old infants with autism spectrum disorder versus mental retardation. *Development and Psychopathology*, *14*(2), 239-251.
- Ozonoff, S., Pennington, B. F., & Rogers, S. J. (1991). Executive function deficits in high-functioning autistic individuals: relationship to theory of mind. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, *32*(7), 1081-1105.
- Ozonoff, S., Rogers, S. J., & Pennington, B. F. (1991). Asperger's syndrome: evidence of an empirical distinction from high-functioning autism. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*, *32*(7), 1107-1122.
- Ozonoff, S., Young, G. S., Carter, A., Messinger, D., Yirmiya, N., Zwaigenbaum, L., . . . Stone, W. L. (2011). Recurrence risk for autism spectrum disorders: a Baby Siblings Research Consortium study. *Pediatrics*, *128*(3), e488-495. doi:10.1542/peds.2010-2825
- Pageler, N. M., Menon, V., Merin, N. M., Eliez, S., Brown, W. E., & Reiss, A. L. (2003). Effect of head orientation on gaze processing in fusiform gyrus and superior temporal sulcus. *Neuroimage*, 20(1), 318-329.
- Pavlova, M. A. (2012). Biological motion processing as a hallmark of social cognition. *Cerebral Cortex, 22*(5), 981-995.
- Pelphrey, K. A., Mitchell, T. V., McKeown, M. J., Goldstein, J., Allison, T., & McCarthy, G. (2003). Brain activity evoked by the perception of human walking: controlling for meaningful coherent motion. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(17), 6819-6825.
- Pelphrey, K. A., Morris, J. P., & McCarthy, G. (2004). Grasping the intentions of others: the perceived intentionality of an action influences activity in the superior temporal sulcus during social perception. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *16*(10), 1706-1716.
- Pelphrey, K. A., Morris, J. P., & McCarthy, G. (2005). Neural basis of eye gaze processing deficits in autism. *Brain*, 128(Pt 5), 1038-1048. doi:10.1093/brain/awh404



- Pelphrey, K. A., Morris, J. P., McCarthy, G., & Labar, K. S. (2007). Perception of dynamic changes in facial affect and identity in autism. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 2(2), 140-149. doi:10.1093/scan/nsm010
- Pelphrey, K. A., Morris, J. P., Michelich, C. R., Allison, T., & McCarthy, G. (2005). Functional anatomy of biological motion perception in posterior temporal cortex: an FMRI study of eye, mouth and hand movements. *Cerebral Cortex*, 15(12), 1866-1876. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhi064
- Pelphrey, K. A., Singerman, J. D., Allison, T., & McCarthy, G. (2003). Brain activation evoked by perception of gaze shifts: the influence of context. *Neuropsychologia*, 41(2), 156-170.
- Pelphrey, K. A., Viola, R. J., & McCarthy, G. (2004). When strangers pass: processing of mutual and averted social gaze in the superior temporal sulcus. *Psychological Science*, 15(9), 598-603.
- Perlman, S. B., Hudac, C. M., Pegors, T., Minshew, N. J., & Pelphrey, K. A. (2011). Experimental manipulation of face-evoked activity in the fusiform gyrus of individuals with autism. *Social Neuroscience*, 6(1), 22-30. doi:10.1080/17470911003683185
- Philip, R. C., Dauvermann, M. R., Whalley, H. C., Baynham, K., Lawrie, S. M., & Stanfield, A. C. (2012). A systematic review and meta-analysis of the fMRI investigation of autism spectrum disorders. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 36(2), 901-942. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.10.008
- Pierce, K., Haist, F., Sedaghat, F., & Courchesne, E. (2004). The brain response to personally familiar faces in autism: findings of fusiform activity and beyond. *Brain, 127*(Pt 12), 2703-2716.
- Pierce, K., Muller, R. A., Ambrose, J., Allen, G., & Courchesne, E. (2001). Face processing occurs outside the fusiform 'face area' in autism: evidence from functional MRI. *Brain*, 124(Pt 10), 2059-2073.
- Pierce, K., & Redcay, E. (2008). Fusiform function in children with an autism spectrum disorder is a matter of "who". *Biological Psychiatry*, 64(7), 552-560. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.05.013
- Piggot, J., Kwon, H., Mobbs, D., Blasey, C., Lotspeich, L., Menon, V., . . . Reiss, A. L. (2004). Emotional attribution in high-functioning individuals with autistic spectrum disorder: a functional imaging study. *Journal of the American Academy* of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 43(4), 473-480.
- Pinkham, A. E., Hopfinger, J. B., Pelphrey, K. A., Piven, J., & Penn, D. L. (2008). Neural bases for impaired social cognition in schizophrenia and autism spectrum disorders. *Schizophrenia Research*, 99(1-3), 164-175. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2007.10.024



- Pitskel, N. B., Bolling, D. Z., Hudac, C. M., Lantz, S. D., Minshew, N. J., Vander Wyk, B. C., & Pelphrey, K. A. (2011). Brain mechanisms for processing direct and averted gaze in individuals with autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 41(12), 1686-1693. doi:10.1007/s10803-011-1197-x
- Premack, D., & Woodruff, G. (1978). Does the chimpanzee have a theory of mind? *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 1(04), 515-526.
- Puce, A., Allison, T., Bentin, S., Gore, J. C., & McCarthy, G. (1998). Temporal cortex activation in humans viewing eye and mouth movements. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 18(6), 2188-2199.
- Puglia, M. H., Lillard, T. S., Morris, J. P., & Connelly, J. J. (2015). Epigenetic modification of the oxytocin receptor gene influences the perception of anger and fear in the human brain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 112(11), 3308-3313. doi:10.1073/pnas.1422096112
- Reichow, B., Steiner, A. M., & Volkmar, F. (2012). Social skills groups for people aged 6 to 21 with autism spectrum disorders (ASD). *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, 7, Cd008511. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD008511.pub2
- Reichow, B., & Volkmar, F. R. (2010). Social skills interventions for individuals with autism: evaluation for evidence-based practices within a best evidence synthesis framework. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 40(2), 149-166. doi:10.1007/s10803-009-0842-0
- Richdale, A. L., & Schreck, K. A. (2009). Sleep problems in autism spectrum disorders: prevalence, nature, & possible biopsychosocial aetiologies. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 13(6), 403-411. doi:10.1016/j.smrv.2009.02.003
- Rigato, S., Farroni, T., & Johnson, M. H. (2010). The shared signal hypothesis and neural responses to expressions and gaze in infants and adults. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 5(1), 88-97. doi:10.1093/scan/nsp037
- Ristic, J., Mottron, L., Friesen, C. K., Iarocci, G., Burack, J. A., & Kingstone, A. (2005). Eyes are special but not for everyone: The case of autism. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 24(3), 715-718.
- Rivet, T. T., & Matson, J. L. (2011). Review of gender differences in core symptomatology in autism spectrum disorders. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 5(3), 957-976.
- Rogers, S. J. (2009). What are infant siblings teaching us about autism in infancy? *Autism Research*, 2(3), 125-137. doi:10.1002/aur.81
- Rogers, S. J., & Dawson, G. (2010). Early start Denver model for young children with autism: Promoting language, learning, and engagement: Guilford Press.



- Rutherford, M. D., Baron-Cohen, S., & Wheelwright, S. (2002). Reading the mind in the voice: A study with normal adults and adults with Asperger syndrome and high functioning autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 32*(3), 189-194.
- Rutter, M., Le Couteur, A., & Lord, C. (2003). ADI-R Autism Diagnostic Interview -Revised. Los Angeles, CA: Western Psychological Services.
- Saitovitch, A., Bargiacchi, A., Chabane, N., Brunelle, F., Samson, Y., Boddaert, N., & Zilbovicius, M. (2012). Social cognition and the superior temporal sulcus: implications in autism. *Revue Neurologique*, 168(10), 762-770. doi:10.1016/j.neurol.2012.07.017
- Sato, W., Yoshikawa, S., Kochiyama, T., & Matsumura, M. (2004). The amygdala processes the emotional significance of facial expressions: an fMRI investigation using the interaction between expression and face direction. *Neuroimage*, 22(2), 1006-1013. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.02.030
- Saxe, R., Carey, S., & Kanwisher, N. (2004). Understanding other minds: linking developmental psychology and functional neuroimaging. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 55, 87-124.
- Scarpa, A., & Reyes, N. M. (2011). Improving emotion regulation with CBT in young children with high functioning autism spectrum disorders: a pilot study. *Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy*, 39(4), 495-500. doi:10.1017/s1352465811000063
- Scherf, K. S., Elbich, D., Minshew, N., & Behrmann, M. (2015). Individual differences in symptom severity and behavior predict neural activation during face processing in adolescents with autism. *Neuroimage Clin*, 7, 53-67. doi:10.1016/j.nicl.2014.11.003
- Schilbach, L., Wohlschlaeger, A. M., Kraemer, N. C., Newen, A., Shah, N. J., Fink, G. R., & Vogeley, K. (2006). Being with virtual others: Neural correlates of social interaction. *Neuropsychologia*, 44(5), 718-730. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2005.07.017
- Schultz, R., Gauthier, I., Klin, A., Fulbright, R. K., Anderson, A. W., Volkmar, F., ... Gore, J. C. (2000). Abnormal ventral temporal cortical activity during face discrimination among individuals with autism and Asperger syndrome. *Archives* of General Psychiatry, 57(4), 331-340.
- Schultz, R. T., Grelotti, D. J., Klin, A., Kleinman, J., Van der Gaag, C., Marois, R., & Skudlarski, P. (2003). The role of the fusiform face area in social cognition: implications for the pathobiology of autism. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 358(1430), 415-427.



- Senju, A. (2013). Atypical development of spontaneous social cognition in autism spectrum disorders. *Brain and Development*, 35(2), 96-101. doi:10.1016/j.braindev.2012.08.002
- Senju, A., & Johnson, M. H. (2009). Atypical eye contact in autism: models, mechanisms and development. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 33(8), 1204-1214. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.06.001
- Senju, A., Kikuchi, Y., Hasegawa, T., Tojo, Y., & Osanai, H. (2008). Is anyone looking at me? Direct gaze detection in children with and without autism. *Brain and Cognition*, 67(2), 127-139. doi:10.1016/j.bandc.2007.12.001
- Senju, A., Southgate, V., White, S., & Frith, U. (2009). Mindblind eyes: an absence of spontaneous theory of mind in Asperger syndrome. *Science*, 325(5942), 883-885. doi:10.1126/science.1176170
- Senju, A., Yaguchi, K., Tojo, Y., & Hasegawa, T. (2003). Eye contact does not facilitate detection in children with autism. *Cognition*, 89(1), B43-51.
- Sergent, J., Ohta, S., & MacDonald, B. (1992). Functional neuroanatomy of face and object processing. A positron emission tomography study. *Brain, 115 Pt 1*, 15-36.
- Shultz, S., Lee, S. M., Pelphrey, K., & McCarthy, G. (2011). The posterior superior temporal sulcus is sensitive to the outcome of human and non-human goaldirected actions. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 6(5), 602-611. doi:10.1093/scan/nsq087
- Silani, G., Bird, G., Brindley, R., Singer, T., Frith, C., & Frith, U. (2008). Levels of emotional awareness and autism: an fMRI study. *Social Neuroscience*, 3(2), 97-112. doi:10.1080/17470910701577020
- Simonoff, E., Pickles, A., Charman, T., Chandler, S., Loucas, T., & Baird, G. (2008). Psychiatric disorders in children with autism spectrum disorders: prevalence, comorbidity, and associated factors in a population-derived sample. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 47(8), 921-929. doi:10.1097/CHI.0b013e318179964f
- Sofronoff, K., Attwood, T., Hinton, S., & Levin, I. (2007). A randomized controlled trial of a cognitive behavioural intervention for anger management in children diagnosed with Asperger syndrome. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 37(7), 1203-1214. doi:10.1007/s10803-006-0262-3
- Solomon, M., Goodlin-Jones, B. L., & Anders, T. F. (2004). A social adjustment enhancement intervention for high functioning autism, Asperger's syndrome, and pervasive developmental disorder NOS. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 34(6), 649-668.



- Soorya, L. V., Siper, P. M., Beck, T., Soffes, S., Halpern, D., Gorenstein, M., ... Wang, A. T. (2015). Randomized comparative trial of a social cognitive skills group for children with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 54(3), 208-216.e201. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2014.12.005
- Sparrow, S. S., Cicchetti, D. V., & Balla, D. A. (2005). Vineland-II Survey Forms Manual (Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scales) (Second ed.). Minneapolis, MN: AGS Publishing.
- Spence, S. H. (2003). Social skills training with children and young people: Theory, evidence and practice. *Child and adolescent mental health*, 8(2), 84-96.
- Stichter, J. P., Herzog, M. J., Visovsky, K., Schmidt, C., Randolph, J., Schultz, T., & Gage, N. (2010). Social competence intervention for youth with Asperger Syndrome and high-functioning autism: an initial investigation. *Journal of Autism* and Developmental Disorders, 40(9), 1067-1079. doi:10.1007/s10803-010-0959-1
- Storch, E. A., Lewin, A. B., Collier, A. B., Arnold, E., De Nadai, A. S., Dane, B. F., ... Murphy, T. K. (2015). A randomized controlled trial of cognitive-behavioral therapy versus treatment as usual for adolescents with autism spectrum disorders and comorbid anxiety. *Depression and Anxiety*, 32(3), 174-181. doi:10.1002/da.22332
- Sukhodolsky, D. G., Smith, S. D., McCauley, S. A., Ibrahim, K., & Piasecka, J. B. (2016). Behavioral Interventions for Anger, Irritability, and Aggression in Children and Adolescents. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychopharmacology*, 26(1), 58-64. doi:10.1089/cap.2015.0120
- Tager-Flusberg, H., & Kasari, C. (2013). Minimally verbal school-aged children with autism spectrum disorder: the neglected end of the spectrum. *Autism Research*, 6(6), 468-478. doi:10.1002/aur.1329
- Tottenham, N., Hertzig, M. E., Gillespie-Lynch, K., Gilhooly, T., Millner, A. J., & Casey, B. J. (2014). Elevated amygdala response to faces and gaze aversion in autism spectrum disorder. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 9(1), 106-117. doi:10.1093/scan/nst050
- Tottenham, N., Tanaka, J. W., Leon, A. C., McCarry, T., Nurse, M., Hare, T. A., ... Nelson, C. (2009). The NimStim set of facial expressions: judgments from untrained research participants. *Psychiatry Research*, *168*(3), 242-249. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2008.05.006
- Tse, J., Strulovitch, J., Tagalakis, V., Meng, L., & Fombonne, E. (2007). Social skills training for adolescents with Asperger syndrome and high-functioning autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *37*(10), 1960-1968.



113

- Uddin, L., Supekar, K., Lynch, C. J., Khouzam, A., Phillips, J., Feinstein, C., . . . Menon, V. (2013). Salience network–based classification and prediction of symptom severity in children with autism. *JAMA psychiatry*, *70*(8), 869-879.
- Urakawa, S., Takamoto, K., Ishikawa, A., Ono, T., & Nishijo, H. (2014). Selective Medial Prefrontal Cortex Responses During Live Mutual Gaze Interactions in Human Infants: An fNIRS Study. *Brain Topography*. doi:10.1007/s10548-014-0414-2
- Vaidya, C. J., Foss-Feig, J., Shook, D., Kaplan, L., Kenworthy, L., & Gaillard, W. D. (2011). Controlling attention to gaze and arrows in childhood: an fMRI study of typical development and Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Dev Sci*, 14(4), 911-924. doi:10.1111/j.1467-7687.2011.01041.x
- Van Hecke, A. V., Stevens, S., Carson, A. M., Karst, J. S., Dolan, B., Schohl, K., ... Brockman, S. (2015). Measuring the plasticity of social approach: a randomized controlled trial of the effects of the PEERS intervention on EEG asymmetry in adolescents with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45(2), 316-335. doi:10.1007/s10803-013-1883-y
- Van Overwalle, F. (2011). A dissociation between social mentalizing and general reasoning. *Neuroimage*, 54(2), 1589-1599. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.09.043
- van Steensel, F. J., Bogels, S. M., & de Bruin, E. I. (2013). Psychiatric Comorbidity in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorders: A Comparison with Children with ADHD. J Child Fam Stud, 22(3), 368-376. doi:10.1007/s10826-012-9587-z
- Vanderwert, R. E., Westerlund, A., Montoya, L., McCormick, S. A., Miguel, H. O., & Nelson, C. A. (2015). Looking to the eyes influences the processing of emotion on face-sensitive event-related potentials in 7-month-old infants. *Developmental Neurobiology*, 75(10), 1154-1163. doi:10.1002/dneu.22204
- Vause, T., Neil, N., Jaksic, H., Jackiewicz, G., & Feldman, M. (2015). Preliminary Randomized Trial of Function-Based Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy to Treat Obsessive Compulsive Behavior in Children With Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 1088357615588517.
- Ventola, P., Oosting, D., Anderson, L. C., & Pelphrey, K. A. (2013). Brain mechanisms of plasticity in response to treatments for core deficits in autism. *Progress in Brain Research*, 207, 255-272. doi:10.1016/b978-0-444-63327-9.00007-2
- Ventola, P., Yang, D. Y., Friedman, H. E., Oosting, D., Wolf, J., Sukhodolsky, D. G., & Pelphrey, K. A. (2015). Heterogeneity of neural mechanisms of response to pivotal response treatment. *Brain Imaging Behav*, 9(1), 74-88. doi:10.1007/s11682-014-9331-y

Vismara, L. A., & Rogers, S. J. (2010). Behavioral treatments in autism spectrum disorder: what do we know? *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *6*, 447-468.



- Vivanti, G., McCormick, C., Young, G. S., Abucayan, F., Hatt, N., Nadig, A., . . . Rogers, S. J. (2011). Intact and impaired mechanisms of action understanding in autism. *Developmental Psychology*, 47(3), 841-856. doi:10.1037/a0023105
- von dem Hagen, E. A., Stoyanova, R. S., Rowe, J. B., Baron-Cohen, S., & Calder, A. J. (2014). Direct gaze elicits atypical activation of the theory-of-mind network in autism spectrum conditions. *Cerebral Cortex*, 24(6), 1485-1492. doi:10.1093/cercor/bht003
- von Grunau, M., & Anston, C. (1995). The detection of gaze direction: a stare-in-thecrowd effect. *Perception*, 24(11), 1297-1313.
- Voos, A. C., Pelphrey, K. A., Tirrell, J., Bolling, D. Z., Vander Wyk, B., Kaiser, M. D., . . Ventola, P. (2013). Neural mechanisms of improvements in social motivation after pivotal response treatment: two case studies. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43(1), 1-10. doi:10.1007/s10803-012-1683-9
- Vuilleumier, P., & Pourtois, G. (2007). Distributed and interactive brain mechanisms during emotion face perception: evidence from functional neuroimaging. *Neuropsychologia*, 45(1), 174-194. doi:10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2006.06.003
- Wade, M., Prime, H., & Madigan, S. (2015). Using Sibling Designs to Understand Neurodevelopmental Disorders: From Genes and Environments to Prevention Programming. *Biomed Res Int*, 2015, 672784. doi:10.1155/2015/672784
- Wager, T. D., & Nichols, T. E. (2003). Optimization of experimental design in fMRI: a general framework using a genetic algorithm. *Neuroimage*, *18*(2), 293-309.
- Walkup, J. T., Albano, A. M., Piacentini, J., Birmaher, B., Compton, S. N., Sherrill, J. T., ... Kendall, P. C. (2008). Cognitive behavioral therapy, sertraline, or a combination in childhood anxiety. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 359(26), 2753-2766. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0804633
- Wallace, S., Coleman, M., Pascalis, O., & Bailey, A. (2006). A study of impaired judgment of eye-gaze direction and related face-processing deficits in autism spectrum disorders. *Perception*, 35(12), 1651-1664.
- Wang, Dapretto, M., Hariri, A. R., Sigman, M., & Bookheimer, S. Y. (2004). Neural correlates of facial affect processing in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 43(4), 481-490.
- Wang, Lee, S. S., Sigman, M., & Dapretto, M. (2007). Reading affect in the face and voice: neural correlates of interpreting communicative intent in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorders. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 64(6), 698-708.



- Wechsler, D. (2003). Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children--Fourth Edition. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation.
- Weitlauf, A. S., McPheeters, M. L., Peters, B., Sathe, N., Travis, R., Aiello, R., ... Warren, Z. (2014). Therapies for Children With Autism Spectrum Disorder: Behavioral Interventions Update. Rockville MD.
- Wellman, H. M., Baron-Cohen, S., Caswell, R., Gomez, J. C., Swettenham, J., Toye, E., & Lagattuta, K. (2002). Thought-bubbles help children with autism acquire an alternative to a theory of mind. *Autism*, 6(4), 343-363.
- Werner, E., & Dawson, G. (2005). Validation of the phenomenon of autistic regression using home videotapes. Archives of General Psychiatry, 62(8), 889-895. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.62.8.889
- Werner, E., Dawson, G., Osterling, J., & Dinno, N. (2000). Brief report: Recognition of autism spectrum disorder before one year of age: a retrospective study based on home videotapes. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 30(2), 157-162.
- Wicker, B., Fonlupt, P., Hubert, B., Tardif, C., Gepner, B., & Deruelle, C. (2008). Abnormal cerebral effective connectivity during explicit emotional processing in adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 3(2), 135-143. doi:10.1093/scan/nsn007
- Wicker, B., Michel, F., Henaff, M. A., & Decety, J. (1998). Brain regions involved in the perception of gaze: a PET study. *Neuroimage*, 8(2), 221-227. doi:10.1006/nimg.1998.0357
- Wicker, B., Perrett, D. I., Baron-Cohen, S., & Decety, J. (2003). Being the target of another's emotion: a PET study. *Neuropsychologia*, 41(2), 139-146.
- Williams, J. H., Waiter, G. D., Perra, O., Perrett, D. I., & Whiten, A. (2005). An fMRI study of joint attention experience. *Neuroimage*, 25(1), 133-140. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.10.047
- Williams White, S., Keonig, K., & Scahill, L. (2007). Social skills development in children with autism spectrum disorders: a review of the intervention research. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 37(10), 1858-1868. doi:10.1007/s10803-006-0320-x
- Wood, J. J., Ehrenreich-May, J., Alessandri, M., Fujii, C., Renno, P., Laugeson, E., . . . Storch, E. A. (2015). Cognitive behavioral therapy for early adolescents with autism spectrum disorders and clinical anxiety: a randomized, controlled trial. *Behavior Therapy*, 46(1), 7-19. doi:10.1016/j.beth.2014.01.002
- Woods, R. P., Dapretto, M., Sicotte, N. L., Toga, A. W., & Mazziotta, J. C. (1999). Creation and use of a Talairach-compatible atlas for accurate, automated,



nonlinear intersubject registration, and analysis of functional imaging data. *Human Brain Mapping*, 8(2-3), 73-79.

- Yirmiya, N., Gamliel, I., Shaked, M., & Sigman, M. (2007). Cognitive and verbal abilities of 24- to 36-month-old siblings of children with autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 37(2), 218-229. doi:10.1007/s10803-006-0163-5
- Young, A. W., Aggleton, J. P., Hellawell, D. J., Johnson, M., Broks, P., & Hanley, J. R. (1995). Face processing impairments after amygdalotomy. *Brain*, 118 (Pt 1), 15-24.
- Young, L. J., & Barrett, C. E. (2015). Neuroscience. Can oxytocin treat autism? *Science*, 347(6224), 825-826. doi:10.1126/science.aaa8120
- Zilbovicius, M., Meresse, I., Chabane, N., Brunelle, F., Samson, Y., & Boddaert, N. (2006). Autism, the superior temporal sulcus and social perception. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 29(7), 359-366. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2006.06.004
- Zurcher, N. R., Donnelly, N., Rogier, O., Russo, B., Hippolyte, L., Hadwin, J., . . . Hadjikhani, N. (2013). It's all in the eyes: subcortical and cortical activation during grotesqueness perception in autism. *PloS One*, 8(1), e54313. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0054313
- Zurcher, N. R., Rogier, O., Boshyan, J., Hippolyte, L., Russo, B., Gillberg, N., . . . Hadjikhani, N. (2013). Perception of social cues of danger in autism spectrum disorders. *PloS One*, 8(12), e81206. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0081206
- Zwaigenbaum, L., Bryson, S., Rogers, T., Roberts, W., Brian, J., & Szatmari, P. (2005). Behavioral manifestations of autism in the first year of life. *International Journal* of Developmental Neuroscience, 23(2-3), 143-152. doi:10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2004.05.001



7/6/15 2:48 PM

118

APPENDIX A

IRB APPROVAL LETTER FROM MOUNT SINAI SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

Date: 07/03/2015

To: Ting Wang, PhD (Ting.Wang@mssm.edu)

An Institutional Review Board (IRB) of the Mount Sinai School of Medicine approved the following human subject research to be conducted through 08/31/2015:

| Project Title: | Neural and Behavioral Outcomes of Social Skills Groups in Children with ASD |
|----------------------|---|
| Investigator: | Ting Wang, PhD (Dept: PS - Psychiatry) |
| Project Information: | HS#: 11-01412 GCO#: 09-0859(0002) Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai |
| Sites: | Mount Sinai |

Between 07/15/2015 and 07/20/2015 please submit a completed FORM HRP-212: Continuing/Final Review Progress Report and required attachments, in order to request continuing IRB approval or study closure. <u>No further</u> <u>reminders will be sent.</u>

If you do not submit a completed FORM HRP-212: Continuing/Final Review Progress Report and required attachments to request continuing approval or study closure by **07/20/2015** you will not be able to submit new research to the IRB until this information has been submitted.

If continuing review approval is not granted before the expiration date of 08/31/2015, approval of this research expires on that date. If the IRB approval expires, all research activities must stop. This includes recruitment, advertisement, screening, enrollment, consent, interventions, interactions, and collection of private identifiable information. Advertisements currently running in the media must be pulled.

If you have any questions about how to submit this request, need help with the

process, or have general questions about the IRB, please feel free to call us at 212-824-8200 or email us at IRB@mssm.edu.

Sincerely, The Program for the Protection of Human Subjects Staff

cc: Study Contact(s): cc: Study Contact(s): Jesslyn Jamison (jesslyn.jamison@mssm.edu);



APPENDIX B

HSC APPROVAL LETTER FROM UNIVERITY OF HARTFORD



UNIVERSITY OF HARTFORD

Human Subjects Committee

January 14, 2014

Karim Ibrahim 76 Everit Street New Haven, CT 06511

Dear Mr. Ibrahim:

Upon review by the Human Subjects Committee, your proposal, *Neural correlates of social cognition processing in autism following a cognitive behavioral social skills treatment*, has been approved according to conditions set forth in federal regulation 45 CFR 46.101(b), and is exempt from further review by this Committee.

Please keep in mind that it is your responsibility to notify and seek approval from this Committee of any modifications to your project, and that it is your responsibility to report to this Committee, any adverse events that occur related to this research project. Reporting forms are available online at the HSC website, http://uhaweb.hartford.edu/hsc.

This institution has an Assurance of Compliance on file with the Office of Human Research Protections (Federalwide Assurance FWA00003578).

Congratulations and good luck.

Sincerely

Stephen J. Misovich, Ph.D. Chair, Human Subjects Committee Cc: J. Mehm

200 Bloomfield Avenue, West Hartford, CT 06117 P 860.768.4721 F 860.768.5085 E Misovich@hartford.edu www.hartford.edu

